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About WGL Holdings, Inc.

Based in Washington, D.C., WGL HOLDINGS, INC. is a public utility holding company
serving customers in the District of Columbia, Maryland and Virginia. Our vision is to become
the retail energy company of choice by achieving excellence for customers, investors and employees.

Our regulated natural gas distribution company, Washington Gas, has approximately
one million customers connected to its system. Qur unregulated affiliates are in energy-related
businesses, selling natural gas and electricity to retail customers in competitive markets, and pro-
viding heating, ventilating and air conditioning products and services to commercial customers.

WGL Holdings’ impressive strengths as an investment include a fast-growing utility service

territory, efficient utility operations, growing and profitable energy-related retail businesses,

a strong balance sheet and attractive credit ratings. A disciplined management approach has
rewarded investors with 28 consecutive years of dividend growth.

Key Statistics

{In thousands, except per share data)
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Years Ended September 30, ; 2004 1999 1994
Market Capitalization 0§ 1,374920°  § 1,260,822 $ 754,297
Total Operating Revenue 1§ 2,089,603 1 $ 1,112,216 $ 914,863
Net Income s 96,637 $ 67,437 % 59,124
Earnings Per Share ‘ ‘
Basic S 199§ 147 $ 1.41
Diluted P S 198 $ 1.47 $ 1.41
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Achieving Excellence

(1} James H. DeGraffenreidt, Jr.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

(r) Terry D. McCallister
President and Chief Operating Officer

To Qur Shareholders:

For several years, we have told you about our consistent
management strategy for building long-term value by pursuing
disciplined expansion and continuous process improvement. Once
again, this approach has produced gratifying results.
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WGL Holdings has paid a dividend on its
common stock for 153 consecutive years.
Common stock dividends have
increased for 28 consecutive years.

ignificant achievements in fiscal year 2004 include
Simproved earnings from normal operations, major
customer growth milestones, new utility rates, record
earnings from the company’s unregulated energy
marketing business and an even stronger balance sheet.
These accomplishments, reflecting our commitment to
achieve excellence for customers, investors and employees,
have kept us on track to meet or surpass the five-year
financial objectives we set last year for fiscal years 2004
through 2008: -

© Grow earnings per share from normal operations
by 5 percent per year on average;

© Maintain free cash flow in excess of capital expenditures;

© Maintain a strong balance sheet and superior credit
ratings; and

O Support sustainable dividend growth.

We evaluate the company’s financial performance using
certain financial measures that are not determined in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States (GAAP), namely earnings from nor-
mal operations and positive free cash flow in excess of
capital expenditures. We use these non-GAAP financial
measures in this letter. We have reconciled non-GAAP
financial information to GAAP financial information on
pages 13 and 14 of this annual report.

Fiscal year 2004 accomplishments

We are very pleased to report that consolidated net
income for the fiscal year was $96.6 million, or $1.98
per share. Consolidated earnings per share from normal
operations for fiscal year 2004, excluding the effects of
colder-than-normal weather and unique transactions,
were $1.73 per share, compared to $1.62 in the prior
year. This increase of 6.8 percent per share over fiscal

year 2003 earnings from normal operations represents
meaningful progress toward our five-year objective of
achieving 5 percent average annual earnings growth from
normal operations through 2008.

During the past few years, we have institutionalized the
notion that we must keep getting better at everything we
do, and the results of this continuous improvement are
evident. Process improvements throughout our business
helped drive down the cost to connect each new customer
by 12 percent during the fiscal year. This improvement
helped generate $45 million in free cash flow in excess
of capital expenditures.

Maintaining free cash flow in excess of capital expen-
ditures allows us to minimize additional new external
financing to support our operations, enhances our

" financial flexibility and directly contributes to our

strong balance sheet and superior credit ratings.
Creditworthiness is a competitive advantage in our capital-
intensive industry. Achieving our goal of free cash flow

in excess of capital expenditures also supports attractive
returns for investors and sustainable dividend growth.

For the 28th consecutive year, the Board of Directors
voted in March to increase dividends paid on common
stock. Dividends increased by $0.02 per share to $1.30
on an annual basis. The company has paid a dividend on
common stock for more than 150 years.

The company’s growth and profitability are strengthened
by the partnerships forged with the leadership of our
unions, which represent approximately two-thirds of the
company’s utility workforce. Members of two Washington
Gas collective bargaining units signed agreements this
year that create new opportunities for advancing the
high-performance culture necessary for ongoing growth
and improvement. All of our labor contracts include




Washington Gas celebrared connecting more than one million customers
to the company’s distribution system by ringing the closing bell of the
New York Stock Exchange on June 24. Shown at the closing bell
ceremony are (from left): William Gibson, President of Teamsters Local
96; Corporate Secretary Doug Pope; Chief Financial Officer Fred Kline;
NYSE Senior Vice President Thomas Veir; Chairman James
DeGraffenreidt; President Terry McCallister; Wandette Hattley, Employee
Communications Advisory Group representative; and Kenneth Thomas,
Chief Steward of OPEIU Local 2.

provisions for incentive payments based upon the
company’s reaching a threshold return on equity, linking
employee performance and rewards with attainment of our
corporate goals.

Capitalizing on the strength of our region

We create additional value for shareholders by leveraging
our location in one of the nation’s most attractive markets.
Our region leads the nation in job creation and has the
second highest median income. More than 90 percent of
new homes in our area use natural gas as the primary
heating source, and new, detached homes are 40 percent
larger than the average detached new home in the U.S.
These factors combine to provide a strong market for the
products and services we offer.

In June, we celebrated the connection of more than

one million customers to our distribution system. This
achievement came during a year in which we added
approximately 30,000 utility customers, increasing our
customer base by 3 percent. We anticipate this enviable
level of growth will continue. Regional economic forecasts
predict the addition of over 600,000 new households in
our service territory over the next 20 years.

We continue to improve upon our superior performance
for safety and reliability. In recognition of our outstanding
performance in safety and accident prevention, the
American Gas Association awarded Washington Gas its
Industry Leader Accident Prevention Award for the
seventh consecutive year. Maintaining and improving

the reliability of natural gas distribution benefits both
customers and investors through lower costs and
improved customer service.

Advancing public policy in the regulatory arena
New rates established in fiscal year 2004 added $0.07 to
earnings per share. Regulators approved changes in our
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rate structures to collect more of our revenues through
fixed, system charges. These higher fixed charges reduce
the seasonal volatility of earnings and more closely align
revenues with our actual cost to provide safe, reliable
utility service.

We appreciate the support regulators have shown for rate
stability by approving new processes for periodic rate
adjustments to reflect changes in significant costs, including
some benefits costs, regulatory expenses and the cost of
financing varying levels of storage gas inventory. These
changes provide more timely reimbursement of our costs,
while reducing the need to file new rate cases.

Regulators also have supported our efforts to moderate
natural gas price volatility. Approximately 64 percent

of our normal winter supply for firm customers is either
fixed or capped before the beginning of the heating season,
38 percent through winter storage purchased in the
summer and 26 percent through financial instruments.
In a time of high natural gas prices, all of these actions
minimize unexpected fluctuations in our customers’
energy bills.

Developing profitable unregulated opportunities
Our unregulated business opportunities and our pursuit
of the most productive uses for company assets continue
to provide shareholders with additional income.
Washington Gas Energy Services (WGES), the leading
competitive retail natural gas and electricity supplier in
Maryland, Virginia and the District of Columbia, earned
record net income of $8.3 million during the fiscal year, a
$4.5 million increase over the prior fiscal year. WGES has
profitably grown by developing an attractive customer
base, tightly managing operating expenses and effectively
matching customer sales volumes with supply.




The company’s retail energy-marketing segment produced
record net income of $8.3 million, or $§0.17 per share,
more than double last year’s results.

For a second year, our commercial HVAC business
reported disappointing results, a net loss of $5.4 million,
or $0.11 per share. This loss compares to a $1.2 million net
loss in the previous fiscal year, preceded by net income
of $4.0 million and $5.0 million in fiscal years 2002 and
2001, respectively. A slowdown in government spending
on energy infrastructure continues to affect both the
revenue and profitability of this business. Our goal for
this business segment is to improve net income and cash
flow during the coming year by increasing sales and
1Mproving margins.

Results for the fiscal year include after-tax profits of
$5.8 million from the sale of our interest in two buildings
at Maritime Plaza, a commercial development project in
Washington, D.C., located on a 12-acre tract adjacent to
the Anacostia River. Washington Gas retains ownership
of the land, which is being developed by an independent
property management firm and has the potential for
construction of four additional buildings. The project
contributes to the revitalization of the Anacostia River
waterfront and provides a significant source of local

tax revenue,

Achieving excellence in fiscal year 200§

In fiscal year 2005, we will build on the past year’s
progress toward achieving our five-year goals. We continue
to make dramatic improvements in all aspects of our
operations and actively pursue new supply options to
enhance the reliability of our growing distribution
system. Qur management decisions will be influenced

by the need for efficient capital spending, in conjunction
with maintenance of superior safety and customer service
rankings. On the unregulated side, we look forward to
strong results in our energy-marketing area while taking
steps to restore the profitability of our commercial HVAC

segment. Finally, we remain committed to the development
of a high-performance culture and will carry out initiatives
designed to develop, retain and recruit knowledgeable
employees who are the heart of our business.

Our operational and financial achievements would not
have been possible without the commitment of company
employees and the thoughtful guidance of our board

of directors. For the past 15 years, director Daniel J.
Callahan, III has been a dedicated champion of the high
business standards that provide the foundation for these
successes. His valuable insight will be missed when he
retires from the board in February 2003.

We enter fiscal year 20035 confident that we are on course
to maintain and improve our position of strength. Our
core strengths—high quality assets, the right people to
operate them and financial strength—will continue to
drive profitable growth.

Sincerely,

Ly DLt X .

James H. DeGraffenreidt, Jr.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Terry D. McCallister
President and Chief Operating Officer

December 9, 2004
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Achieving Excellence: Customers

Washington Gas enjoys a customer growth rate double the industry average, fueled by a
remarkable 3.9 percent rate of growth in our Virginia service territory. At a recently constructed

condominium development in growing Woodbridge, Virginia, Washington Gas employee
Robert Land (right) discusses a new meter installation with Kevin MacClary, Director of Multi-
Family Housing for developer Folger Pratt Contracting, LLC.




@)
e expect profitable customer growth of nearly —twice
W bl growth b 3 V0
the industry average—to continue for the foreseeable future.

Washington Gas has more than one million customers in one of the nation’s most
attractive and fastest growing markets. Our region has the nation’s second highest
median household income, with unemployment well below that of most other major
metropolitan areas and rapid household growth of approximately 3 percent annually.
Natural gas remains the fuel of choice in more than 90 percent of new homes built in
the region, clearly reflecting a preference for comfort and reliability.

Although we operate in one of the nation’s most affluent regions, many of our neighbors
require help to meet their basic needs. Our commitment to customers and community is
reflected in the corporate philosophy of strategic giving.

The Washington Area Fuel Fund (WAFF), established by Washington Gas in 1983 to
help pay for all types of home heating for people in financial need, is an example of our
philanthropic efforts. WAFF has distributed more than $15 million to 184,000 area
residents in the past 21 years, supplementing federal and state energy assistance and
keeping Washington area residents warm during the winter. Washington Gas pays all of
WAFF’s administrative expenses so that 100 percent of the Fund’s resources may be
used for home heating for those in need.




Achieving Excellence: Investors

WGL Holdings’ sustained dividend growth has rewarded long-term
investors. A $10,000 investment in WGL Holdings’ common stock

ten years ago, reinvesting all dividends, would have grown to
$25,729 by September 30, 2004.

GL Holdings’ impressive strengths as an investment include a fast-growing

utility service territory, efficient utility operations, growing and profitable
energy-related retail businesses, a strong balance sheet and attractive credit ratings.
Our disciplined management approach has rewarded investors with 28 consecutive
years of dividend growth.

We are committed to carrying this success into the future. Continual improvements to
our operations in the past year, including new pipeline repair techniques and new labor
contracts, enhance our ability to manage costs while maintaining system safety and
reliability. To measure sustainable growth over the long term, we have ambitious five-
year financial goals, including average annual earnings growth of § percent from normal
operations and free cash flow that exceeds capital expenditures. We will continue to
maintain the company’s financial strength through disciplined expansion and manage-
ment of corporate resources.




We are committed to achieving excellence for investors by providing strong financial results.
WGL Holdings’ stock, which closed at $28.26 at the end of fiscal year 2004, has one of

the longest records of consecutive dividend payments of any company on the New York
Stock Exchange.




Achieving Excellence: Employees

' K

A skilled and highly trained work force is central to achieving our strategic goals. This year,
employees participated in an interactive skills workshop emphasizing the key principles upon
which all management employees will be rated next year. Dawn Galloway {standing} leads
Jessica Heras and Robert Postell (front) and Wardell Washington and Dianne Smith (rear) in a
session on listening skills.

10




Our employees continued to achieve impressive results during
fiscal year 2004, reducing average construction

%
costs per new service by 1 Z O, while maintaining outstanding
safety performance and exceeding customer service quality goals.

i" ver the past three years, the commitment and diligence of company employees

" have improved emergency response times and reduced vehicle accidents, on-the-job
injuries and damage to underground pipelines caused by excavation or digging. In
recognition of the company’s outstanding performance in safety and accident prevention,
the American Gas Association awarded Washington Gas its Industry Leader Accident
Prevention Award for the seventh consecutive year.

Despite the challenge of higher natural gas prices and the related increases in billing
inquiries, Washington Gas employees provide outstanding customer satisfaction according
to a nationwide survey by J.D. Power and Associates of residential gas utility customers.
Again this year, Washington Gas’s customer satisfaction score ranks in the top quartile
in the nation with customer satisfaction levels above the average in the Eastern U.S.
Employees also exceeded our internal goals for customer service quality this year by
continuing to decrease the percentage of estimated customer bills and improving the
efficiency of call center operations.

11



Financial OQverview

FINANCIAL AND OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended September 30,
FINANCIAL RESULTS
Earnings summary
Operating revenues
Utility
Non-utility
Net utility revenues
Net income
Earnings per average common share
Basic
Diluted

Capital expenditures
Total capitalization

COMMON STOCK DATA

Return on average common equity

Annualized dividends per share

Payout ratio

Book value per share—year-end

Dividend yield on book value

Market price (New York Stock Exchange)
Range
Close (September 30)

Market-to-book ratio—average

Average shares traded daily

Common shares outstanding—year-end (thousands)

SELECTED STATISTICS

Gas delivered by the utility (thousands of therms)
Degree days—actual
Weather percent colder (warmer) than normal
Active utility customer meters—year-end
Number of employees—year end

Utility

Non-utilty

2004

$ 1,267,948
$ 821,655
$ 548,901
$ 96,637

$ 1.98

$ 113,439
$ 1,471,761

11.6%

$ 1.30
65.1%
$ 17.54 J
7.4%|

$30.39-526.20
$ 28.26

164.6%
146,314
48,653

1,627,845 |
4,024

6.1%
990,062

1,695
219

2003

$ 1,301,057

$ 763,191

§ 564,031

§ 112,342

$ 2.31

$ 2.30

$ 129,083

$ 1,483,041
14.2%

$ 1.28
55.3%

$ 16.83
7.6%

$28.79-$21.94
$ 27.58

155.6%
152,907
48,612

1,722,533
4,550

19.8%
959,922

1,842
236

1999

$ 972,120
$ 140,096
$ 431,981
$ 67,437
$ 1.47
$ 1.47
$ 158,733
$ 1,218,538
10.4%

$ 1.22
82.7%

$ 14.72
8.3%
$28.88-$21.00
$ 27.13
174.5%
89,600
46,473
1,531,866
3,652
(5.2)%
846,381
1,931

186

19946

914,863

405,397
59,124

@ B Ao

1.41
1.41

o

119,796
856,272

o o

12.5%
$ 1.11

78.4%
$ 11.51

9.6%

$22.75-$16.88
$  17.88

175.8%
28,400
42,187

1,464,602
4,311

11.8%
725,960

2,545
102

@ The results presented for fiscal years 1999 and 1994 reflect the consolidated operations of Washington Gas Light Company and its

subsidiaries.
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RECONCILIATION OF REPORTED GAAP EARNINGS PER SHARE AND ADJUSTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
(Unaudited)

The reconciliation below is provided to demonstrate management’s utilization of historical earnings per share, as derived in accor-
dance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) in the United States of America, and adjusted earnings per share from
normal operations, a non-GAAP measure. This reconciliation is provided to more clearly identify the Company’s results from normal
operations and identify certain unique transactions that are not expected to repeat. This information should assist investors and
analysts to track progress towards achieving the Company’s five-year goals and guidance, which are based on normal weather and
uninfluenced by single, one-time, non-repeating transactions.

Utilization of normal weather is an industry standard, and it is Company practice to provide estimates and guidance on the basis of
normal weather. Actual performance and results may vary from normal weather projections, and the Company consistently identifies
and explains this variation to assist users in the analysis of actual results versus the guidance. There may be other uses for the data,
and the Company does not imply that this is the only use or the best use of this data for purposes of this analysis.

RECONCILIATION OF REPORTED GAAP EARNINGS PER SHARE TO ADJUSTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
FROM NORMAL OPERATIONS FOR FISCAL YEARS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2004 AND 2003

Fiscal Year Ended
~ September 30,
2004 2003

GAAP diluted earnings per share $ 198 $ 2.30
Adjustments for:
Colder-than-normal weather (0.20) (0.51)
Retroactive depreciation related to the period from 1/02-11/02,
per Virginia rate order 0.04 -
Net gain on the sale of interest in real estate (0.12) -
Impairment of commercial HVAC intangible asset 0.03

Income tax adjustment related to depreciation - ( )
Net gain on the sale of a real estate partnership interest - ( )
Net gain on the sale of corporate headquarters - (0.05)
Income tax benefit from the utilization of a capital loss carryforward - ( )

Adjusted earnings per share from normal operations $ 1.73 § 1.62
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RECONCILIATION OF NET INCOME TO FREE CASH FLOW
(Unaudited)

The analysis below provides information used by management to evaluate free cash flow, a measure defined by the Company but that is
not derived in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) in the United States of America. Management utilizes
this data to determine the ability of the Company to generate sufficient cash from internal operations to finance long-term investments,
most notably capital expenditures. The assumption for this analysis is that changes in working capital and changes in cash from other
assets and other liabilities have no recurring impact on free cash flow because they largely offset when combined over a period of several
years. This liquidity measure, Free Cash Flow, is a non-GAAP measure that is reconciled below to Ner Income and Net Cash Flow
Provided by Operating Activities, which are derived in accordance with GAAP.

This measure can be further used to evaluate trends of the Company’s future needs for additional external debt and equity financing.
This data can also be utilized to compare the Company to its peers. Free cash flow, as defined and utilized by the Company, does not
relate to cash available for discretionary expenditures. There are other uses for this data in addition to that described herein, and the
Company does not imply that this is the only use or the best use of this data and this analysis.

ANALYSIS OF FREE CASH FLOW IN EXCESS OF CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

Fiscal Year Ended
September- 30,

(Thousands) 2004 2003
GAARP net income (applicable to common stock) S 96,637 $ 112,342
Depreciation and amortization 96,245 89,273
Change in deferred income taxes — accelerated depreciation 28,291 26,997

Adjusted cash available before dividends 221,173 228,612
Dividends on common stock (62,746) {61,948)
Free cash flow (Non-GAAP Measure) 158,427 166,664
Less: Capital expenditures (113,439} {129,083)
Free Cash Flow in Excess of Capital Expenditures $ 44,988 $ 37,581
RECONCILIATION OF ANALYSIS OF FREE CASH FLOW IN EXCESS OF CAPITAL EXPENDITURES
TO GAAP-BASED NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Fiscal Year Ended
September 30,

(Thousands) 2004 2003
GAADP net cash provided by operating activities $ 242,565 $ 143,784
Adjustments for:
Deferred income taxes, except for accelerated depreciation 113 (14,628)
Other, principally changes in assets and liabilities (21,505) 99,456

Adjusted cash available before dividends 221,173 228,612
Dividends on common stock (62,746) (61,948)
Free Cash Flow (Non-GAAP Measure) S 158,427 $ 166,664

14
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Annual Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
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Commission  Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter and States of LIRS
File Number  principal office address and telephone number Incorporation Employer 1.D. Number
1-16163 WGL Holdings, Inc. Virginia 52-2210912

101 Constitution Ave., N.W.
Washington, D.C. 20080
(703) 750-2000

0-49807 Washington Gas Light Company District of 53-0162882
101 Constitution Ave., N.W. Columbia
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WGL Holdings, Inc.
Washington Gas Light Company

INTRODUCTION

FILING FORMAT

This Annual Report on Form 10K is a combined report being filed by two separate registrants: WGL Holdings,
Inc. (WGL Holdings or the Company) and Washington Gas Light Company (Washington Gas or the regulated utility).
Except where the content clearly indicates otherwise, any reference in the report to “WGL Holdings” or ‘‘the
Company” is to the consolidated entity of WGL Holdings and all of its subsidiaries, including Washington Gas which is
a distinct registrant that is a wholly owned subsidiary of WGL Holdings.

The Management’'s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations (Management’s
Discussion) included under Item 7 herein, is divided into the following two sections:

* WGL Holdings—This section describes the financial condition and results of operations of WGL Holdings
and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. It includes discussions of WGL Holdings’ regulated utility and non-
utility operations. The majority of WGL Holdings’ operations are derived from the results of its regulated
utility, Washington Gas, and to a much lesser extent, the results of its non-utility operations. For more
information on the Company’s regulated utility operations, please refer to the Management’s Discussion for
Washington Gas.

* Washington Gas—This section comprises the majority of WGL Holdings’ regulated utility segment. The
financial condition and results of operations of Washington Gas’' utility operations and WGL Holdings’
regulated utility segment are essentially the same. Therefore, the focus of this section includes a detailed
description of the results of operations of the regulated utility.

Included herein under Item 8 are Consolidated Financial Statements of WGL Holdings and the Financial
Statements of Washington Gas. Also included herein are the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements that are
presented on a combined basis for both WGL Holdings and Washington Gas.

The Management’s Discussion for both WGL Holdings and Washington Gas should be read in conjunction with
the respective company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and the combined Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements thereto.

Unless otherwise noted, earnings per share amounts are presented herein on a diluted basis, and are based on
weighted average common and common equivalent shares outstanding.

SAFE HARBOR FOR FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain matters discussed in this report, excluding historical information, include forward-looking statements
within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 with respect to the outlook for earnings,
revenues and other future financial business performance or strategies and expectations. Forward-looking statements
are typically identified by words such as, but not limited to, ‘‘estimates,” ‘‘expects,” ‘“anticipates,” ‘“intends,”
“believes,” “plans,” and similar expressions, or future or conditional verbs such as “will,” “should,” “would,” and
“could.” Although the registrants, WGL Holdings and Washington Gas, believe such forward-looking statements are
based on reasonable assumptions, they cannot give assurance that every objective will be achieved. Forward-looking
statements speak only as of today, and the registrants assume no duty to update them. The following factors, among
others, could cause actual results to differ materially from forward-looking statements or historical performance:

* variations in weather conditions from normal levels;

¢ changes in economic, competitive, political and regulatory conditions and developments;

* changes in capital and energy commodity market conditions;

* changes in credit ratings of debt securities of WGL Holdings or Washington Gas that may affect access to
capital or the cost of debt;

¢ changes in credit market conditions and creditworthiness of customers and suppliers;

* changes in relevant laws and regulations, including tax, environmental and employment laws and regulations;

* legislative, regulatory and judicial mandates and decisions;

* timing and success of business and product development efforts;

* technological improvements;
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* the pace of deregulation efforts and the availability of other competitive alternatives;
* terrorist activities; and
¢ other uncertainties.

The outcome of negotiations and discussions that the registrants may hold with other parties from time to time
regarding utility and energy-related investments and strategic transactions that are both recurring and non-recurring
may also affect future performance. All such factors are difficult to predict accurately and are generally beyond the
direct control of the registrants. Accordingly, while they believe that the assumptions are reasonable, the registrants
cannot ensure that all expectations and objectives will be realized. Readers are urged to use care and consider the
risks, uncertainties and other factors that could affect the registrants’ business as described in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. All forward-looking statements made in this report rely upon the safe harbor protections provided under
the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS

INTRODUCTION

WGL Holdings is a holding company that was established on November 1, 2000 under the Public Utility Holding
Company Act of 1935. WGL Holdings owns all of the shares of common stock of Washington Gas, a regulated natural
gas utility, and all of the shares of common stock of Crab Run Gas Company (Crab Run), Hampshire Gas Company
(Hampshire) and Washington Gas Resources Corporation (Washington Gas Resources). Washington Gas Resources
owns all of the shares of common stock of various unregulated, energy-related businesses.

WGL Holdings, through its subsidiaries, sells and delivers natural gas, and provides a variety of energy-related
products and services to customers primarily in Washington, D.C., and the surrounding metropolitan areas in
Maryland and Virginia. The Company’s core subsidiary, Washington Gas, is engaged in the delivery and sale of natural
gas that is predominantly regulated by state regulatory commissions. Through wholly owned subsidiaries of
Washington Gas Resources, the Company also offers energy-related products and services that are closely related to its
core business.

SUBSIDIARIES

WGL Holdings is the parent of four direct, wholly owned subsidiaries. The following paragraphs describe each
subsidiary in the WGL Holdings’ corporate structure at September 30, 2004.

Wasbhington Gas—is a regulated public utility that delivers and sells natural gas to customers in Washington,
D.C. and adjoining areas in Maryland, Virginia and several cities and towns in the northern Shenandoah Valley of
Virginia. Washington Gas has been engaged in the gas distribution business for 156 years, having been originally
incorporated by an Act of Congress in 1848. Washington Gas has been a domestic corporation of the Commonwealth
of Virginia since 1953, and a corporation of the District of Columbia since 1957. Washington Gas serves approximately
one million customers in an area having a2 population estimated at five million.

As of September 30, 2004, the Company had approximately 1.02 million connected customer meters. Connected
customer meters reflect all natural gas meters connected to the Washington Gas distribution system, including those
meters that may not be receiving service due to disconnection. The following table lists the number of active customer
meters served and therms delivered by jurisdiction as of and for the year ended September 30, 2004. Active customer
meters exclude those meters that are not currently receiving service due to disconnection. Weather in the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2004 was 6.1 percent colder than normal; therefore, the volumes shown below are not
representative of the volumes of natural gas that would have been delivered if the weather had been normal. A therm
of gas contains 100,000 British Thermal Units of heat, the heat content of approximately 100 cubic feet of natural gas.
Ten million therms equal approximately one billion cubic feet (bcf) of natural gas.

Active Customer Meters and Therms Delivered by Jurisdiction
Millions of Therms

Active Customer Delivered
Meters as of Fiscal Year Ended
Jurisdiction September 30, 2004 September 30, 2004
District of Columbia 149,529 316.1
Maryland 407,795 715.3
Virginia 432,738 596.4
Total 990,062 1,627.8

Of the 1.628 billion therms delivered in fiscal year 2004, 863.7 million therms, or 53.1 percent, were sold and
delivered by Washington Gas and 764.1 million therms, or 46.9 percent, were delivered to various customers that
acquired their natural gas from competitive natural gas suppliers referred to as third-party marketers. Of the total
therms delivered by Washington Gas, 80.5 percent was delivered to firm residential and commercial customers,
17.0 percent was delivered to interruptible customers, and the remaining 2.5 percent was delivered to customers that
use natural gas to generate electricity either under an interruptible or special firm contract. To be eligible to receive
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interruptible service, a customer must be capable of using an alternate fuel as a substitute for natural gas in the event
Washington Gas determines that their service must be interrupted to accommodate firm customers’ needs during
periods of peak demand.

Crab Run—is an exploration and production company whose assets are managed by an Oklahoma-based limited
partnership in which Crab Run is a limited partner. At September 30, 2004, Crab Run’s investment in this partnership
was not material. WGL Holdings’ investment in this subsidiary also is not material, and the Company expects that
future investments in Crab Run will be minimal.

Hampshire—is a regulated utility that operates an underground natural gas storage facility in the vicinity of
Augusta, West Virginia. Washington Gas purchases all of the storage services of Hampshire. Washington Gas includes
the cost of these services in the bills sent to its customers. Hampshire is regulated under a cost of service tariff by the
Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC).

Washington Gas Resources—owns the Company’s unregulated subsidiaries. Washington Gas Resources’
subsidiaries, which are described below, include Washington Gas Energy Services, Inc. (WGEServices), American
Combustion Industries, Inc. (ACD), Washington Gas Energy Systems, Inc. (WGESystems), WG Maritime Plaza I, Inc.
(WG Maritime) and Washington Gas Credit Corporation (Credit Corp.). Effective April 8, 2004, the Company dissolved
two of its inactive subsidiaries, Brandywood Estates, Inc. (Brandywood) and Washington Gas Consumer Services, Inc.
(Consumer Services). Brandywood was a general partner with a major developer in a venture to develop 1,605 acres in
Prince George's County, Maryland. This property was sold in October 2002 after unsuccessful attempts to rezone and,
subsequent to the sale, Brandywood became inactive and conducted no business. Consumer Services, created to
evaluate and perform various energy-related functions, became inactive and had not conducted any business since
2001.

WGEServices—is engaged in the sale of natural gas and electricity to retail customers in competition with
unregulated marketers. At September 30, 2004, WGEServices served approximately 150,800 residential, commer-
cial and industrial natural gas customers, and 44,500 electricity customers both inside and outside Washington
Gas’ traditional service territory. WGEServices purchases natural gas and electricity for resale and does not own
electric generation, transmission or distribution facilities. Natural gas and electricity sold by WGEServices are
delivered through the assets owned by the regulated utilities that ultimately connect to the customers of
WGEServices. Washington Gas delivers most of the natural gas sold by WGEServices.

ACI—is a full-service mechanical contractor that offers turnkey products and services associated with the
design, renovation, sale, installation and service of mechanical heating, ventilating and air conditioning (HVAC)
systems. ACI serves the industrial, commercial and institutional sectors in Washington, D.C.; Baitimore, Maryland;
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; Richmond, Virginia and Northern Virginia areas.

WGESystems— provides commercial energy services, including the design, construction and renovation of
mechanical HVAC systems in the District of Columbia and parts of Virginia and Maryland. WGESystems’ business
is complementary to that of ACL

WG Maritime—works with a major developer to develop a 12-acre parcel of land owned by Washington Gas
in the District of Columbia. Washington Gas selected the developer to design, execute and manage the various
phases of the development. The development, Maritime Plaza, is intended to be a mixed-use commercial project
that will be implemented in five phases. The entire project is expected to be completed over a ten to fifteen-year
period, depending on market demand. To date, Washington Gas has entered into two 99-year ground leases for
the first and second phases that represent two buildings at Maritime Plaza, a commercial development project in
which WG Maritime held a carried interest. In February 2004, unrelated third parties sold these two buildings and
WG Maritime disposed of its carried interest. Washington Gas continues to hold ground leases on the buildings
that were sold. WG Maritime may hold similar interests in the remaining phases if they are developed.

Credit Corp.—offered financing to customers to purchase gas appliances and other energy-related
equipment. This business no longer offers new loans, but continues to service its existing loan portfolio.
Substantially all of the loan portfolio is expected to be fully amortized in 2005.
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INDUSTRY SEGMENTS

WGL Holdings, through its subsidiaries, sells and delivers natural gas and provides a variety of energy-related
products and services to customers primarily in Washington, D.C. and the surrounding metropolitan areas in Maryland
and Virginia. The Company’s core subsidiary, Washington Gas, is involved in the distribution and sale of natural gas
that is primarily regulated by state regulatory commissions. In response to changes in federal and state regulation, the
Company has taken the initiative to offer competitively priced natural gas and electricity to customers through its
unregulated retail energy-marketing subsidiary. The Company also offers energy-related products and services that are
closely related to its core business. The majority of these energy-related activities are performed by wholly owned
subsidiaries of Washington Gas Resources.

WGL Holdings has three operating segments: 1) regulated utility; 2) retail energy-marketing and 3) commercial
HVAC products and services. These three segments are described below. Transactions not specifically identifiable in
one of these three segments are accumulated and reported in the category ‘“Other Activities.”

Regulated Utility

With approximately 93 percent of the Company’s consolidated total assets, the regulated utility segment
(represented by Washington Gas and Hampshire) delivers natural gas to retail customers in accordance with tariffs
approved by the District of Columbia, Maryland and Virginia regulatory commissions that have jurisdiction over
Washington Gas’ rates. These rates are intended to provide the regulated utility with an opportunity to earn a just and
reasonable rate of return on the investment devoted to the delivery of natural gas to customers. Washington Gas also
sells natural gas to customers who have not elected to purchase natural gas from unregulated third-party marketers.
The regulated utility does not earn a profit or incur a loss when it sells the natural gas commodity because utility
customers are charged for the natural gas commodity at the same cost the regulated utility incurs. At September 30,
2004, the regulated utility was selling and delivering the natural gas commodity to 82 percent of its customers. The
remaining 18 percent of Washington Gas’ customers utilized the delivery services of Washington Gas for delivery of
the natural gas commodity purchased from third-party marketers, one of which is a subsidiary of Washington Gas
Resources. During both fiscal years ended September 30, 2004 and 2003, the regulated utility segment reported total
operating revenues of $1.3 billion, or 61.9 and 63.6 percent, respectively, of consolidated total operating revenues.
During fiscal year 2002, the regulated utility segment reported total operating revenues of $939 million, or
59.2 percent of consolidated total operating revenues. Factors critical to the success of the regulated utility include
operating a safe, reliable natural gas distribution system, and recovering the costs and expenses of this business in the
rates it charges to customers. These costs and expenses include a just and reasonable rate of return on invested capital
as authorized by the regulatory commissions having jurisdiction over the regulated utility’s rates. Hampshire, a wholly
owned subsidiary of WGL Holdings, operates an underground natural gas storage facility that provides services
exclusively to Washington Gas. Hampshire is regulated by the FERC. Hampshire operates under a “‘pass-through’ cost
of service-based tariff approved by the FERC, and adjusts its billing rates to Washington Gas on a periodic basis to
account for changes in its investment in utility plant and associated expenses.

Retail Energy-Marketing

WGEServices, a wholly owned subsidiary of Washington Gas Resources, competes with other third-party
marketers by selling natural gas and electricity directly to residential, commercial and industrial customers, both inside
and outside of the regulated utility’s traditional service territory. WGEServices does not own or operate any natural gas
or electric generation, transmission or distribution assets. Rather, it sells natural gas and electricity with the objective
of earning a profit, and these commodities are delivered to retail customers through the assets owned by regulated
utilities such as Washington Gas or other unaffiliated natural gas or electric utilities. Factors critical to the success of
the retail energy-marketing business are managing the market risk of the difference between the sales price committed
to customers under sales contracts and the cost of natural gas and electricity needed to satisfy these sales
commitments, managing credit risks associated with customers of and suppliers to this segment, and controlling the
level of selling, general and administrative costs, most notably customer acquisition costs.
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Commercial HVAC

Two wholly owned subsidiaries, ACI and WGESystems, provide turnkey, design-build and rencvation projects to
the commercial and government markets. There are many competitors in this business segment. The commercial
HVAC operations focus on retrofitting a large number of aging commercial and government structures, primarily in the
District of Columbia and portions of Maryland and Virginia. Factors critical to the success of the commercial HVAC
business include generating adequate revenue from the government and private sectors in the new construction and
retrofit markets, estimating and managing fixed-price contracts, and controlling selling, general and administrative
expenses.

For a further discussion of segment financial results, see Note 16 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

RATES AND REGULATORY MATTERS

Washington Gas is regulated by the Public Service Commission of the District of Columbia (PSC of DC), the Public
Service Commission of Maryland (PSC of MD) and the State Corporation Commission of Virginia (SCC of VA).
Hampshire is regulated by the FERC. The following section, ‘“General Regulatory Matters,” is a discussion of general
regulatory issues and initiatives, and the section entitled ‘‘Jurisdictional Rates and Regulatory Matters” is a
discussion of information regarding each commission and recent regulatory proceedings.

General Regulatory Matters

Regulated Service to Firm Customers. In the District of Columbia jurisdiction, the rate schedules for firm
delivery service are based upon (%) a flat volumetric charge for the delivery of each therm of natural gas consumed and
(ii) a fixed customer charge designed to recover certain fixed costs associated with maintaining facilities located on
the customer’s property, as well as certain other costs that do not vary with the amount of natural gas consumed by
customers. Non-residential firm customers also pay a peak-usage charge designed to recover the cost to serve
customers during peak periods. In the Maryland and Virginia jurisdictions, the rate schedules for firm delivery service
are comprised of a fixed charge per customer and a variable volumetric rate structured as a declining rate based on
increasing blocks of volumes. Declining block rates have the effect of minimizing fluctuations in net revenue that
otherwise would result from deviations from normal weather.

The firm tariff provisions for sales service customers in each Washington Gas jurisdiction contain gas cost
recovery mechanisms that provide for the recovery of the invoice cost of natural gas, including the cost to transport
the gas commodity to the Company’s city gate, applicable to firm customers. Under these mechanisms, firm customer
rates are adjusted periodically to reflect increases and decreases in the actual cost of gas. Moreover, provisions in each
jurisdiction provide for an annual reconciliation of gas costs collected from firm customers to the applicable invoice
cost of gas paid to natural gas suppliers and pipeline companies on behalf of these customers. Differences between
the amount collected from customers and what is paid to suppliers for natural gas are collected from or refunded to
customers over subsequent periods.

Regulated Service to Interruptible Customers. To qualify for interruptible service, customers must be
capable of either substituting an alternate fuel for natural gas or operating without utilizing natural gas should
Washington Gas determine that it must interrupt service temporarily to meet firm customers’ needs during periods of
peak demand. The effect on net income of changes in delivered volumes and prices to the interruptible class is limited
by margin-sharing arrangements that are included in Washington Gas’ rate designs. Under these arrangements, except
as noted below as it relates to Virginia operations, Washington Gas shares a majority of the margins earned on
interruptible gas sales and deliveries to firm customers after a gross margin threshold is reached. A portion of the fixed
costs for servicing interruptible customers is collected through the firm customer’s class in rate design. In the Virginia
jurisdiction, Washington Gas shares only margins on interruptible gas sales to firm customers; interruptible delivery
service rates are based on the cost of service, and Washington Gas retains all revenues from interruptible delivery
service.

Natural Gas Unbundling Initiatives. Currently, for the majority of its business, the price that Washington
Gas charges its customers is based on the combination of the cost it incurs for the natural gas commodity, including
kel
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charges for interstate pipeline services, and a charge for delivering natural gas to its customers. Although most of
Washington Gas’ revenue continues to be generated from the sale and delivery of natural gas on this combined or
“bundled” basis, regulatory initiatives have allowed for the separation or ‘““‘unbundling” of the sale of the natural gas
commodity from the delivery of gas on the regulated utility’s distribution system (delivery service). Gross margins
generated by the regulated utility from deliveries of customer-owned gas are equivalent to those earned on bundled
gas service because the regulated utility is only allowed to charge its customers the cost it pays for the natural gas
commodity and related charges for interstate pipeline services. Therefore, Washington Gas does not experience any
loss of margins when customers choose to purchase their gas from third-party marketers.

Throughout the Washington Gas service area, all customers are eligible to participate and may choose to purchase
natural gas from a variety of unregulated marketers, including WGEServices, an affiliated natural gas and electricity
retail marketer. When customers select an unregulated marketer as their gas supplier, Washington Gas continues to
charge these customers to deliver natural gas through its distribution system. The status of the unbundling programs in
the regulated utility’s major jurisdictions as of September 30, 2004 is discussed further in the section entitled
“Competition” included herein.

WGEServices sells natural gas, as an unregulated third-party marketer, to both firm and interruptible customers in
each Washington Gas jurisdiction in addition to other areas in Maryland and Virginia that are outside of the regulated
utility’s jurisdictional service area. As an unregulated marketer in a competitive market, WGEServices retains the full
amount of margins generated on sales of the natural gas commodity, but also has the potential to incur a loss from
sales of this commodity.

Jurisdictional Rates and Regulatory Matters

A description of each commission under which Washington Gas is regulated and a discussion of regulatory
matters in each jurisdiction are presented below. Also see the section entitled “Regulatory Matters” in Management's
Discussion for a table that summarizes Washington Gas’ major rate applications and results thereof.

District of Columbia Jurisdiction

The PSC of DC consists of three full-time members who are appointed by the Mayor with the advice and consent
of the District of Columbia City Council. The term of each commissioner is four years. There are no limitations on the
number of terms that can be served.

Rate Case Activities

In response to a Final Order of the PSC of DC that required the Company to explain why its rates should not be
reduced, on June 19, 2001, Washington Gas filed with the PSC of DC an application to increase rates in the District of
Columbia. The request sought to increase overall annual revenues in the District of Columbia by approximately
$16.3 million, or 6.8 percent, based on a proposed return on equity of 12.25 percent. On October 29, 2002, the PSC of
DC issued a Final Order for Washington Gas to decrease rates. The Final Order directed a decrease in overall annual
revenues in the District of Columbia of approximately $7.5 million, and approved a return on common equity of 10.60
percent and an overall rate of return of 8.83 percent. The Final Order also modified the design of rates to collect a
greater portion of annual revenues through fixed monthly charges, most notably by collecting such fixed monthly
charges each month of the year.

On November 6, 2002, Washington Gas filed with the PSC of DC an Application for Reconsideration of the Order
issued by the PSC of DC on October 29, 2002. Washington Gas’ Application for Reconsideration automatically stayed
the PSC of DC’s Final Order dated October 29, 2002. After reviewing the Applications for Reconsideration of
Washington Gas and other parties in the case, the PSC of DC issued its Final Order on reconsideration on March 28,
2003. Along with the rate design changes and other relief described above, new rates resulting in a $5.4 million annual
revenue reduction were put into place in the District of Columbia for service rendered on and after April 9, 2003.

In its March 28, 2003 ruling, the PSC of DC upheld a previous ruling that approved a methodology for sharing
with customers 50 percent of asset management revenues previously received by Washington Gas. As part of this
ruling, the PSC of DC also approved a methodology for sharing with customers 50 percent of annual ground lease and

5




WGL Holdings, Inc.
Washington Gas Light Company
Part I
Item 1. Business (continued)

development fees that Washington Gas received from Maritime Plaza, a commercial development project constructed
on land owned by Washington Gas. The rates approved by the PSC of DC reflect annual sharing of this income with
customers totaling $15,000. On May 23, 2003, the District of Columbia Office of the People’s Counsel (DC OPC) filed
an appeal with the District of Columbia Court of Appeals (DC Court of Appeals) seeking to overturn these two
portions of the March 28, 2003 ruling by the PSC of DC. On March 18, 2004, the DC Court of Appeals affirmed the
PSC of DC’s March 28, 2003 ruling with respect to the treatment of Washington Gas’ asset management revenues.
Furthermore, the DC Court of Appeals ordered the PSC of DC to provide an explanation of its decision to approve the
allocation methodology for sharing with customers the ground lease and development revenues attributable to the
Maritime Plaza development project. The PSC of DC issued a subsequent order requiring both the DC OPC and
Washington Gas to file testimony on this matter of the allocation. On October 12, 2004, Washington Gas filed
testimony before the PSC of DC that supports the allocation methodology that was approved in the PSC of DC’s initial
order. The DC OPC filed opposing testimony on the same date. Rebuttal testimony was filed on November 19, 2004 by
the DC OPC and Washington Gas.

On February 7, 2003, Washington Gas filed with the PSC of DC an application to increase base rates above the
level that had been in place since the period preceding the case filed on June 19, 2001. The request sought to increase
overall annual revenues in the District of Columbia by approximately $14.1 million, later revised to $18.8 million on
May 2, 2003. The application sought a return on common equity of 12.25 percent and an overall rate of return of
9.25 percent.

On November 10, 2003, the PSC of DC issued a Final Order authorizing Washington Gas to increase its annual
revenues by $5.4 million, reflecting an overall rate of return of 8.42 percent and a return on common equity of 10.60
percent. The Final Order, among other things, reduced annual depreciation expense and collections from the
currently allowed levels by approximately $300,000. The new rates went into effect for service rendered on and after
November 24, 2003.

The $5.4 million annual revenue increase described in the Final Order included a reduction for the effect of a
$6.5 million lower level of pension and other post-retirement benefit costs that had been previously deferred on the
balance sheet of Washington Gas as a regulatory liability. This regulatory deferral mechanism (or “tracker’), which has
been in effect in the District of Columbia for several years, is designed to ensure that the variation in these annual
costs, when compared to the levels collected from customers, does not affect net income. Therefore, the effect of the
Final Order’s reduction of annual revenues for lower pension and other post-retirement benefit costs requires an
accounting adjustment that reduces both the regulatory liability on the balance sheet and operation and maintenance
expenses on the statement of income. Additionally, the $5.4 million annual revenue increase in the Final Order also
included an increase in certain expenses that are also subject to the regulatory deferral mechanism treatment that
equates to approximately $800,000 per year. Accordingly, the total annualized effect of the Final Order on Washington
Gas’ pre-tax income results in an increase of approximately $11.1 million, which equates to diluted earnings per share
of approximately $0.14, based on weighted average common and common equivalent shares outstanding for the fiscal
year ended September 30, 2004.

Maryland Jurisdiction

The PSC of MD consists of five full-time members who are appointed by the Governor with the advice and
consent of the Senate of Maryland. Each commissioner is appointed to a five-year term, with no limit on the number of
terms that can be served.

Washington Gas is required to give 30 days’ notice when filing for a rate increase. The PSC of MD may initially
suspend the proposed increase for 150 days beyond the 30-day notice period and then has the option to extend the
suspension for an additional 30 days. If action has not been taken after 210 days, rates become effective subject to
refund.

Rate Case Activities

On March 28, 2002, Washington Gas filed an application with the PSC of MD requesting an increase in revenues
of approximately $31.4 million or 9.3 percent. The original request included a 12.5 percent return on common equity
or 9.67 percent overall rate of return on a year-end rate base, coupled with an incentive rate plan.
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On April 26, 2002, the PSC of MD issued a ruling that established two separate phases for the purpose of
considering and resolving specific issues that were stated at that time. In Phase I, the PSC of MD would review
Washington Gas’ base rate case, its proposal regarding incentive rates and a number of other issues associated with
Washington Gas’ proposed tariffs and rates. During Phase II, the PSC of MD would review issues regarding Washington
Gas’ proposal for serving as the “supplier/provider of last resort for natural gas services.”

On August 6, 2002, an uncontested settlement agreement on Phase I of the case, as revised, was filed with the
PSC of MD. The settlement provided for an increase of $9.25 million in annual non-gas operating revenues. The
settlement did not indicate the allowed return on common equity for the purpose of determining the amount of the
settlement. On September 27, 2002, the PSC of MD issued a Final Order approving the settlement agreement without
modification. The increase in revenues became effective for meter readings of Maryland customers on and after
September 30, 2002.

On March 31, 2003, Washington Gas filed an application with the PSC of MD to increase rates in Maryland. The
application requested an increase to overall annual revenues by approximately $35.1 million, later revised to $27.2
million on June 16, 2003, with a return on common equity of 12.25 percent and an overall rate of return of
9.39 percent. The requested level of the revenue increase included $8.7 million related to increased depreciation
expense.

On October 31, 2003, the PSC of MD issued a Final Order, granting Washington Gas a $2.9 million increase in
annual revenues based on an overall rate of return of 8.61 percent and a return on common equity of 10.75 percent.
These rates went into effect for services rendered on and after November 6, 2003. The Final Order excluded the effect
of Washington Gas’ request for an $8.7 million increase in annual revenues for depreciation expense, which was
decided in a separate proceeding. The Final Order did provide for adjusted revenues that correspond to an update of
Washington Gas’ depreciation rates upon the outcome of the separate proceeding.

On March 25, 2004, a Hearing Examiner of the PSC of MD issued a proposed Order granting an increase of
$1.1 million in annuat revenues to reflect new depreciation rates and higher depreciation expense effective on July 1,
2004. This proposed Order was appealed by various parties, including Washington Gas. On June 18, 2004, the PSC of
MD denied all appeals and upheld the findings of the Hearing Examiner. Washington Gas implemented the new
depreciation rates on July 1, 2004.

Virginia Jurisdiction

The SCC of VA consists of three fulltime members who are elected by the General Assembly of Virginia. Each
commissioner has a six-year term with no limitation on the number of terms that can be served.

Either of two methods may be used to request a modification of existing rates. First, Washington Gas may file an
application for a general rate increase in which it may propose new adjustments to the cost of service that have not
previously been approved by the Commission, as well as a revised return on equity. The rates under this process may
take effect 150 days after the filing, subject to refund pending the outcome of the SCC of VA’s action on the
application. Second, an expedited rate case procedure is available which provides that rate increases may be effective
30 days after the filing date, also subject to refund. Under the expedited rate case procedure, Washington Gas may not
propose any new adjustments for issues not previously approved in the last general rate case, or a change in its return
on common equity from the level authorized in its last general rate case. Once filed, other parties may propose new
adjustments and/or a change in the cost of capital from the level authorized in its last general rate case. The expedited
rate case procedure may not be available should the SCC of VA decide that there has been a substantial change in
circumstances since the Company’s last general rate case.

Rate Case Activities

On June 14, 2002, Washington Gas filed an application with the SCC of VA to increase annual revenues in Virginia.
The Shenandoah Gas Division of Washington Gas was included in the application. The application requested an
increase in overall annual revenues of approximately $23.8 million. Washington Gas requested an overall rate of return
of 9.42 percent and a return on common equity of 12.25 percent versus the then currently authorized return on
common equity of 11.50 percent for Washington Gas and 10.70 percent for the Shenandoah Gas Division.
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Under the regulations of the SCC of VA, Washington Gas placed the proposed general revenue increase into effect
on November 12, 2002, subject to refund, pending the SCC of VA’s final decision in the proceeding. From that time
until a refund was made, as discussed below, Washington Gas recorded a provision for rate refunds representing the
estimated refund required based on management’s judgment of the rate case outcome.

On December 18, 2003, the SCC of VA issued a Final Order in this proceeding which granted Washington Gas an
annual revenue increase of $10.8 million, and reduced the annual revenues of the Shenandoah Gas Division of
Washington Gas by $867,000. The combination of this increase in the rates of Washington Gas and the reduction in
the rates of the Shenandoah Gas Division of Washington Gas yields a net increase in annual revenues of $9.9 million.
The Final Order allowed a rate of return on common equity of 10.50 percent and an overall rate of return of
8.44 percent.

Refunds to customers, with interest, were made pursuant to the Final Order during the quarter ended March 31,
2004. The difference between the amount refunded to customers and the amount of the provision for rate refunds
previously recorded by Washington Gas was not material. Accordingly, this refund had no material effect on earnings
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004.

In the Final Order, the SCC of VA ordered that the implementation date of new depreciation rates should be
January 1, 2002, as opposed to November 12, 2002 as originally requested and implemented by Washington Gas. This
required Washington Gas to record additional depreciation expense in the quarter ended December 31, 2003 of
approximately $3.5 million on a pre-tax basis that related to the period from January 1, 2002 through November 11,
2002.

The SCC of VA also ordered Washington Gas to reduce its rate base related to net utility plant by $28 million,
which is net of accumulated deferred income taxes of $14 million, and to establish an equivalent regulatory asset that
the Company has done for regulatory accounting purposes only. This regulatory asset represeats the difference
between the accumulated reserve for depreciation recorded on the books of Washington Gas and a theoretical reserve
that was derived by the Staff of the SCC of VA (VA Staff) as part of its review of Washington Gas’ depreciation rates, less
accumulated deferred income taxes. This regulatory asset is being amortized, for regulatory accounting purposes only,
as a component of depreciation expense over 32 years pursuant to the Final Order. The SCC of VA provided for both a
return on, and a return of, this regulatory asset established for regulatory accounting purposes.

In approving the treatment described in the preceding paragraph, the SCC of VA further ordered that an annual
‘‘earnings test”’ be performed to determine if Washington Gas has earned in excess of its allowed rate of return on
common equity for its Virginia operations. The current procedure for performing this earnings test does not normalize
the actual return on equity for the effect of weather over the applicable twelve-month period. To the extent that
‘Washington Gas earns in excess of its allowed return on equity in any annual earnings test period, Washington Gas is
required to increase depreciation expense (after considering the impact of income tax benefits) and increase the
accumulated reserve for depreciation for the amount of the actual earnings in excess of the earnings produced by the
10.50 percent allowed return on equity. Under the SCC of VA’s requirements for performing earnings tests, if weather
is warmer than normal in a particular annual earnings test period, Washington Gas is not allowed to restore any
amount of earnings previously eliminated as a result of this earnings test. This annual earnings test shall continue to be
performed until the $28 million difference between the accumulated reserve for depreciation recorded on Washington
Gas’ books and the theoretical reserve derived by the VA Staff, net of accumulated deferred income taxes, is eliminated
or the level of the regulatory asset established for regulatory accounting purposes is adjusted as a result of a future
depreciation study.

On January 7, 2004, Washington Gas filed a Petition for Reconsideration of Commission Final Order (the
Petition) with the SCC of VA requesting that the SCC of VA reconsider certain portions of the December 18, 2003 Final
Order, most notably those dealing with depreciation issues. On January 23, 2004, the SCC of VA rejected the Petition.
On April 15, 2004, Washington Gas filed a Petition for Appeal with the Supreme Court of Virginia seeking its review of
the SCC of VA’s Final Order. A hearing was held on September 13, 2004. On October 8, 2004, the Supreme Court of
Virginia issued an opinion affirming the SCC of VA’s Final Order dated December 18, 2003.
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During fiscal year ended September 30, 2004, Washington Gas recorded additional depreciation expense of
$1.0 million in connection with earnings tests performed. The amount recorded could change if the SCC of VA differs
with management’s calculations or methodology.

On January 27, 2004, Washington Gas filed an expedited rate case with the SCC of VA to increase annual revenues
in Virginia by $19.6 million, with an overall rate of return of 8.70 percent and a 10.50 percent return on equity. On
February 26, 2004, based upon expedited rate case filing procedures, Washington Gas placed the proposed revenue
increase into effect, subject to refund, pending the SCC of VA’s final decision in the proceeding.

On August 20, 2004, the VA Staff filed testimony in response to Washington Gas’ proposed rate application. The
testimony of the VA Staff, which was based upon updated financial information for revenues, rate base, labor expenses
and other matters through March 31, 2004, proposed a reduction in Washington Gas' annual revenues of $6.5 million
reflecting, among other proposed adjustments, a recommendation to lower the overall rate of return to 8.28 percent
and the return on common equity to 9.70 percent. Also, in connection with an earnings test calculation performed by
the VA Staff for the twelve-month period ending June 30, 2003, the VA Staff proposed that Washington Gas be required
to record additional depreciation expense of $6.1 million (pre-tax), along with a corresponding increase to the
accumulated reserve for depreciation.

On September 15, 2004, six participants in the rate case, including Washington Gas and the VA Staff, submitted a
proposed Stipulation to the SCC of VA. On September 27, 2004, the SCC of VA issued a Final Order approving the
Stipulation as filed. The Stipulation resolved all issues related to Washington Gas’ January 27, 2004 expedited rate case
application filed with the SCC of VA,

Under the Stipulation, Washington Gas will not change its annual base revenues, and will maintain the allowed
rate of return on common equity of 10.50 percent and the overall rate of return of 8.44 percent as approved by the
December 18, 2003 Final Order as previously discussed. Refunds to customers, with interest, are being made during
the December 2004 billing cycle for the amount of the proposed annual revenue increase that has been collected since
February 26, 2004. Based on the terms of the Stipulation, the Company implemented billing rates commencing
October 4, 2004 that reflect the level of annual revenues determined in the December 18, 2003 Final Order, and
implemented the agreed upon changes in rate design that are contained in the Stipulation.

The Stipulation also provides for a one-time credit to all Virginia customers of $3.2 million for certain liabilities
that were previously recorded by Washington Gas. This one-time credit will be made to customers during the January
2005 billing cycle. Providing this credit to customers does not have an effect on earnings of Washington Gas. Under
the Stipulation, Washington Gas is required to file with the SCC of VA, on or before December 27, 2004, an earnings
test calculation for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2003. Future annual earnings test calculations will
be estimated by the Company quarterly, and when appropriate, accounting adjustments will be recorded. In
accordance with the Stipulation, Washington Gas agrees that it will not file an application with the SCC of VA to
increase its base rates such that the proposed increased rates would become effective, on an interim basis, before
January 1, 20006.

The Company’s financial results for the nine months ended June 30, 2004 reflected a provision for rate refunds to
customers based on the difference between the amount the Company had collected in rates subject to refund through
June 30, 2004, and the amount that the Company had expected to be realized from the final outcome of the rate case
filed in January 2004, based on management’s judgment at that time. The amount of the proposed revenue increase
that had been included in net income for the nine months ended June 30, 2004, after considering the provision for
rate refunds, was $2.2 million (pre-tax), or $0.03 per diluted average common share. After taking into consideration
the Stipulation discussed above, Washington Gas increased its provision for rate refunds in the quarter ended
September 30, 2004 to the full amount of revenues that had been collected subject to refund through the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2004. The increased provision eliminated the $0.03 per diluted average common share that was
previously included in net income for the nine months ended June 30, 2004. After the additional provision for rate
refunds was recorded in the quarter ended September 30, 2004, there was no effect on fiscal year 2004, nor will there
be any effect on fiscal year 2005 earnings for the rates initially put into effect in February 2004.
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COMPETITION
Competition with Otber Energy Products

The regulated utility faces competition based on customers’ preference for natural gas compared to other energy
products and the comparative prices of those products. The most significant product competition occurs between
natural gas and electricity in the residential market. The residential market generates a significant portion of the
regulated utility’s net income. In its service territory, Washington Gas continues to attract the majority of the new
residential construction market. The Company believes that consumers’ continuing preference for natural gas allows
Washington Gas to maintain a strong market presence.

The regulated utility has generally maintained a price advantage over electricity in its service area for traditional
uses of energy such as heating, water heating and cooking. However, price volatility in the wholesale natural gas
commodity market has resulted in significant increases in the cost of natural gas billed to customers (refer to the
section entitled “Gas Supply and Capacity—Rising Natural Gas Prices”). Such increases have resulted in significant
reductions to or the elimination of the traditional price advantage of natural gas. Price advantages that electricity may
currently have are also partially caused by artificial price caps. These price caps expired in June 2004 in Maryland, and
will expire in February 2005 in the District of Columbia, and in December 2010 in Virginia. As these price caps expire,
comparisons may change. Furthermore, as discussed below, restructuring in both the natural gas and electric
industries is leading to changes in traditional pricing models. As part of the electric industry restructuring effort,
certain business segments are moving toward market-based pricing, with third-party marketers of electricity
participating in retail markets. Electric industry restructuring may result in lower comparative pricing for electric
service and other alternative energy sources, including natural gas. These changes could result in increased
competition for the regulated utility.

In the interruptible market, the regulated utility’s customers must be capable of using a fuel other than natural gas
when demand peaks for the regulated utility’s firm customers. In the interruptible market, fuel oil is the prevalent
energy alternative to natural gas. The regulated utility’s success in this market depends largely on the relationship
between natural gas and oil prices. Since the supply of natural gas primarily is derived from domestic sources, the
relationship between supply and demand generally has the greatest impact on natural gas prices. Since a large portion
of o0il comes from foreign sources, political events can have significant influences on oil supplies and, accordingly, oil
prices. The anticipated introduction of non-domestic supplies of liquefied natural gas into the United States natural gas
market may affect supply levels and have an impact on natural gas prices. To date, the effect of liquefied natural gas on
supply levels has been minimal.

Deregulation

In each of the jurisdictions (the District of Columbia, Maryland and Virginia) served by the Company’s regulated
utility, regulators and utilities have implemented customer choice programs. These programs provide customers with
an opportunity to choose to purchase their natural gas and/or electric commodity from third-party marketers, rather
than purchasing these commodities as part of a bundled service from the local utility. When customers choose to
purchase their natural gas commodity from third-party marketers on an unbundled basis, there is no effect on the
regulated utility’s net revenues or net income since Washington Gas charges its customers the cost of gas without any
mark-up. However, these customer choice programs provide unregulated third-party marketers, such as WGEServices,
with opportunities to profit from the sale of the natural gas commodity or electricity in competitive markets. It also
enables customers to have competitive choices for natural gas and electricity. Participating in this evolving
marketplace also poses risks and challenges that must be addressed in the Company’s current and future strategies.

The Natural Gas Delivery Function

The natural gas delivery function, the core business of the Company’s regulated utility, continues to be regulated
by local regulatory commissions. In developing this core business, Washington Gas invested $2.6 billion as of
September 30, 2004 to construct and operate a safe, reliable and economical natural gas distribution system. Because
of the high fixed costs and significant safety and environmental considerations associated with building and operating
a distribution system, it is expected that there will continue to be only one owner and operator of a natural gas
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distribution system in the regulated utility’s current franchise area for the foreseeable future. The nature of Washington
Gas’ customer base and the distance of most customers from interstate pipelines mitigate the threat of bypass of its
facilities by other potential delivery service providers.

Washington Gas expects that local regulatory commissions will continue to set the prices and terms for delivery
service that give it an opportunity to earn a just and reasonable rate of return on the capital invested in its distribution
system and to recover reasonable operating expenses. Washington Gas plans to continue constructing, operating and
maintaining its natural gas distribution system. The Company does not foresee any significant near-term changes in the
regulated utility’s risk profile.

The Merchant Function and Natural Gas Unbundling

At September 30, 2004, customer choice programs for natural gas customers were available to all of Washington
Gas’ regulated utility customers in the District of Columbia, Maryland and Virginia. Of approximately 990,000 active
customers at September 30, 2004, approximately 181,000 customers purchased their natural gas commodity from
unregulated third-party marketers. The following table provides the status of natural gas unbundling in the regulated
utility’s major jurisdictions at September 30, 2004. The number and percentage of customers reflected in this table
include all customers who chose to purchase natural gas from a third-party marketer, including WGEServices.

Status of Customer Choice Programs
At September 30, 2004

Jurisdiction Customer Class Eligible Customers
Total % Participating
District of Columbia Firm:
Residential 135,907 12%
Commercial 13,387 31%
Interruptible 235 77%
Maryland Firm:
Residential 378,897 20%
Commercial 28,638 41%
Interruptible 260 100%
Virginia Firm:
Residential 406,963 16%
Commercial 25,539 28%
Interruptible 236 86%
Total 990,062 18%

Ultimately, the regulators may decide that the Company should exit the merchant function and that all customers
should choose to buy natural gas from unregulated marketers. Washington Gas continues to have certain obligations to
purchase natural gas from producers and transportation capacity from interstate pipeline companies. Accordingly, the
strategy of Washington Gas focuses on managing efficiently the portfolio of contractual resources, recovering
contractual costs and maximizing the value of contractual assets. Of the 18 percent of customers who chose to
purchase natural gas from a third-party marketer in fiscal year 2004, 14 percent were customers of WGEServices. This
compares to 21 percent of customers who chose a third-party marketer in fiscal year 2003, of which 15 percent
represented customers of WGEServices.

Washington Gas actively manages its supply portfolio to balance its sales, delivery and supply obligations.
Currently, the regulated utility includes the cost of the natural gas commodity and interstate pipeline services in the
purchased gas costs that it includes in firm customers’ rates, subject to regulatory review. The regulated utility’s
jurisdictional tariffs contain gas cost mechanisms that allow it to recover the invoice cost of gas, including both the
commodity cost of gas and the interstate pipeline services, applicable to firm customers. Additionally as described
below, these same tariffs provide for the assignment and recovery of certain capacity and peaking services from the
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third-party marketers that serve delivery service customers. Washington Gas believes it prudently entered into its gas
contracts and that the costs being incurred should be recoverable from customers. If future unbundling or other
initiatives remove the current gas cost recovery provisions, Washington Gas could be adversely impacted to the extent
it incurs non-competitive gas costs without other satisfactory regulatory mechanisms available to recover any costs
that may exceed market prices. Washington Gas currently has recovery mechanisms for such potentially stranded costs
in the District of Columbia, Maryland and Virginia.

If Washington Gas were to determine that competition or changing regulation stemming from future unbundling
or other initiatives would preclude it from recovering these costs in rates, these costs would be charged to expense
without any corresponding revenue recovery. Depending upon the timing, the effect of such a charge on Washington
Gas’ financial position and results of operations would likely be significant. If a regulatory body were to disallow the
recovery of such costs, these costs would be borne by shareholders.

To minimize its exposure to contract risks, Washington Gas has mechanisms in its customer choice programs that
enable it to assign to participating third-party marketers 100 percent of the storage and peak winter capacity resources
that were dedicated to serving bundled service customers when those customers elected a third-party marketer.
Additionally, Washington Gas currently has mechanisms approved by each of its local commissions to assign certain
percentages of transportation capacity resources. Washington Gas continually updates its forecasts of customer growth
and the associated requirements for pipeline transportation, storage and peaking resources. Washington Gas is
generally renewing pipeline transportation and storage capacity contracts to meet its forecasts of increased customer
gas requirements and to comply with regulatory mechanisms to provide for or make available such resources to
marketers serving customers in the customer choice programs.

To maximize the value of its contractual assets, the regulated utility has entered into contracts with unregulated
marketers that make use of the regulated utility’s firm storage and transportation rights to meet the regulated utility’s
city gate delivery needs and to make off-system sales when such storage and transportation rights are under-utilized.
The regulated utility continues to pay the fixed charges associated with the firm storage and transportation contracts
used to make sales.

UNREGULATED RETAIL ENERGY-MARKETING OF NATURAL GAS AND ELECTRICITY

As the regulated utility’s role in the merchant function may decrease over time, opportunities emerge for
unregulated natural gas and electric providers. In the deregulated marketplace, third-party marketers have profit-
making opportunities, but also assume the risk of loss.

The Company established WGEServices in fiscal year 1997, an unregulated retail energy-marketing subsidiary.
WGEServices sells natural gas and electricity to residential, commercial and industrial customers inside and outside of
the Washington Gas service area. At September 30, 2004, WGEServices had approximately 150,800 natural gas
customers and 44,500 electric customers, compared to 153,400 natural gas customers and 76,000 electric customers
at September 30, 2003, and 155,000 natural gas customers and 66,000 clectric customers at September 30, 2002.
WGEServices’ gross revenues for fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002 were $789.9 million, $726.2 million and
$595.9 million, respectively. WGEServices’ net income was $8.3 million, $3.7 million and $5.0 million for fiscal years
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Assuming normal weather, the regulatory process results in relatively stable earnings for the regulated utility.
However, there can be significant volatility for unregulated third-party marketers, such as the volatility experienced by
WGEServices during fiscal years 2004 and 2003 related to natural gas sales. Gross margins from natural gas sales were
reduced in fiscal year 2003 in comparison to fiscal year 2002 due to the colder-than-normal weather experienced
during the 2002-2003 winter heating season that resulted in the need to make additional purchases of natural gas at
higher prices in the spot market in order to meet commitments to customers. During fiscal year 2004, WGEServices
earned higher-than-historical gross margins on its natural gas sales, reflecting additional business that was secured in
the form of large government and commercial customers. Additionally, the current fiscal year reflects the full-scale
operation of a regional Liquefied Natural Gas importation facility that introduced large volumes of gas into the local
market, putting downward pressure on WGEServices’ gas supply costs. The conditions that gave rise to the significant
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increase in earnings of WGEServices in fiscal year 2004 are not expected to recur in fiscal year 2005; accordingly,
earnings in fiscal year 2005 are expected to be lower than they were in fiscal year 2004.

WGEServices competes with other third-party marketers to sell the unregulated natural gas commodity to
customers. Marketers of the natural gas commodity compete largely on price, and gross margins are relatively small.
Consequently, operating margins for the sale of unregulated natural gas are typically lower than those earned by the
regulated utility.

In addition, WGEServices faces risks associated with its gas supply. At any point in time, WGEServices may
experience a difference between contracted gas purchase quantities and contractual gas sales commitments. To
minimize this risk, WGEServices manages its natural gas contract portfolio by closely matching the timing of gas
purchases from suppliers with sales commitments to customers. WGEServices also purchases its gas from a number of
wholesale suppliers in order to avoid relying on any single provider for its natural gas supply. Additionally,
WGEServices maintains gas storage inventory that is assigned to it by natural gas utilities such as Washington Gas. This
storage inventory enables WGEServices to meet daily and monthly fluctuations in demand caused by variations in
weather from normal. WGEServices enters into derivative contracts in order to balance its sales commitments with the
amount of gas it must purchase to satisfy those commitments, or for purposes of fixing the price at which
WGEServices may have to purchase or sell gas. WGEServices has a risk management policy in place and periodically
reassesses its policy to determine its adequacy to mitigate risks in changing markets. For a further discussion about
WGEServices’ exposure to and management of market risks, refer to the section entitled “Market Risk” included in
Management’s Discussion.

Customer choice programs for electric customers have been implemented in each jurisdiction in which the
regulated utility operates. Similar to the natural gas industry, participants in these programs can choose either to
continue purchasing bundled electricity service from their local electric distribution utility or to purchase electricity
from a third-party marketer. WGEServices competes with other third-party marketers to sell electric supply services to
customers. Marketers of electric supply service compete largely on price, and gross margins are relatively small.

Future opportunities to add new electric customers may be limited in the near term. New Standard Offer Service
(SOS) rates that went into effect in July 2004 for a Maryland electric utility that WGEServices directly competes with
are below current market prices. This electric utility entered into contracts to supply its SOS customers with
electricity in February 2004, prior to a surge in fuel prices required to generate electricity. SOS rates in Maryland and
the District of Columbia will continue to be reset to market rates through annual procurements, and thereby are
expected to offer continuing opportunities to build the electric customer base.

WGEServices entered into a master purchase and sale agreement in April 2000 with a wholesale energy marketer,
Mirant Americas Energy Marketing L.P. (MAEM), which is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Mirant Corporation
(Mirant). WGEServices purchases full requirements services from MAEM, including electric energy, capacity and
certain ancillary services, for resale to retail electric customers. Although the full requirements agreement eliminates
the electric supply risk that is associated with changes in demand, the benefits of this contractual provision are only
realized to the extent MAEM performs its delivery function. To reduce dependency on a single supplier, during fiscal
year 2004, WGEServices entered into separate master purchase and sale agreements under which it purchases full
requirements services from three new wholesale electricity suppliers. Electric suppliers other than MAEM accounted
for less than ten percent of WGEServices' electricity purchases for fiscal year 2004, WGEServices does not own or
operate any electric generation, electric transmission or electric distribution assets.

On July 14, 2003, Mirant and substantially all of its subsidiaries, filed voluntary petitions for reorganization under
Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. MAEM, WGEServices’ principal supplier of electricity, was included in these
bankruptcy filings. Since the bankruptcy filing, MAEM has continued to honor its supply obligations to WGEServices.
Future performance by MAEM may be subject to further developments in the bankruptcy proceedings (refer to the
section entitled “Market Risk” included in Management’s Discussion).

POTENTIAL FOR FURTHER UNBUNDLING

Currently, the Company’s regulated utility provides customer services, such as preparing bills, reading meters and
responding to customer inquiries, as part of its core utility function. Unregulated third-party marketers have the option
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to assume responsibility for bill preparation and customer collections. In addition to billing and collecting from
customers for the natural gas commodity, third-party marketers’ bills may include natural gas delivery charges due the
regulated utility, which they subsequently remit to Washington Gas. Although Washington Gas still provides most
customer services on a bundled basis, the potential exists for future deregulation initiatives to separate these services
from the core utility function. In that case, customers could choose to have unregulated competitors provide these
services.

To remain competitive, the Company continuously strives to improve quality and efficiency and to reduce costs to
achieve market-level performance. Accordingly, the Company will continue to look for opportunities to profit from
further unbundling.

GAS SUPPLY AND CAPACITY
Supply and Capacity Requirements

Washington Gas arranges to have natural gas delivered to the entry points of its distribution system (city gates or
gate station) using the delivery capacity of interstate pipeline companies, and also uses on-system peaking facilities to
meet requirements. Washington Gas acquires interstate pipeline natural gas delivery and storage capacity on a system-
wide basis on the different interstate pipelines to provide the greatest amount of flexibility to meet the diverse demand
characteristics of its customer base. Washington Gas’ supply and capacity plan is based on forecasted system
requirements, and takes into account estimated load growth by type of customer, attrition, conservation, demand by
gate station, interstate pipeline capacity and contractual limitations and the forecasted movement of customers
between sales service and delivery service.

Pursuant to FERC Order No. 636, interstate pipeline companies are required to provide transportation and storage
services to natural gas shippers, such as Washington Gas, that are comparable to the services it received prior to the
implementation of the order. At September 30, 2004, Washington Gas had service agreements with four pipeline
companies that provided direct service for firm transportation and/or storage services. These contracts have
expiration dates ranging from fiscal years 2005 to 2024.

Washington Gas is responsible for acquiring both sufficient natural gas supplies and interstate pipeline capacity to
meet customer requirements. As such, Washington Gas must contract for reliable and adequate delivery capacity to its
distribution system, while considering the dynamics of the interstate pipeline capacity market, its own on-system
peaking facilities, as well as the characteristics of its customer base. Washington Gas’ contracting activities take into
account customers’ tendencies to switch between sales and delivery service; however, short-term contractual
arrangements required to manage such customer choice diversity may not be available in future periods under
conditions of capacity constraints. Washington Gas has adopted a diversified portfolio approach designed to satisfy the
supply and deliverability requirements of its customers, using multiple supply points, dependable interstate pipeline
transportation and storage arrangements, and its own substantial storage and peaking capabilities to meet its
customers’ demands. The Company anticipates enhancing its peaking capacity by constructing a liquefied natural gas
peaking facility that is expected to be completed and placed in service by the 2008-2009 winter heating season.

Local distribution companies, such as Washington Gas, along with other participants in the energy industry have
raised concerns regarding the gradual depletion in the availability of additional interstate pipeline capacity. Depleting
pipeline capacity is a business issue that must be managed by Washington Gas, whose customer base has grown at an
annual rate of two to three percent. This rate of growth is expected to continue. The increased number of electric co-
generation facilities that exist and are planned in the near future for the mid-Atlantic region and upstream of the mid-
Atlantic region that are fueled by natural gas exacerbates concerns associated with the availability of pipeline capacity.
These facilities, which significantly utilize pipeline capacity, may ultimately affect deliverability and flexibility of
natural gas delivery into the region. Due to the reluctance on the part of both marketers and some local distribution
companies in committing to long-term pipeline contracts, pipeline infrastructure improvements have been limited
despite the fact that the major pipelines serving the Washington Gas system are fully subscribed. In response to
growing concerns, interstate pipelines have begun the process of offering infrastructure improvements that will
expand pipeline capacity in the mid-Atlantic region. These improvement projects, funded through incremental
demand charges by the participating entities, require a minimum of two to three years to complete for the planning,
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solicitation of interest, regulatory approval and construction of new pipelines. Washington Gas contracted with an
interstate pipeline company, Dominion Transmission, Inc. (DTI), under which DTI constructed additional capacity for
firm transportation and storage services to Washington Gas. Approved by the FERC, this pipeline construction project
was completed and placed in service for the 2004-2005 winter heating season. Washington Gas will continue to
monitor other opportunities to acquire or participate in obtaining additional pipeline capacity that will improve or
maintain the high level of service expected by its customer base.

Sources of Natural Gas

As reflected in the table below, there were six sources of delivery through which the regulated utility received
natural gas to satisfy the sendout requirements in pipeline year 2004 (November 1, 2003 through October 31, 2004),
and from which supplies can be received in pipeline year 2005 (November 1, 2004 through October 31, 2005). Firm
transportation denotes gas transported directly to the entry point of Washington Gas’ distribution system in
contractually viable volumes. Transportation storage denotes volumes stored by a pipeline during the summer
injection season for withdrawal during the heating season to meet load requirements. Peak load requirements are met
by (i) underground natural gas storage at the Hampshire storage field in Hampshire County, West Virginia; (77) the
local production of propane air plants located at Washington Gas-owned facilities in Rockville, Maryland (Rockville
Station) and in Springfield, Virginia (Ravensworth Station) and (é77) other peak-shaving sources. Unregulated third-
party marketers acquire interstate pipeline capacity and the natural gas commodity on behalf of Washington Gas’
delivery service customers, some of which may be provided through transportation, storage and peaking resources
provided by Washington Gas to unregulated third-party marketers under tariffs approved by the three public service
commissions. These marketers have natural gas delivered to the entry point of Washington Gas’ delivery system on
behalf of those utility customers that have decided to acquire their natural gas commodity on an unbundled basis, as
previously discussed.

During pipeline year 2004 (November 1, 2003 through October 31, 2004), total sendout on the system was
1.673 billion therms as compared to total sendout of 1.754 billion therms during pipeline year 2003. This excludes the
sendout of sales and deliveries of natural gas used for electric generation. The decrease in 2004 was the result of
weather in pipeline year 2004 that was warmer than pipeline year 2003. The sendout for pipeline year 2005 is
estimated at 1.653 billion therms (based on normal weather), excluding the sendout for the sales and deliveries of
natural gas used for electric generation. The sources of delivery and related volumes that were used to satisfy the
requirements of pipeline year 2004 and those projected for pipeline year 2005 are shown in the following table.

Sources of Delivery for Annual Sendout

(In millions of therms) Pipeline Year
Sources of Delivery Actual 2004 Projected 2005
Firm Transportation 705 684
Transportation Storage 217 231
Hampshire Storage 13 14
Company-Owned Propane-Air Plants 1 9
Other Peak-Shaving Sources 8 41
Unregulated Third-Party Marketers 729 674
Total 1,673 1,653

The effectiveness of Washington Gas’ gas supply program is largely dependent on the sources from which the
design day requirement is satisfied. A design day is the maximum anticipated demand on the natural gas distribution
system during a 24-hour period assuming a five-degree Fahrenheit average temperature. Washington Gas assumes that
all interruptible customers will be curtailed on the design day. Washington Gas’ current design day demand forecast
for the 20042005 winter season is 17.4 million therms, and Washington Gas’ projected sources of delivery for design
day sendout is 18.7 million therms. This provides a reserve margin of approximately 7.5 percent. Washington Gas is
currently capable of meeting 77 percent of its design day requirements with storage and peaking capabilities. Optimal
utilization of storage and peaking facilities on Washington Gas’ design day reduces the dependency on firm
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transportation and reduces capacity costs. The following table reflects the sources of delivery that are projected to be
used to satisfy the design day sendout estimate for pipeline year 2005.

Projected Sources of Delivery for Design Day Sendout

(In millions of therms) Pipeline Year 2005
Sources of Delivery Volumes Percent
Firm Transportation 5.4 29%
Transportation Storage 5.4 29%
Company-Owned Propane-Air Plants, Hampshire Storage and

Other Peaking 6.7 36%
Unregulated Third-Party Marketers 1.2 6%

Total 18.7 100%

‘Washington Gas believes the combination of the natural gas supply it can purchase under short-term contracts, its
existing and planned peaking supplies, and the capacity held under contract on the interstate pipelines is sufficient to
satisfy the needs of existing customers and allow for growth in future years.

Rising Natural Gas Prices

Increased prices for natural gas are being driven by increased demand that is exceeding the growth in available
supply. Although this has put upward pressure on natural gas prices and the competitiveness of natural gas as an
energy source, the Company believes it will be able to fully meet its current customers’ demand for natural gas and to
grow its customer base in the future.

Changes in Natural Gas Consumption

Natural gas supply requirements may be affected by changes in natural gas consumption by customers. Natural
gas usage per customer may decline as customers change their consumption patterns in response to: () more volatile
and higher natural gas prices, as discussed above, and (#7) customers’ replacement of older, less efficient gas
appliances with more efficient appliances. In each jurisdiction in which Washington Gas operates, changes in
customer usage profiles have been reflected in recent rate case proceedings where rates have been adjusted to reflect
current customer usage. Changes in customer usage by existing customers that occur subsequent to these recent rate
case proceedings will have the effect of reducing revenues, which is offset by the favorable effect of adding new
customers.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations related to
environmental matters. These evolving laws and regulations may require expenditures over a long timeframe to
control environmental effects. Almost all of the environmental liabilities the Company and its subsidiaries have
recorded are for costs expected to be incurred to remediate sites where the Company or a predecessor affiliate
operated manufactured gas plants (MGP). Estimates of liabilities for environmental response costs are difficult to
determine with precision because of the various factors that can affect their ultimate level. These factors include, but
are not limited to the following:

¢ the complexity of the site;

* changes in environmental laws and regulations at the federal, state and local levels;

¢ the number of regulatory agencies or other parties involved,;

¢ new technology that renders previous technology obsolete or experience with existing technology that
proves ineffective;

* the ultimate selection of technology;

¢ the level of remediation required; and

* variations between the estimated and actual period of time that must be dedicated to respond to an
environmentally-contaminated site.
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Washington Gas has identified up to ten sites where it or its predecessors may have operated MGPs. Washington
Gas last used any such plant in 1984. In connection with these operations, Washington Gas is aware that coal tar and
certain other by-products of the gas manufacturing process are present at or near some former sites, and may be
present at others. Washington Gas does not believe that any of the sites present any unacceptable risk to human health
or the environment.

At one of the former MGP sites, studies show the presence of coal tar under the site and an adjoining property.
Washington Gas has taken steps to control the movement of contaminants into an adjacent river by installing a water
treatment system that removes and treats contaminated groundwater at the site. Washington Gas received approval
from governmental authorities for a comprehensive remediation plan for the majority of the site that will allow
commercial development of Washington Gas’ property. Washington Gas has entered into an agreement with a national
developer for the development of this site in phases. The first two phases have been completed, with Washington Gas
retaining a ground lease on each phase. Washington Gas is working with the owner of the affected adjoining property
to adopt a remediation plan for that portion of the site.

At a second former MGP site and on an adjacent parcel of land, Washington Gas made application under a state
voluntary closure program. Washington Gas developed a “‘monitoring-only”’ remediation plan for the site for which it
received state approval during fiscal year 2004. Accordingly, the Company reduced its liability in fiscal year 2004 for
estimated environmental response costs related to this matter.

Washington Gas does not expect that the ultimate impact of these matters will have a material adverse effect on
its capital expenditures, earnings or competitive position. Washington Gas believes, at this time, that the appropriate
remediation has been or is being undertaken, or that no remediation is necessary at the remaining eight sites. See
Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion of environmental response costs.

OTHER INFORMATION ABOUT THE BUSINESS

The regulated utility is not dependent upon a single customer or group of customers such that the loss of any one
or more of such customers would have a significant adverse effect on the regulated utility. Large customers are
generally on interruptible rate schedules, and margin-sharing arrangements generally limit the effects of variations in
interruptible customer usage on net income. As previously discussed, Washington Gas served approximately
one million customers at September 30, 2004. The Company’s energy-marketing segment is not heavily dependent on
any one customer or group of customers. The commercial HVAC segment derived approximately 44 percent and
45 percent of revenues from one customer, the Federal Government, in fiscal years 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The Company'’s utility business is weather-sensitive and seasonal since the majority of its business is derived from
residential and smail commercial customers who use natural gas for space heating purposes. In fiscal year 2004,
approximately 77 percent of the total therms delivered in the regulated utility’s franchise area, excluding deliveries for
electric generation, occurred in the regulated utility’s first and second fiscal quarters. The Company’s utility earnings
are typically generated during these two quarters and the regulated utility historically incurs net losses in the third and
fourth fiscal quarters. The timing and level of approved rate increases can affect the results of operations. The seasonal
nature of the regulated utility’s business creates large variations in short-term cash requirements, primarily due to the
fluctuations in the level of customer accounts receivable, accrued utility revenues and storage gas inventories.
‘Washington Gas finances these seasonal requirements primarily through the sale of commercial paper and unsecured
short-term bank loans.

The operations of WGEServices are also seasonal, with large amounts of electricity being sold in the summer
months and large amounts of natural gas being sold in the winter months. Working capital requirements vary
significantly during the year, and these variations are financed through the Company’s issuance of commercial paper.

The Company’s research and development costs during fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002 were not material.
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At September 30, 2004, the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries had 1,914 employees comprised of 1,695
utility and 219 non-utility employees.

The Company’s Code of Conduct, Corporate Governance Guidelines, and charters for the Governance, Audit and
Human Resources committees of the Board of Directors are available on the corporate Web site
www.wglholdings.com. Copies also may be obtained by request to the Corporate Secretary at WGL Holdings, Inc.,
101 Constitution Ave., N.W., Washington, DC 20080. The Company makes available free of charge on its corporate
Web site, its Annual Reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8K, and any
amendments thereto, as soon as reasonably practicable after such reports have been electronically filed with or
furnished to the Securities Exchange Commission (SEC). Additional information about WGL Holdings is also available
on its Web site. The Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer certified to the New York Stock Exchange
(NYSE) on March 18, 2004 that, as of that date, he was unaware of any violation by the Company of the NYSE’s
corporate governance listing standards.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

At September 30, 2004, WGL Holdings and its subsidiaries provided services in various areas of Virginia, the
District of Columbia and Maryland, and held certificates of convenience and necessity, licenses and permits necessary
to maintain and operate their respective properties and businesses. The regulated utility segment is the only segment
where property, plant and equipment is a significant asset.

Property, plant and equipment are stated at original cost, including labor, materials, taxes and overhead.
Washington Gas calculates depreciation applicable to its utility gas plant in service primarily using a straight-line
method over the estimated remaining life of the plant. The composite depreciation and amortization rate of the
regulated utility during fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002 was 3.48 percent, 3.20 percent and 2.93 percent,
respectively, which included an allowance for estimated accrued non-legal asset removal costs (see Note 1 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).

At September 30, 2004, the regulated utility segment had approximately 625 miles of transmission mains, 11,295
miles of distribution mains, and 13,089 miles of distribution services. The regulated utility has the storage capacity for
approximately 15 million gallons of propane for peak shaving.

Washington Gas owns approximately 40 acres of land and a building (built in 1970) at 6801 Industrial Road in
Springfield, Virginia. The Springfield site performs both operating and certain administrative functions of the regulated
utility. Washington Gas also holds title to land and buildings used as substations for its utility operations.

Washington Gas also has peaking facilities to enhance deliverability in periods of peak demand in the winter that
consist of propane air plants in Springfield, Virginia (Ravensworth Station), and Rockville, Maryland (Rockville
Station). Hampshire operates an underground natural gas storage field in Hampshire County, West Virginia. Hampshire
accesses the storage field through 12 storage wells that are connected to an 18-mile pipeline gathering system.
Hampshire also operates a compressor station for injection of gas into storage. For pipeline year 2005, management
estimates that the Hampshire storage facility has the capacity to supply approximately 2.0 billion cubic feet of natural
gas to the regulated utility’s system for meeting seasonal demands.

Washington Gas owns a 12-acre parcel of land located in Southeast Washington, D.C. Washington Gas entered into
an agreement with a national developer in February 2000 to develop this land in phases. The first two phases have
been developed, with Washington Gas retaining a ground lease on each phase. See the sections entitled ““Subsidiar-
ies” and “Environmental Matters” under Item 1 of this report for a discussion regarding WG Maritime and for
additional information regarding this development.

Facilities utilized by the retail energy-marketing and commercial HVAC segments are located in the Washington,
D.C. metropolitan area and are leased.

The Mortgage of Washington Gas dated January 1, 1933 (Mortgage), as supplemented and amended, securing any
First Mortgage Bonds (FMBs) it issues, constitutes a direct lien on substantially all property and franchises owned by
the regulated utility other than a small amount of property that is expressly excluded. At September 30, 2004 and
2003, no debt was outstanding under the Mortgage.

Washington Gas executed a supplemental indenture to its unsecured Medium-Term Note (MTN) Indenture on
September 1, 1993, providing that Washington Gas will not issue any FMBs under its Mortgage without securing all
MTNs with all other debt secured by the Mortgage.
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None.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

None.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANTS

The names, ages and positions of the executive officers of the registrants at September 30, 2004, are listed below
along with their business experience during the past five years. The age of each officer listed is as of the date of filing

of this report. There is no family relationship among the officers.

Unless otherwise indicated, all officers have served continuously since the dates indicated, and all positions are

executive officers listed with Washington Gas Light Company.

Executive Officers

Name, Age and Position with the registrants

Date Elected or
Appointed

Elizabeth M. Arnold, Age 52 (1)
Vice President (corporate strategy)
Vice President (corporate strategy) of WGL Holdings, Inc.
Vice President (corporate strategy and non-utility businesses) of WGL Holdings, Inc.
Vice President (corporate strategy and non-utility businesses)
Vice President (corporate strategy, internal audit, non-utility subsidiaries)
Vice President (corporate strategy and internal audit)

Thomas F. Bonner, Age 56 (2)
Vice President (gas transportation)

Beverly J. Burke, Age 53 (1)
Vice President and General Counsel
Vice President and General Counsel of WGL Holdings, Inc.
Vice President and Assistant General Counsel

Adrian P. Chapman, Age 47
Vice President (regulatory affairs and energy acquisition)

James H. DeGraffenreidt, Jr., Age 51 (1)
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of WGL Holdings, Inc.
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer of WGL Holdings, Inc.
Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of WGL Holdings, Inc.
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer

Shelley C. Jennings, Age 56 (1)
Treasurer of WGL Holdings, Inc.
Treasurer .

Frederic M. Kline, Age 53 (1)
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of WGL Holdings, Inc.
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Wilma Kumar-Rubock, Age 56
Vice President (information technology) and Chief Information Officer
Chief Information Officer
Division Head
Division Head (business systems)
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January 24, 2004
January 24, 2004
October 31, 2000
July 3, 2000
March 3, 2000
January 31, 1996

April 29, 2002

July 1, 2001
July 1, 2001
October 1, 1998

March 31, 1999

October 1, 2001
October 1, 2001
October 31, 2000
July 1, 2000
January 13, 2000
December 1, 1998

January 13, 2000
March 31, 1999

January 13, 2000
March 31, 1999

October 1, 2001
November 13, 2000
April 3, 2000

April 28, 1997
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Executive Officers

Name, Age and Position with the registrants

Date Elected or
Appointed

Terry D. McCallister, Age 49 (1,3)
President and Chief Operating Officer
President and Chief Operating Officer of WGL Holdings, Inc.
Vice President (operations and gas transportation)
Vice President (operations)

Mark P. O’Flynn, Age 54 (1,4)
Controller
Controller of WGL Holdings, Inc.

Douglas V. Pope, Age 59 (1)
Secretary of WGL Holdings, Inc.
Secretary

Roberta W. Sims, Age 50
Vice President (corporate relations and communications)

William Zeigler, Jr., Age 59 (5)
Vice President (human resources and organizational development)
Division Head (organizational development)

James B. White, Age 54
Vice President (customer service)
Vice President (business development)

October 1, 2001
October 1, 2001
June 28, 2000
April 3, 2000

February 18, 2002
February 18, 2002

January 13, 2000
July 25, 1979

January 31, 1996

February 1, 2004
February 10, 2003

October 14, 2002
February 21, 1996

(1) Executive Officer of both WGL Holdings, Inc. and Washington Gas Light Company.

(2) Mr. Bonner has previously served in executive positions in gas supply, customer services, operations and engineering at South jersey Gas

Company, Philadelphia Gas Works and Boston Gas Company.

(3) Mr. McCallister was previously employed by Southern Natural Gas Company, a subsidiary of Sonat, Inc., where be served as Vice President
and Director of Operations. Prior to working for Soutbern Natural Gas Company, a gas utility, be beld various leadership positions with
Atlantic Richfield Company, a fully integrated international oil and gas exploration, production, refining and marketing company.

(4) Mr. O'Flynn bas more than 30 years of experience in various finance positions with natural gas and electric utilities. He bas previous

experience as a CFO, controller and treasurer of utility companies that were SEC registrants.

(5) Mr. Zeigler was previously employed by Ernst & Young LLP (E&Y) where be served as National Director of Leadership and Organizational
Change. Prior to joining EGY, Mr. Zeigler was Senior Director, Organization Development and Training with Praxair, Inc. of Danbury, CT.
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ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

At October 31, 2004, WGL Holdings had 16,805 common shareholders of record. During fiscal years 2004 and
2003, WGL Holdings’ common stock was listed for trading on the New York Stock Exchange and was shown as “WGL
Hold” or “WGL Hldgs” in newspapers. The Company did not purchase any of its outstanding common stock during
fiscal years 2004 and 2003. The table below shows quarterly price ranges and quarterly dividends paid for fiscal years
ended September 30, 2004 and 2003,

Common Stock Price Range and Dividends Paid
Dividends Paid Dividend
High Low Per Share Payment Date
Fiscal Year 2004
Fourth quarter $29.68 $26.91 $0.3250 08/1/04
Third quarter 30.39 26.66 0.3250 05/1/04
Second quarter 30.18 27.15 0.3200 02/1/04
First quarter 28.55 26.20 0.3200 11/1/03
Fiscal Year 2003
Fourth quarter $27.97 $25.21 $0.3200 08/1/03
Third quarter 28.79 25.97 0.3200 05/1/03
Second quarter 26.96 23.15 0.3175 02/1/03
First quarter 25.15 21.94 0.3175 11/1/02
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

SELECTED FINANCIAL AND OPERATIONS DATA®

(In thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended September 30, 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
SUMMARY OF EARNINGS
Utility operating revenues $1,267,948 $1,301,057 $ 925,131 $1,446,456 $1,031,105
Less: Cost of gas 668,968 696,561 459,149 904,416 552,579
Revenue taxes 50,079 40,465 27,549 40,616 35,598
Utility net revenues $ 548,901 $ 564,031 $ 438,433 $ 501,424 $ 442928
Utility operation and maintenance expenses $ 226,751 $ 216,255 $ 205,061 $ 194,469 § 177,504
Non-utility operating revenues $ 821,655 $ 763,191 $ 659,671 $ 493,063 $ 218,087
Net income $ 96,637 $ 112,342 $ 39,121 $ 82445 $ 83,251
Earnings per average common share
Basic S 1.99 $ 2.31 $ 0.81 $ 1.75 $ 1.79
Diluted $ 1.98 $ 230 8 080 § 175  § 1.79
CAPITALIZATION—YEAR-END
Common shareholders’ equity $ 853,424 $ 818,218 $ 766,403 $ 788,253 $ 711,496
‘Washington Gas Light Company Preferred stock 28,173 28,173 28,173 28,173 28,173
Long-term debt, excluding current maturities 590,164 636,650 667,951 584,370 559,724
Total capitalization $1,471,761 $1,483,041 $1,462,527 $1,400,796 $1,299,393
OTHER FINANCIAL DATA
Total assets—year-end $2,504,908 $2,436,052 $2,339,146 $2,292,999 $2,139,989
Property, plant and equipment—net-~year-end $1,915,551 $1,874,923 $1,832,325 $1,731,633 $1,660,280
Capital expenditures $ 113,439 $ 129,083 $ 162,383 $ 130,215 $ 124,067
Long-term obligations—year-end $ 590,164 $ 636,650 $ 667,951 $ 584,370 $ 559,724
COMMON STOCK DATA
Annualized dividends per share $ 1.30 $ 1.28 $ 1.27 $ 1.26 $ 1.24
Dividends declared per share $  1.2950 $  1.2775 $  1.2675 $  1.2550 $  1.2350
Book value per share—year-end S 17.54 $ 16.83 $ 15.78 $ 16.24 $ 15.31
Return on average common equity 11.6% 14.2% 5.0% 11.0% 11.9%
Dividend yield on book value 7.4% 7.6% 8.0% 7.7% 8.1%
Dividend payout ratio 65.1% 55.3% 156.5% 71.7% 69.0%
Shares outstanding—year-end (thousands) 48,653 48,612 48,565 48,543 46,470
UTILITY GAS SALES AND DELIVERIES (thousands of therms)
Gas sold and delivered
Residential firm 629,728 648,809 509,243 634,949 557,825
Commercial and industrial
Firm 226,407 239,628 193,917 258,546 240,239
Interruptible 7,626 12,163 10,646 11,927 27,627
Total gas sold and delivered 863,761 900,600 713,806 905,422 825,691
Gas delivered for others
Firm 454,549 496,889 346,910 365,262 306,933
Interruptible 268,483 257,799 277,367 251,039 262,923
Electric generation 41,052 67,245 169,210 165,918 211,928
Total gas delivered for others 764,084 821,933 793,487 782,219 781,784
Total utility gas sales and deliveries 1,627,845 1,722,533 1,507,293 1,687,641 1,607,475
OTHER STATISTICS
Active customer meters—year-end 990,062 959,922 939,291 903,789 875,817
New customer meters added 29,438 26,167 31,205 32,188 30,063
Degree days—actual 4,024 4,550 3,304 4,314 3,637
Weather percent colder (warmer) than normal 6.1% 19.8% (13.9% 13.1% 5.0)%

@ Results presented for fiscal year 2000 reflect the consolidated operations of Washington Gas Light Company and its subsidiaries.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

INTRODUCTION

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Resulis of Operations (Management'’s
Discussion) analyzes the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of WGL Holdings, Inc. (WGL Hold-
ings or the Company) and its subsidiaries. It also includes management’s analysis of the Company’s past financial
results and potential factors that may affect future results, potential future risks and approaches that may be used to
manage them.

Management’s discussion is divided into the following two major sections:

* WGL Holdings—This section describes the financial condition and results of operations of WGL Holdings
and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. It includes discussions of WGL Holdings’ regulated utility and non-
utility operations. The majority of WGL Holdings’ operations are derived from the resuits of its regulated
utility, Washington Gas Light Company (Washington Gas), and to a much lesser extent, the results of its non-
utility operations. For more information on the Company’s regulated utility operations, please refer to the
Management’s Discussion for Washington Gas.

* Washington Gas—This section comprises the majority of WGL Holdings' regulated utility segment. The
financial condition and results of operations of Washington Gas’ utility operations and WGL Holdings’
regulated utility segment are essentially the same.

Both of the major sections of Management’s Discussion—WGL Holdings and Washington Gas—should be read to
obtain an understanding of the Company’s operations and financial performance. Management’s Discussion also
should be read in conjunction with the respective company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and the combined
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements thereto.

The Glossary of Key Terms included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K defines certain terms used in this
Management’s Discussion. Bold Italics indicate the first reference to a term defined in the Glossary of Key Terms.

Unless otherwise noted, earnings per share amounts are presented herein on a diluted basis, and are based on
weighted average common and common equivalent shares outstanding.

Management’s Discussion Table of Contents
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EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

Introduction

WGL Holdings, through its wholly owned subsidiaries, sells and delivers natural gas and provides a variety of
energy-related products and services to customers primarily in Washington, D.C. and the surrounding metropolitan
areas in Maryland and Virginia. The Company’s core subsidiary, Washington Gas, is involved in the delivery and sale
of natural gas that primarily is regulated by state regulatory commissions. Through the wholly owned, unregulated
subsidiaries of Wasbington Gas Resources Corporation (Washington Gas Resources), the Company also offers
energy-related products and services that are closely related to its core business. In response to changes in federal and
state regulation, the Company has taken the initiative to offer competitively priced natural gas and electricity to
customers through its unregulated retail energy-marketing subsidiary.

WGL Holdings has three operating segments that are described below:

* regulated utility;

* retail energy-marketing; and

* commercial heating, ventilating and air conditioning (HVAC) products and services.

Transactions not specifically identifiable in one of the above three segments are accumulated and reported in the
category “‘Other Activities.”’

Regulated Utility. With approximately 93 percent of the Company’s consolidated total assets, the regulated
utility segment (represented by Washington Gas and Hampshire Gas Company (Hampshire)) delivers natural gas to
retail customers in accordance with tariffs approved by the District of Columbia, Maryland and Virginia regulatory
commissions that have jurisdiction over Washington Gas’ rates. These rates are intended to provide the regulated
utility with an opportunity to earn a just and reasonable rate of return on the investment devoted to the delivery of
natural gas to customers. Washington Gas also sells natural gas to customers who have not elected to purchase natural
gas from unregulated third-party marketers. The regulated utility does not earn a profit or incur a loss when it sells
the natural gas commodity because utility customers are charged for the natural gas commodity at the same cost the
regulated utility incurs. At September 30, 2004, the regulated utility was selling and delivering the natural gas
commodity to 82 percent of its customers. The remaining 18 percent of Washington Gas’ customers utilized the
delivery services of Washington Gas for delivery of the natural gas commodity purchased from third-party marketers,
one of which is a subsidiary of Washington Gas Resources. Factors critical to the success of the regulated utility
include operating a safe, reliable natural gas distribution system, and recovering the costs and expenses of this
business in the rates it charges to customers. These costs and expenses include a just and reasonable rate of return on
invested capital as authorized by the regulatory commissions having jurisdiction over the regulated utility’s rates.
Hampshire, a wholly owned subsidiary of WGL Holdings, operates an underground natural gas storage facility that is
regulated by the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC). Washington Gas purchases all of the storage services
of Hampshire and includes the cost of these services in the bills sent to its customers. Hampshire operates under a
“pass-through’ cost of service-based tariff approved by the FERC, and adjusts its billing rates to Washington Gas on a
periodic basis to account for changes in its investment in utility plant and associated expenses.

Retail Energy-Marketing. Washington Gas Energy Services, Inc. (WGEServices), a wholly owned subsidiary
of Washington Gas Resources, competes with other unregulated third-party marketers by selling natural gas and
electricity directly to residential, commercial and industrial customers, both inside and outside of the regulated
utility’s traditional service territory. WGEServices does not own or operate any natural gas or electric generation,
transmission or distribution assets. Rather, it sells natural gas and electricity with the objective of earning a profit, and
these commodities are delivered to retail customers through the assets owned by regulated utilities such as
Washington Gas or other unaffiliated natural gas or electric utilities. Factors critical to the success of the retail energy-
marketing business are managing the market risk of the difference between the sales price committed to customers
under sales contracts and the cost of natural gas and electricity needed to satisfy these sales commitments, managing
credit risks associated with customers of and suppliers to this segment, and controlling the level of selling, general and
administrative costs, most notably customer acquisition costs.
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Commercial HVAC. Two wholly owned subsidiaries, American Combustion Industries, Inc. ACI) and
Washington Gas Energy Systems, Inc. (WGESystems), provide turnkey, design-build and renovation projects to the
commercial and government markets. As a result of a restructuring agreement on September 20, 2002 and a final
closing on October 15, 2002 between the Company and a 50-percent investor, the Company no longer has any
investment in or any financial commitment to its former residential HVAC investment.

The commercial HVAC operations focus on retrofitting a large number of aging commercial and government
structures, primarily in the District of Columbia and portions of Maryland and Virginia. Factors critical to the success
of the commercial HVAC business include generating adequate revenue from the government and private sectors in
the new construction and retrofit markets, estimating and managing fixed-price contracts and controlling selling,
general and administrative expenses.

Refer to the “Business” section under Item 1 of this report for a further discussion of the Company’s regulated
utility and unregulated businesses. For a further discussion of the Company’s financial performance by operating
segment, refer to Note 16 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Key Indicators of Financial Condition and Operating Performance

Management believes that the following are key indicators for monitoring the Company’s financial condition and
operating performance:

Return on Average Common Equity. This measure is calculated by dividing net income (applicable to
common stock) by average common shareholders’ equity. For the regulated utility, management compares the actual
return on common equity with the return on common equity that is allowed to be earned by regulators and the return
on equity that is necessary for the Company to compensate investors sufficiently and be able to continue to attract
capital.

Common Equity Ratio. This ratio is calculated by dividing total common shareholders’ equity by the sum of
caommon shareholders’ equity, preferred stock and long-term debt (including current maturities). Maintaining this ratio
in the mid-50 percent range affords the Company financial flexibility and access to long-term capital at relatively low
costs. Refer to the “Liquidity and Capital Resources—General Factors Affecting Liquidity” section of Management’s
Discussion for a discussion of the Company’s capital structure.

PRIMARY FACTORS AFFECTING WGL HOLDINGS AND WASHINGTON GAS

The following is a summary discussion of the primary factors that affect the operations and/or financial
performance of the regulated and unregulated businesses of WGL Holdings and Washington Gas. Refer to the
“Business” section under Item 1 of this report for a more detailed discussion of these and other related factors that
affect the operations and/or financial performance of WGL Holdings and Washington Gas.

Weather Conditions

The Company’s regulated utility operations are weather sensitive, with a significant portion of its revenues
derived from the delivery of natural gas to residential and commercial heating customers during the winter season.
Weather conditions directly influence the volume of natural gas delivered by the regulated utility. The regulated
utility’s rates are determined on the basis of expected normal weather conditions. As such, deviations in weather from
normal levels can affect the Company’s financial performance. Washington Gas does not have a ratemaking provision
that allows for revenues to be adjusted for the difference between actual weather conditions in a particular year and
the expected normal weather conditions that are used to establish rates. However, the regulated utility does have a
weather insurance policy designed to protect against a portion of warmer-than-normal weather (refer to “Market
Risk” included herein for a further discussion of this weather insurance policy).

The financial results of the Company’s energy-marketing subsidiary, WGEServices, also are affected by deviations
in weather from normal levels. Since WGEServices sells both natural gas and electricity, WGEServices’ financial results
may fluctuate due to deviations in weather from fiscal year to fiscal year during the winter heating and summer cooling
seasons.
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Regulatory Environment

Washington Gas is regulated by the Public Service Commission of the District of Columbia (PSC of DC), the
Public Service Commission of Maryland (PSC of MD) and the State Corporation Commission of Virginia (SCC of VA).
Hampshire is regulated by the FERC. These regulatory commissions set the rates in their respective jurisdictions that
Washington Gas can charge customers for its rate-regulated services. Changes in these rates as ordered by regulatory
commissions affect the Company’s financial performance.

Washington Gas expects that regulatory commissions will continue to set the prices and terms for delivery
service that give it an opportunity to earn a just and reasonable rate of return on the capital invested in its distribution
system and to recover reasonable operating expenses.

Gas Supply and Storage Capacity

Natural Gas Supply and Capacity Requirements. Washington Gas is responsible for acquiring both
sufficient natural gas supplies and interstate pipeline capacity to meet customer requirements. As such, Washington
Gas must contract for reliable and adequate delivery capacity to its distribution system, while considering the
dynamics of the interstate pipeline capacity market, its own on-system peaking facilities, as well as the characteristics
of its customer base.

Local distribution companies, such as Washington Gas, along with other participants in the energy industry have
raised concerns regarding the gradual depletion in the availability of additional interstate pipeline capacity. Depleting
pipeline capacity is a business issue that must be managed by Washington Gas, whose customer base has grown at an
annual rate of two to three percent. This rate of growth is expected to continue. To help maintain the adequacy of
pipeline capacity for its growing customer base, Washington Gas contracted with an interstate pipeline company to
construct additional capacity for firm transportation and storage services to Washington Gas. This pipeline construc-
tion project was completed and placed in service for the 2004-2005 winter heating season. Washington Gas will
continue to monitor other opportunities to acquire or participate in obtaining additional pipeline capacity that will
improve or maintain the high level of service expected by its customer base.

Washington Gas believes the combination of the natural gas supply it can purchase under short-term contracts, its
existing and planned peaking supplies and the capacity held under contract on the interstate pipelines is sufficient to
satisfy the needs of existing customers and allow for growth in future years. Washington Gas anticipates enhancing its
peaking capacity through the construction of a liquefied natural gas peaking facility (refer to “Liquidity and Capital
Resources—Capital Expenditures” for a further discussion of this matter).

Rising Natural Gas Prices. Recently there have been significant increases in the price of natural gas; the
price of natural gas remains volatile. Price increases have been driven by an increased demand for natural gas that is
exceeding the growth in available supply each year. Washington Gas believes that there will be sufficient supplies of
natural gas to fully meet current customers’ demand for natural gas and to grow its customer base in the future. Price
increases, however, have resulted in significant increases in the cost of natural gas billed to customers that, if
continued, could shift customers’ preference away from natural gas and towards other energy sources such as
electricity. Price increases could also make it more difficult for customers to pay their bills and thereby could increase
the regulated utility’s level of bad debt expense.

Changes in Natural Gas Consumption. Natural gas supply requirements may be affected by changes in
natural gas consumption by customers. Natural gas usage per customer may decline as customers change their
consumption patterns in response to: (¥) more volatile and higher natural gas prices, as discussed above, and (i7)
customers’ replacement of older, less efficient gas appliances with more efficient appliances. In each jurisdiction in
which Washington Gas operates, changes in customer usage profiles have been reflected in recent rate case
proceedings where rates have been adjusted to reflect current customer usage. Changes in customer usage by existing
customers that occur subsequent to these recent rate case proceedings will have the effect of reducing revenues,
which is offset by the favorable effect of adding new customers.

Competitive Environment

Competition with Otber Energy Products. The regulated utility faces competition based on customers’
preference for natural gas compared to other energy products and the comparative prices of those products. The most
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significant product competition occurs between natural gas and electricity in the residential market. The residential
market generates a significant portion of the regulated utility’s net income. In its service territory, Washington Gas
continues to attract the majority of the new residential construction market. The Company believes that consumers’
continuing preference for natural gas allows Washington Gas to maintain a strong market presence.

In the interruptible market, the regulated utility’s customers must be capable of using a fuel other than natural gas
when demand peaks for the regulated utility’s firm customers. In the interruptible market, fuel oil is the prevalent
energy alternative to natural gas. The regulated utility’s success in this market depends largely on the relationship
between natural gas and oil prices. Since the supply of natural gas primarily is derived from domestic sources, the
relationship between supply and demand generally has the greatest impact on natural gas prices. Since a large portion
of oil comes from foreign sources, political events can have significant influences on oil supplies and, accordingly, oil
prices. The anticipated introduction of non-domestic supplies of liquefied natural gas into the United States natural gas
market may affect supply levels and have an impact on natural gas prices. To date, the effect of liquefied natural gas on
supply levels has been minimal.

Deregulation and Unbundling. In each of the jurisdictions served by the Company’s regulated utility,
regulators and utilities have implemented customer choice programs. These programs provide customers with an
opportunity to choose to purchase their natural gas and/or electric commodity from third-party marketers, rather than
purchasing these commodities as part of a bundled service from the local utility. When customers choose to purchase
their natural gas commodity from third-party marketers on an unbundled basis, there is no effect on the regulated
utility’s net revenues or net income since Washington Gas charges its customers the cost of gas without any mark-up.
However, these customer choice programs provide unregulated third-party marketers, such as WGEServices, with
opportunities to profit from the sale of the natural gas commodity or electricity in competitive markets. It also enables
customers to have competitive choices for natural gas and electricity. Successfully participating in this evolving
marketplace also poses risks and challenges that must continue to be addressed in the Company’s current and future
strategies. v

Currently, the regulated utility includes the cost of the natural gas commodity and interstate pipeline services in
the purchased gas costs that it includes in firm customers’ rates, subject to regulatory review. The regulated utility’s
jurisdictional tariffs contain gas cost mechanisms that allow it to recover the invoice cost of gas, including both the
commodity cost of gas and the interstate pipeline services, applicable to firm customers. If Washington Gas were to
determine that competition or changing regulation stemming from future unbundling or other initiatives would
preclude it from recovering these costs in rates, these costs would be charged to expense without any corresponding
revenue recovery. Depending upon the timing, the effect of such a charge on Washington Gas’ financial position and
results of operations would likely be significant. In the event that a regulatory body disallows the recovery of such
costs, these costs would be borne by shareholders.

To manage this risk, Washington Gas has mechanisms in its customer choice programs that enable it to assign to
participating third-party marketers 100 percent of the storage and peak winter capacity resources that were dedicated
to serving bundled service customers when those customers elected a third-party marketer. Additionally, Washington
Gas currently has mechanisms approved by each of its local commissions to assign certain percentages of
transportation capacity resources. Washington Gas generally is renewing pipeline transportation and storage capacity
contracts to meet its forecasts of increased customer gas requirements and to comply with regulatory mechanisms to
provide for or make available such resources to marketers serving customers in the customer choice programs.

Unregulated Retail Energy-Marketing. The Company’s unregulated subsidiary, WGEServices, competes
with other third-party marketers to sell the unregulated natural gas commodity to customers. Marketers of the natural
gas commodity compete largely on price, and gross margins are relatively small. WGEServices also competes with
other third-party marketers to sell electric supply services to customers. As with natural gas, marketers of electric
supply service compete largely on price, and gross margins are relatively small. WGEServices is exposed to market
risks associated with its gas supply, as well as credit risks associated with both its gas and electric suppliers. See
“Market Risk” and “Credit Risk” included herein for a further discussion of this risk exposure and WGEServices’
management of them.
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Environmental Matters

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations related to
environmental matters. These evolving laws and regulations may require expenditures over a long timeframe to
control environmental effects. Washington Gas believes, at this time, that appropriate remediation has been or is being
undertaken at all the relevant sites. Refer to Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a further
discussion of these matters.

Industry Consolidation

In recent years, the energy industry has seen a number of consolidations, combinations, disaggregations and
strategic alliances. Consolidation will present combining entities with the challenges of remaining focused on the
customer and integrating different organizations. Others in the energy industry are discontinuing operations in certain
portions of the energy industry or divesting portions of their business and facilities.

From time to time, the Company performs studies and, in some cases, holds discussions regarding utility and
energy-related investments and strategic transactions with other companies. The ultimate effect on the Company of
any such investments and transactions that may occur cannot be determined at this time.

Economic Conditions and Interest Rates

The Company and its subsidiaries operate in one of the fastest growing regions in the nation. The continued
prosperity of this region, supported by a relatively low interest-rate environment for new housing, has allowed the
Company’s regulated utility to expand its regulated delivery service customer base at a rate of growth well over twice
the national industry average during the past five years. In addition, this economy has provided a robust market for the
Company’s subsidiaries to market natural gas, electricity and other energy-related products and services. A downturn
in the economy of the region in which the Company operates, or a significant increase in interest rates which cannot
be predicted with accuracy, might adversely affect the Company’s ability to grow its regulated utility customer base
and other businesses at the same rate they have grown in the past.

The Company has been operating in a relatively low interest-rate environment in the recent past as it relates to
short- and long-term debt financings. A rise in interest rates without the recognition of the higher cost of debt in the
rates charged by the regulated utility to its customers would adversely affect future earnings. A rise in short-term
interest rates would negatively affect the results of operations of the Company’s retail energy-marketing segment
which depends on short-term debt to finance its accounts receivable and storage gas inventories.

Inflation/Deflation

From time to time, the Company’s regulated utility seeks approval for rate increases from regulatory commissions
to help it manage the effects of inflation on its capital investment and returns. The most significant impact of inflation
is on the regulated utility’s replacement cost of plant and equipment. While the regulatory commissions, having
jurisdiction over the regulated utility’s retail rates, allow depreciation only on the basis of historical cost to be
recovered in rates, the Company anticipates that its regulated utility should be allowed to recover the increased costs
of its investment and earn a return thereon, after replacement of the facilities occurs.

To the extent the Company’s regulated utility experiences a sustained deflationary economic environment, actual
returns on invested capital could rise and exceed returns allowed by regulators in previous regulatory proceedings. If
this were to occur, it could prompt the initiation of a regulatory review to reduce the revenue of the regulated utility.

Labor Contracts, Including Labor and Benefit Costs

The Company has five labor contracts with three labor unions. Teamsters Local Union No. 96 (Local 96), AFL-CIO,
is a local union affiliated with the International Brotherhood of Teamsters. On June 1, 2004, Local 96 signed a new
three-year labor contract with Washington Gas, replacing its previous labor contract that expired on May 31, 2004. The
contract covers approximately 700 employees. The provisions of the new labor contract include general wage
increases of 3.5 percent per year on June 2, 2004, June 1, 2005 and June 1, 2006. Additionally, the contract contains a
provision that Washington Gas will not lay off any full-time, Local 96-¢ligible employee who was employed by
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Washington Gas on the date of contract ratification. Increases in contributions by employees for medical and
prescription drug benefit co-pays are also included in the labor contract.

On July 30, 2004, Local 96, representing union-eligible employees in the Shenandoah Gas division, signed a three-
year labor contract with Washington Gas. This contract covers 23 employees. The contract with the Office and
Professional Employees International Union Local 2 is a three-year contract that began on April 1, 2003, and it
currently covers approximately 340 members. Additionally, the Company has two three-year labor contracts with the
International Brotherhood of Electrical Workers Local 1900 that together cover approximately 32 employees.

Potential Changes in Accounting Principles

The Company cannot predict the effect of potential future changes in accounting regulations or practices in
general on its operating results and financial condition. New accounting standards could be issued by the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) or the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) that could change the way the
Company records and recognizes revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities. These changes in accounting standards
could affect the Company’s reported earnings or increase its liabilities.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in compliance with Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles in the United States of America (GAAP) requires the selection and the application of appropriate technical
accounting rules to the relevant facts and circumstances of the Company’s operations, as well as the use of estimates
by management to compile the consolidated financial statements. The application of these accounting policies
involves judgment regarding estimates and projected outcomes of future events, including the likelihood of success of
particular regulatory initiatives, the likelihood of realizing estimates for legal and environmental contingencies, and the
probability of recovering costs and investments in both the regulated utility and non-utility operations.

The Company has identified five critical accounting policies discussed below that require management’s
judgment and estimation, where such estimates have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Accounting for Utility Revenue and Cost of Gas Recognition

For regulated deliveries of natural gas, Washington Gas reads meters and bills customers on a cycle basis. It
accrues revenues for gas that has been delivered but not yet billed at the end of an accounting period. Such revenues
are recognized as unbilled revenues that are adjusted in subsequent periods when actual meter readings are taken.

The regulated utility’s jurisdictional tariffs contain mechanisms that provide for the recovery of the invoice cost of
gas applicable to firm customers. Under these mechanisms, the regulated utility periodically adjusts its firm customers’
rates to reflect increases and decreases in the invoice cost of gas. Annually, the regulated utility reconciles the
difference between the total gas costs collected from firm customers and the invoice cost of gas. The regulated utility
defers any excess or deficiency and either recovers it from, or refunds it to, customers over a subsequent twelve-
month period.

Accounting for Regulatory Operations—Regulatory Assets and Liabilities

A significant portion of the Company’s business is subject to regulation. As the regulated utility industry continues
to address competitive market issues, the cost-of-service regulation used to compensate the Company’s regulated
utility for the cost of its regulated operations will continue to evolve. Non-traditional ratemaking initiatives and market-
based pricing of products and services could have additional long-term financial implications for the Company.
Management has relied on its projection of continued regulatory oversight of its operations in order to validate the
carrying cost of the regulated utility’s investment in fixed assets.

Washington Gas accounts for its regulated activities in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 71, Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation, which results in differences in the
application of GAAP between regulated and non-regulated businesses. SFAS No. 71 requires the recording of regulatory
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assets and liabilities for certain transactions that would have been treated as revenue and expense in unregulated
businesses. In certain circumstances, SFAS No. 71 allows entities whose rates are determined by third-party regulators
to defer costs as “‘regulatory’’ assets on the balance sheet to the extent that the entity expects to recover these costs in
future rates. Future regulatory changes or changes in the competitive environment could result in the Company and
Washington Gas discontinuing the application of SFAS No. 71 for some of its businesses and require the write-off of the
portion of any regulatory asset or liability that would be no longer probable of recovery or refund. In effect, the
Company’s regulated utility could be required to write off certain regulatory assets that had been deferred on the
Consolidated Balance Sheets in prior periods, and charge these costs to expense at the time it determines that the
provisions of SFAS No. 71 no longer apply. If WGL Holdings or Washington Gas were required to discontinue the
application of SFAS No. 71 for any of its operations, it would record an extraordinary non-cash charge to income for
the net book value of its regulatory assets and liabilities. Other adjustments might also be required.

Management believes that currently available facts support the continued application of SFAS No. 71 for the
Company’s regulatory activities, and that all of its regulatory assets and liabilities as of September 30, 2004 and 2003
are recoverable or refundable through the regulatory environment.

Accounting for Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Under
SFAS No. 109, the Company recognizes deferred income taxes for all temporary differences between the financial
statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities at currently enacted income tax rates.

SFAS No. 109 also requires recognition of the additional deferred income tax assets and liabilities for temporary
differences where regulators prohibit deferred income tax treatment for ratemaking purposes of the regulated utility.
Regulatory assets or liabilities corresponding to such additional deferred tax assets or liabilities may be recorded to the
extent the Company believes they will be recoverable from or payable to customers through the ratemaking process.
Amounts applicable to income taxes due from and due to customers primarily represent differences between the book
and tax basis of net utility plant in service. Any significant differences between management’s estimates and actual tax
amounts could have a material impact on the Company’s operating results and financial condition.

Accounting for Contingencies

The Company recognizes contingent liabilities utilizing SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies. By their
nature, the amount of the contingency and the timing of a contingent event are subject to management’s judgment of
such events and management’s estimates of the amounts. Actual results related to contingencies may be difficult to
predict and could differ significantly from the estimates included in reported earnings. In fiscal vears 2004 and 2003,
the Company was involved with regulatory contingencies with respect to pending rate cases in Virginia.

Under the regulations of the SCC of VA, Washington Gas placed a proposed revenue increase into effect
November 12, 2002, subject to refund pending the SCC of VA’s final decision on a rate case proceeding. Washington
Gas’ financial results for fiscal year 2003 reflected the proposed revenue increase, along with a provision for rate
refunds to customers based on the difference between the amount Washington Gas had collected in rates subject to
refund during fiscal year 2003 and the estimated amount management expected to recover based on the final outcome
of the rate case proceeding. On December 18, 2003, a Final Order was issued by the SCC of VA which approved an
increase in rates that approximated the amount that management had estimated would be derived from this case.
Refunds to customers, with interest, were made pursuant to the Final Order during the quarter ended March 31, 2004.
The difference between the amount refunded to customers and the amount of the provision for rate refunds
previously recorded by Washington Gas was not material. Accordingly, this refund had no material effect on earnings
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004.

On February 26, 2004, Washington Gas placed a proposed revenue increase into effect, subject to refund,
pending the SCC of VA’s final decision on an expedited rate case proceeding. On September 27, 2004, the SCC of VA
issued a Final Order requiring the Company to adjust its billing rates to Virginia customers to reflect the level of annual
revenues approved pursuant to the December 18, 2003 Final Order of the SCC of VA. Refunds to customers, with
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interest, are being made in the December 2004 billing cycle for the amount of the proposed annual revenue increase
that had been collected since February 26, 2004. The Company’s financial results for the nine months ended June 30,
2004 reflected the proposed revenue increase, along with a provision for rate refunds to customers based on
management’s judgment at that time. In response to the September 27, 2004 Final Order, Washington Gas increased its
provision for rate refunds in the quarter ended September 30, 2004 to the full amount of revenues that had been
collected subject to refund through September 30, 2004. The increased provision eliminated the revenue increase of
$2.2 million (pre-tax) that was previously included in net income for the nine months ended June 30, 2004. After the
additional provision for rate refunds was recorded in the quarter ended September 30, 2004, there was no effect on
fiscal year 2004, nor will there be any effect on fiscal year 2005 earnings for the rates put into effect subject to refund
in February 2004.

In the December 18, 2003 Final Order, the SCC of VA further ordered that an annual earnings test be performed
to determine if Washington Gas has earned in excess of its allowed rate of return on common equity for its Virginia
operations. During fiscal year ended September 30, 2004, Washington Gas recorded additional depreciation expense
of $1.0 million in connection with earnings tests performed. The amount recorded could change if the VA Staff differs
with management’s calculations or methodology.

For further discussion of these regulatory activities and related contingencies, see Note 14 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Accounting for Derivative Instruments

The Company enters into forward contracts and other related transactions for the purchase of natural gas. A
majority of these contracts qualify as normal purchases and sales, and are exempt from the accounting requirements of
SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended. Contracts that qualify as
derivative instruments under SFAS No. 133 are recorded on the balance sheet at fair value. Changes in the fair value of
derivative instruments subject to SFAS No. 71 are recorded as regulatory assets or liabilities, as discussed below, while
changes in the fair value of derivative instruments not affected by rate regulation are reflected in income. Washington
Gas also utilizes derivative instruments that are designed to minimize interest-rate risk associated with planned
issuances of Medium-Term Notes (MTNs).

Management’s judgment is required in determining the appropriate accounting treatment for Washington Gas’
derivative instruments. This judgment involves various factors, including management’s ability to: (7) designate
contracts and other activities as derivative instruments subject to the accounting guidelines of SFAS No. 133,
(i1) derive the estimated fair value of its derivative instruments from period to period based on prices available from
external sources and internal modeling techniques and (#i7) determine whether or not its derivative instruments are
recoverable from or refundable to customers in future periods.

Certain of the Company’s natural gas forward contracts subject to SFAS No. 133 are valued using models
developed by the Company. These models reflect, when appropriate, derivative pricing theory, formulated market
inputs and forward price projections beyond the period that prices are available from market data sources. The fair
value derived for these contracts reflects management’s best estimate.

As previously discussed, changes in the fair value of forward contracts and other related transactions that qualify
as derivative instruments under SFAS No. 133 and subject to SFAS No. 71 are recorded as regulatory assets or liabilities
since they relate to activities of the regulated utility whose costs are likely to be recovered from or refunded to
customers in future periods. Accordingly, changes in their fair value are recorded as regulatory assets or liabilities.
Should management determine that certain of its derivative instruments are not recoverable or refundable to
customers, Washington Gas’ financial results may be subject to increased volatility from period to period due to
potentially significant changes in the estimated fair value of derivative instruments that may occur and be recorded to
either other comprehensive income (loss) or net income.
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WGL HOLDINGS, INC.
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Summary Results

WGL Holdings reported net income of $96.6 million, or $1.98 per share, for the fiscal year ended September 30,
2004, as compared to net income of $112.3 million, or $2.30 per share, and $39.1 million, or $0.80 per share, for the
fiscal years ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The Company earned returns of 11.6 percent,
14.2 percent and 5.0 percent, respectively, on average common equity during each of these three fiscal years.

The operating results of the Company’s core regulated utility operations are the primary influence on overall
consolidated operating results. Weather for fiscal year 2004, when measured by an industry standard called heating
degree days, was 6.1 percent colder than normal, and was estimated to have improved net income in fiscal year 2004
in relation to normal weather by $10 million, or $0.20 per share. During fiscal year 2003, weather was 19.8 percent
colder than normal, contributing an estimated $25 million, or $0.51 per share, to net income for that year. Earnings
comparisons between the current and prior fiscal year also reflect continued customer growth and the impact of
favorable rate decisions, which together increased net income by an estimated $0.22 per share. Earnings from the
Company’s major non-utility operations improved slightly, with the Company’s retail energy-marketing segment
increasing its net income over the prior fiscal year by $4.5 million to $8.3 million. This improvement was mostly offset
by a $4.2 million increased net loss incurred by the Company’s commercial HVAC segment, in which its net loss
increased from $1.2 million in fiscal year 2003 to $5.4 million in fiscal year 2004. Operating results for fiscal year 2004
also reflect increased utility operation and maintenance expenses and higher depreciation and amortization expense.

Earnings comparisons between fiscal years 2004 and 2003 also reflect the following transactions related to the
Company’s utility and non-utility segments. Fiscal year 2004 included: (?) an after-tax gain of $5.8 million, or $0.12 per
share, from the sale of two buildings by a third party in a commercial development project in which the Company held
a carried interest accounted for under the equity method (Maritime sale), (74) the recognition of additional
depreciation expense of $3.5 million (pre-tax), or $0.04 per share, which related to a prior period and was recorded in
connection with a Virginia rate order, and (7)) a charge of $1.5 million, or $0.03 per share, for an impairment of
goodwill related to the Company’s investment in its HVAC business. Fiscal year 2003 included: (i) an after-tax gain of
$2.5 million, or $0.05 per share, from the sale of the Company’s former headquarters property, (77) an after-tax gain of
$926,000, or $0.02 per share, from the sale of a real estate partnership interest, (7i7) a favorable income tax adjustment
of $2.7 million, or $0.06 per share, and (7v) a reduction in income taxes of $2.1 million, or $0.04 per share, resulting
from the utilization of capital loss carryforwards associated with the Company’s non-utility activities.

Net income for fiscal year 2003 of $112.3 million, or $2.30 per share, more than doubled the Company’s net
income reported for fiscal year 2002. The significant earnings improvement for fiscal year 2003 was attributable
primarily to 37.7 percent colder weather as compared to fiscal year 2002, as well as customer growth, the favorable
impact of new retail rates in Maryland and Virginia and a new rate design in the District of Columbia. The Company’s
non-utility operations also contributed to the favorable earnings comparison for fiscal year 2003, primarily due to after-
tax charges included in fiscal year 2002 totaling $18.0 million, or $0.37 per share, associated with the Company’s
former co-investment in a residential HVAC business and a consumer finance business that is no longer making new
loans. Additionally, fiscal year 2003 benefited from after-tax gains from asset sales and favorable tax adjustments, as
mentioned above.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s net income (loss) by operating segment for fiscal years ended
September 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

Net Income (Loss) by Operating Segment

Years Ended September 30,

n thousands) 2004 2003 2002
Regulated utility $88,951 $ 109,036 $51,721
Non-utility operations:
Retail energy-marketing 8,280 3,745 4,967
HVAC:
Commercial (5,396) (1,184) 3,984
Residential —operating loss - - (3,510)
Residential—impairment - - (9,431
Total major non-utility 2,884 2,561 (3,990)
Other, principally non-utility activities 4,802 745 (8,610
Total non-utility 7,686 3,306 (12,600)
Net income $96,637 $112,342 $39,121

Regulated Utility Operating Results

The Company’s utility operations are weather sensitive, with a significant portion of revenue coming from
deliveries of natural gas to residential and commercial heating customers. For the fiscal year ended September 30,
2004, the regulated utility segment reported net income of $89.0 million, or $1.82 per share, compared to net income
of $109.0 million, or $2.24 per share, for fiscal year 2003. This comparison reflects a decrease in total gas deliveries to
firm customers of 74.6 million therms, or 5.4 percent, to 1.311 billion therms delivered during fiscal year 2004,
primarily due to warmer weather in the current fiscal year than in fiscal year 2003, partially mitigated by increased
customers. Weather was 11.6 percent warmer in the current fiscal year than in the prior fiscal year.

Fiscal year 2004 earnings of the regulated utility segment benefited from the addition of 30,140 active customer
meters, an increase of 3.1 percent. Further contributing to earnings for the current fiscal year was the impact of rate
changes that were implemented in Maryland on November 6, 2003, in the District of Columbia on November 24,
2003, and the effect of approximately one and one-half months of the rate decision that became effective in Virginia in
November 2002.

As discussed earlier in “Critical Accounting Policies—Accounting for Contingencies,” a Virginia rate increase also
went into effect on February 26, 2004, subject to refund, pending a final decision by the SCC of VA on an expedited
rate case application that Washington Gas filed on January 27, 2004. The SCC of VA issued a Final Order on
September 27, 2004 approving a proposed Stipulation filed by Washington Gas and other participants to resolve all
issues related to the expedited rate case. The Stipulation resulted in no change to the level of revenues that the
Company had previously been allowed to collect. A provision for rate refunds was recorded at September 30, 2004
equivalent to the revenues that the Company had collected in fiscal year 2004, subject to refund. Accordingly, there
was no effect of this rate case on earnings in fiscal year 2004.

Fiscal year 2004 earnings for the regulated utility segment also reflect $10.5 million of increased operation and
maintenance expenses. The increase in these expenses reflects, among other things, an accrual of $2.4 million for
operational expenses recorded in the current fiscal year for which the Company ultimately may be partially or fully
reimbursed; the potential reimbursement was not accrued as a receivable as of September 30, 2004. Additionally, this
increase reflects increased costs associated with employee benefits, employee severance, information technology
improvements and other miscellaneous items. Partially offsetting these increases were lower uncollectible accounts
expense, and $2.7 million of lower costs associated with postretirement benefits other than pensions as a result of a
law enacted in December 2003 that entitles the Company to a federal subsidy for sponsoring a retiree health care
benefit plan with a prescription drug benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to the benefit to be provided under
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Medicare. The effect of this subsidy was applied retroactively to January 1, 2004 in accordance with new accounting
guidelines issued in May 2004 by the FASB (refer to Notes 1 and 11 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
for a further discussion of the accounting for the Medicare subsidy). Further discussion of operation and maintenance
expenses of the regulated utility is included herein under Management’s Discussion for Washington Gas.

The regulated utility segment also incurred $8.0 million of higher depreciation and amortization expense for fiscal
year 2004 when compared to 2003. This higher expense was attributable to increased plant investment, as well as the
effect of the December 18, 2003 Final Order issued by the SCC of VA. In connection with the Final Order, the
Company recorded additional depreciation expense of $3.5 million (pre-tax), or $0.04 per share, to implement higher
depreciation rates applicable to the period from January 1, 2002 through November 11, 2002. Additionally, the
Company recorded $1.0 million of additional depreciation expense in fiscal year 2004 related to the performance of
earnings tests as required by the Final Order in Virginia (refer to Note 14 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements for a further discussion of the Company’s regulatory activities and related contingencies).

In fiscal year 2003, the regulated utility segment reported net income of $109.0 million, or $2.24 per share, an
increase of $57.3 million, or $1.18 per share, over fiscal year 2002. This significant increase primarily reflects a
31.9 percent increase in total gas deliveries to firm customers that grew to 1.385 billion therms during fiscal year 2003
due to colder weather, as well as the addition of 20,631 active customer meters during the 2003 fiscal year. Weather
for fiscal year 2003 was 37.7 percent colder than fiscal year 2002. Weather was 19.8 percent colder than normal in
fiscal year 2003. This compared to 13.4 percent warmer-than-normal weather for fiscal year 2002 which reduced net
income in that year by an estimated $19 million, or $0.39 per share (after considering an $8.7 million, or $0.18 per
share, benefit derived from a weather insurance policy). Increased earnings for the utility segment in fiscal year 2003
also was attributable to new retail rates put into effect in Maryland on September 30, 2002 and in Virginia on
November 12, 2002, as well as the impact of a new rate design in the District of Columbia that enabled a greater
recovery of fixed charges in the summer months beginning in fiscal year 2003, despite an annual revenue reduction
enacted by the PSC of DC that became effective in April 2003. Tempering these earnings improvements were
$11.2 million of increased operation and maintenance expenses and $10.6 million of increased depreciation and
amortization expense.

Earnings comparisons for the utility segment for fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002 also were affected by an after-
tax gain realized in fiscal year 2003 of $2.5 million, or $0.05 per share, as reflected in “Other income (expense)—net”,
from the sale of the Company’s former headquarters property, and an adjustment to income taxes that improved net
income in fiscal year 2003 by $2.7 million, or $0.06 per share. Fiscal year 2002 also included a loss of $1.7 million, or
$0.04 per share, associated with a transaction with a bankrupt energy trader.

Further discussion of the operating results of the regulated utility is included herein in the Management’s
Discussion for Washington Gas.

Non-Utility Operating Results

The Company’s non-utility operations are comprised of two business segments: 1) retail energy-marketing and
2) commercial HVAC. Certain of the Company’s transactions are not significant enough to report as stand-alone
business segments, and therefore are aggregated as “Other Activities” which are included as part of non-utility
operations for purposes of segment reporting (refer to Note 16 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).

Total net income for the Company’s non-utility operations for fiscal year 2004 was $7.7 million, or $0.16 per
share, an improvement of $4.4 million, or $0.10 per share, over fiscal year 2003. Earnings for the current fiscal year
were favorably affected by the realization in fiscal year 2004 of an aftertax gain of $5.8 million, or $0.12 per share,
from the Maritime sale. In fiscal year 2003, the Company realized an after-tax gain of $926,000, or $0.02 per share,
from the sale of a real estate partnership interest, and benefited from a favorable adjustment to income taxes of
$2.1 million, or $0.04 per share, resulting from the utilization of capital loss carryforwards. With respect to the
Company’s two non-utility business segments, the retail energy-marketing segment contributed $4.5 million, or $0.09
per share, to the year-over-year improvement in earnings from non-utility operations, offset by a $4.2 million, or $0.08
per share, increased net loss incurred by the commercial HVAC segment.
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Non-utility operations reported net income of $3.3 million, or $0.06 per share, for fiscal year ended September 30,
2003, as compared to a net loss of $12.6 million, or $0.26 per share, for fiscal year 2002. This significant improvement
of $15.9 million, or $0.32 per share, was primarily attributable to after-tax charges totaling $18.0 million, or $0.37 per
share, that were recorded in fiscal year 2002 for which there were not similar charges recorded in fiscal year 2003.
These charges included a $3.5 million, or $0.07 per share, after-tax operating loss and a $9.4 million, or $0.19 per
share, after-tax impairment provision associated with the Company’s former 50-percent equity investment in Primary
Investors, a residential HVAC business. Additionally included in fiscal year 2002 was a $5.1 million, or $0.11 per share,
after-tax loan loss provision associated with a consumer finance business, which has stopped accepting new loans.

The following table depicts the composition of the changes in revenues for the non-utility business segments.

Composition of Non-Utility Revenue Changes

Increase/(Decrease)
Compared to Prior Year
n millions) 2004 2003
Retail energy-marketing $63.6 $130.4
Commercial HVAC $(5.4) $(26.49)

Retail Energy-Marketing. The Company’s retail energy-marketing subsidiary, WGEServices, was established
in 1997, and sells natural gas and electricity on an unregulated, competitive basis directly to residential, commercial
and industrial customers.

Revenues for this segment have grown over the past three years. Retail energy-marketing revenues were
$789.9 million, $726.2 million, and $595.9 million for fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. WGEServices’ gas
sales volumes totaled 71.7 billion cubic feet (b¢f) in fiscal year 2004, compared to 71.1 bef and 61.0 bef in fiscal years
2003 and 2002, respectively. The retail energy-marketing segment had approximately 150,800, 153,400 and 155,000
natural gas customers at September 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. WGEServices sold 6.7 billion kilowatt
hours (kwh) of electricity in fiscal year 2004, compared to 7.5 billion kwh and 6.5 billion kwh in fiscal years 2003 and
2002, respectively. Electricity was provided to approximately 44,500 customers at September 30, 2004, compared to
76,000 and 66,000 customers at September 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The retail energy-marketing segment reported record net income of $8.3 million, or $0.17 per share, for fiscal
year 2004, more than double its net income for fiscal year 2003. This segment’s year-over-year improvement of $4.5
million, or $0.09 per share, reflects higher gross margins from the sale of natural gas, partially offset by lower gross
margins from the sale of electricity. Natural gas sales volumes increased by less than one percent over fiscal year 2003,
however gross margins per therm sold increased 52 percent. Gross margins from natural gas sales were reduced in
fiscal year 2003 in comparison to fiscal year 2002 due to the colder-than-normal weather experienced during the 2002-
2003 winter heating season that resulted in the need to make additional purchases of natural gas at higher prices in the
spot market in order to meet commitments to customers. During fiscal year 2004, WGEServices earned higher-than-
historical gross margins on its natural gas sales, reflecting additional business that was secured in the form of large
government and commercial customers. Additionally, the current fiscal year reflects the full-scale operation of a
regional liquefied natural gas importation facility that introduced large volumes of gas into the local market, putting
downward pressure on WGEServices’ gas supply costs.

Lower gross margins from electric sales for the current fiscal year resulted from an 11.8 percent decline in
kilowatt-hours sold due to a reduction in the number of lower-margin residential customers served based on Company
decisions not to renew certain contracts. Lower gross margins also reflect a reduction in commercial customers as
competition for large commercial customers intensified and as rising energy prices encouraged some electric
customers to return to below-market standard offer service provided by the incumbent electric utility. Looking ahead,
in the near-term, future opportunities to add new electric customers may be limited. New Standard Offer Service
(SOS) rates that went into effect in July 2004 for Maryland electric utilities are below current market prices. These
electric utilities entered into contracts to supply their SOS customers with electricity in February 2004, prior to a large
surge in fuel prices. In the long-term, however, SOS rates in Maryland, and soon in the District of Columbia, will be
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reset to market rates through annual procurements, and thereby are expected to offer continuing opportunities to
build the electric customer base.

Given the higher-than-historical gross margins on natural gas sales earned in fiscal year 2004 that may not be
repeated in fiscal year 2005, coupled with the uncertainties regarding the short-term outlook for electric sales, the
Company does not foresee a continuation of the same level of profitability from the retail energy-marketing segment in
fiscal year 2005 as was experienced in fiscal year 2004.

Net income for the retail energy-marketing segment was $3.7 million for fiscal year 2003, or $0.08 per share, as
compared to net income of $5.0 million, or $0.10 per share, for fiscal year 2002. The decline in fiscal year 2003 was
largely caused by a rapid rise in natural gas prices that occurred in late February and early March of fiscal year 2003
that was more extreme than the planning parameters prescribed in the Company’s risk management policy.
Consequently, the colder-than-normal weather experienced in fiscal year 2003 resulted in the need to make additional
purchases of natural gas in the spot market at a cost above its retail selling price to meet its commitments to
customers, thereby reducing gross margins. Gross margins from electricity sales increased due to a 16 percent increase
in volumes sold, and a 29 percent higher gross margin per kilowatt-hour.

Commercial HVAC. Two subsidiaries, ACI and WGESystems, offer large-scale HVAC installations and related
services to commercial and government customers. These subsidiaries comprise the Company’s commercial HVAC
segment.

Revenues for the commercial HVAC segment were $30.1 million for fiscal year 2004, as compared to $35.5 million
and $61.9 million for fiscal years 2003 and 2002, respectively. This comparison reflects the reduction in work
performed on behalf of one major customer, the Federal Government, as well as an overall decrease in business
activity. In fiscal year 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company generated revenues of approximately 44 percent, 45 percent
and 79 percent, respectively, from the Federal Government. For fiscal year 2004, this segment incurred a net loss of
$5.4 million, or $0.11 per share, as compared to a net loss of $1.2 million, or $0.03 per share, in fiscal year 2003 and
net income of $4.0 million, or $0.08 per share, in fiscal year 2002. These comparisons primarily reflect reduced
revenues, lower gross margins and, in fiscal year 2004, the recognition of a charge of $1.5 million, or $0.03 per share,
for the impairment of goodwill related to the Company’s investment in this business.

Other Non-Utility Activities. As previously discussed, some of the Company’s transactions are not significant
enough on a stand-alone basis to warrant treatment as a business segment. For purposes of segment reporting, these
transactions are aggregated as “Other Activities” and included as part of non-utility operations (see Note 16 of the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).

Results for other non-utility activities of the Company for fiscal year 2004 reflect a $4.1 million improvement in
net income over fiscal year 2003, primarily due to the inclusion in the current fiscal year of the after-tax earnings of
$5.8 million, or $0.12 per share, realized from the Maritime sale. In fiscal year 2003, the Company realized an after-tax
gain of $926,000, or $0.02 per share, from the sale of a real estate partnership interest, and benefited from a favorable
adjustment to income taxes of $2.1 million, or $0.04 per share, resulting from the utilization of capital loss
carryforwards.

Operating results from other non-utility activities for fiscal year 2003 improved $9.4 million, or $0.19 per share,
over fiscal year 2002 due primarily to a $5.1 million, or $0.11 per share, loan loss provision recorded in fiscal year 2002
associated with a consumer finance business that has stopped accepting new loans. Favorably affecting fiscal year
2003 results were the after-tax gain of $926,000, or $0.02 per share from the sale of the real estate partnership, and
the favorable tax adjustment of $2.1 million, or $0.04 per share.

Other Income (Expenses)—Net

Other income (expenses)—net improved by $2.4 million in fiscal year 2004 over fiscal year 2003. The
improvement in income was attributable primarily to the after-tax earnings of $5.8 million realized in the current fiscal
vear from the Maritime sale, and increased interest income earned on higher short-term investment balances, partially
offset by other charges. In fiscal year 2003, the Company realized after-tax gains of $2.5 million from the sale of its
headquarters property and $926,000 from the sale of a real estate partnership interest.
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Other income (expense)—net improved by $450,000 in fiscal year 2003 over fiscal year 2002, This improvement
was primarily the result of after-tax gains of $2.5 million and $926,000 realized from the real estate sales, as discussed
above. The favorable comparison over fiscal year 2002 was also attributable to the inclusion in 2002 of $3.9 million of
aftertax expenses related to uncollectible accounts, as well as an aftertax loss of $1.7 million associated with a
transaction with a bankrupt energy trader. Substantially all of these improvements were offset by $8.7 million of after-
tax benefits recorded in fiscal year 2002 for the proceeds from a weather insurance policy. There were no weather
insurance proceeds recorded in fiscal years 2003 and 2004.

Interest Expense

Interest expense incurred by WGL Holdings and its subsidiaries of $44.1 million for the year ended September 30,
2004 decreased $2.2 million from fiscal year 2003, and increased $504,000 in fiscal year 2003 over 2002. MTNs, that
comprise substantially all of the Company’s long-term debt, had a weighted average cost of 6.46 percent, 6.58 percent
and 6.70 percent at September 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The following table shows the components of
the changes in interest expense between years.

Composition of Interest Expense Changes

Increase/(Decrease)
Compared to Prior Year
In millions) 2004 2003
Long-term debt $ (2.0) $0.7
Short-term debt 0.3 0.7
Other (Includes AFUDC*) 0.5) 0.5
Total S (2.2) $0.5

* Represents Allowance for Funds Used During Construction.

~

The $2.2 million decrease in WGL Holdings’ interest expense for fiscal year 2004 is due primarily to reduced
interest costs on long-term debt, reflecting a decrease in the average balance of long-term debt outstanding, coupled
with a decrease in the weighted average cost of these borrowings.

The increase in interest expense for fiscal year 2003 compared to 2002 primarily stems from increased interest
costs on long-term debt due to an increase in the average balance of long-term debt outstanding, partially offset by a
decrease in the weighted average cost of these borrowings. Reduced interest costs related to short-term borrowings
for fiscal year 2003 when compared to 2002 reflects a decrease in the average balance outstanding, combined with a
decrease in the weighted average cost of short-term debt.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
General Factors Affecting Liquidity

It is important for the Company to have access to short-term debt markets to maintain satisfactory liquidity to
operate its businesses on a near-term basis. Acquisition of natural gas, electricity, pipeline capacity, and the need to
finance accounts receivable are the most significant short-term financing requirements of the Company. The need for
long-term capital is driven primarily by capital expenditures and maturities of long-term debt.

Significant swings can take place in the level of shortterm debt required by the Company due primarily to
changes in the price and volume of natural gas and electricity purchased to satisfy customer demand, and also due to
seasonal cash collections on accounts receivable. Backup financing to the Company’s commercial paper program in
the form of revolving credit agreements enables the Company to maintain access to short-term debt markets. The
ability of the Company to obtain such financing depends on its credit ratings, which are greatly affected by the
Company’s financial performance and the liquidity of financial markets. Also potentially affecting access to short-term
debt capital is the nature of any restrictions that might be placed upon the Company such as ratings triggers or a
requirement to provide creditors with additional credit support in the event of a determination of insufficient
creditworthiness.
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The ability to procure sufficient levels of long-term capital at reasonable costs is determined by the level of the
Company’s capital expenditure requirements, its financial performance, and the effect of these factors on its credit
ratings and investment alternatives available to investors.

The Company has a goal to maintain its common equity ratio in the mid-50 percent range of total consolidated
capital. In addition, the Company typically reduces short-term debt balances in the spring because a significant portion
of the Company’s current assets is converted into cash at the end of the winter heating season. Accomplishing these
capital structure objectives and maintaining sufficient cash flow are necessary to maintain attractive credit ratings for
the Company and Washington Gas, and to allow access to capital at reasonable costs. As of September 30, 2004, total
consolidated capitalization, including current maturities of long-term debt and excluding notes payable, comprised
55.7 percent common equity, 1.8 percent preferred stock and 42.5 percent long-term debt. The cash flow
requirements of the Company and the ability to provide satisfactory resources to satisfy those requirements are
primarily influenced by the activities of Washington Gas and to a lesser extent the non-utility operations.

The Company believes it has sufficient liquidity to satisfy its financial obligations. At September 30, 2004, the
Company did not have any restrictions on its cash balances that would affect the payment of common or preferred
stock dividends by WGL Holdings or Washington Gas.

Short-Term Cash Requirements and Related Financing

The regulated utility’s business is weather sensitive and seasonal, causing short-term cash requirements to vary
significantly during the year. Over 75 percent of the total therms delivered in the regulated utility’s service area
(excluding deliveries to two electric generation facilities) occur during the first and second fiscal quarters. Cash
requirements peak in the fall and winter months when accounts receivable, accrued utility revenues and storage gas
inventories are at their highest levels. After the winter heating season, many of these assets are converted into cash,
which the Company generally uses to reduce and sometimes eliminate short-term debt and acquire storage gas for the
next heating season.

The Company’s retail energy-marketing subsidiary, WGEServices, has seasonal short-term cash requirements
resulting from its need to purchase storage gas inventory in advance of the period in which the storage gas is sold. In
addition, WGEServices must continually pay its suppliers of natural gas and electricity before it collects its accounts
receivable balances resulting from these sales.

Both the regulated utility and the retail energy-marketing segment maintain storage gas inventory. WGEServices
maintains storage gas inventory that is assigned to it by natural gas utilities such as Washington Gas. Storage gas
inventories represent gas purchased from producers and stored in facilities primarily owned by interstate pipelines.
The regulated utility and retail energy-marketing subsidiary generally pay for storage gas between heating seasons and
withdraw it during the heating season. Significant variations in storage gas balances between years are possible, and
are usually caused by the price paid to producers and marketers, which is a function of short-term market fluctuations
in gas costs. For the regulated utility, such costs become a component of the cost of gas recovered from customers
when volumes are withdrawn from storage. In addition, the regulated utility is able to specifically earn and recover its
pre-tax cost of capital related to the varying level of the storage gas inventory balance it carries in each of the three
jurisdictions in which it operates.

Variations in the timing of collections of gas costs under the regulated utility’s gas cost recovery mechanisms and
the level of refunds from pipeline companies that will be returned to customers can significantly affect short-term cash
requirements. At September 30, 2004, the regulated utility had a $3.7 million net over-collection of gas costs compared
to a $3.8 million under-collection at September 30, 2003. The change from the prior year was primarily due to the
collection of the balance at September 30, 2003 during fiscal year 2004, coupled with an excess of gas costs recovered
from customers over gas costs paid to suppliers. Washington Gas reflects the amounts under-collected and over-
collected in the captions “Gas costs due from customers’” and ‘“Gas costs due to customers,” respectively, in its
Balance Sheets. Most of the current balance will be collected from, or returned to customers, in fiscal year 2005. At
September 30, 2004 and 2003, refunds received from pipelines and to be returned to the regulated utility’s customers
were not material.
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The Company and Washington Gas utilize short-term debt in the form of commercial paper or unsecured short-
term bank loans to fund seasonal requirements. The Company’s policy is to maintain back-up bank credit facilities in
an amount equal to or greater than its expected maximum commercial paper position. Effective April 28, 2004,
Washington Gas and WGL Holdings entered into new credit agreements with a group of banks in the amount of
$175 million each for Washington Gas and WGL Holdings. The credit facility for Washington Gas expires on April 28,
2009, and permits the regulated utility to request until April 28, 2005, and the banks to approve, an additional line of
credit of $100 million above the original credit limit, for a maximum potential total of $275 million. The WGL
Holdings’ credit facility expires on April 27, 2007, and permits the Company to request until April 28, 2005, and the
banks to approve, an additional line of credit of $50 million above the original credit limit, for a maximum potential
total of $225 million. As of September 30, 2004, there was no amount outstanding under either the Washington Gas or
WGL Holdings credit facility.

At September 30, 2004, the Company had outstanding notes payable through the issuance of commercial paper of
$95.6 million as compared to $166.7 million outstanding at September 30, 2003. The decrease in notes payable was
primarily attributable to improved operating cash flows generated by the Company’s regulated utility during the fiscal
year ended September 30, 2004, which reduced the Company’s need for short-term borrowings to fund its working
capital requirements.

Long-Term Casb Requirements and Related Financing

The Company’s long-term cash requirements primarily depend upon the level of capital expenditures, long-term
debt maturity requirements and decisions to refinance long-term debt. The Company devotes the majority of its capital
expenditures to adding new regulated utility customers in its existing service area. At September 30, 2004, Washington
Gas was authorized to issue up to $213.0 million of long-term debt under a shelf registration that was declared
effective by the SEC on April 24, 2003. On May 20, 2003, Washington Gas executed a Distribution Agreement with
certain financial institutions for the issuance and sale of debt securities included in the shelf registration statement.

In November 2003, Washington Gas paid $37.2 million plus accrued interest to redeem $36.0 million of
6.95 percent MTNs that were due in fiscal year 2024, and replaced this debt with $37.0 million of newly-issued,
4.88 percent MTNs due in fiscal year 2014. The effective cost of the new debt, after considering a gain associated with
a derivative instrument entered into in connection with this debt, was 4.11 percent (refer to “Market Risk—Interest-
Rate Risk” included herein).

Security Ratings

The table below reflects the current credit ratings for the outstanding debt instruments of WGL Holdings and
Washington Gas. Changes in credit ratings may affect the Company’s cost of short-term and long-term debt and its
access to the credit markets.

Credit Ratings for Outstanding Debt Instruments

WGL Holdings Washington Gas
Unsecured Unsecured
Medium-Term Notes Commercial Medium-Term Commercial
Rating Service (Indicative)* Paper Notes Paper
Fitch Ratings A+ F1 AA- F1+
Moody’s Investors Service ** Not-Prime A2 P-1
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services AA- A-1 AA- A-l

* Indicates the ratings that may be applicable if WGL Holdings were to issue unsecured medium-term notes.
** Unpublisbed.

On June 4, 2004, Moody’s Investors Service (Moody’s) lowered the commercial paper rating of WGL Holdings
from Prime-2 to Prime-3. On June 29, 2004, Moody’s lowered the commercial paper rating of WGL Holdings from
Prime-3 to Not-Prime. Additionally on June 29, 2004, Moody’s affirmed the Prime-1 commercial paper rating and A2
long-term debt rating and stable outlook of Washington Gas. On July 1, 2004, Fitch Ratings affirmed its credit ratings of
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WGL Holdings and Washington Gas, stating that the rating outlook for both companies is stable. On July 2, 2004,
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services (Standard & Poor’s) lowered its commercial paper ratings of WGL Holdings and
Washington Gas from A-1+ to A-1. Standard & Poor’s affirmed its corporate credit ratings of WGL Holdings and
Washington Gas at AA-, but revised its outlook on the long-term ratings from stable to negative.

To date, these ratings actions have had a minimal impact on the Company. Although interest rates being charged
to WGL Holdings for commercial paper rose since the ratings actions, there continues to be adequate demand for the
Company’s commercial paper.

Ratings Triggers and Certain Debt Covenants

In the event the long-term debt of Washington Gas is downgraded below certain levels, WGL Holdings and
Washington Gas would be required to pay higher facility fees on their revolving credit agreements. WGL Holdings and
Washington Gas pay facility fees on their revolving credit agreements based on the long-term debt ratings of
Washington Gas. There are five different levels of fees. WGL Holdings’ fees are always at the next highest fee level than
the level at which Washington Gas pays its fees. If Washington Gas is at level one, the lowest fee level and a level that
implies a credit rating for Washington Gas of at least Aa3 from Moody’s and AA- from Standard & Poor’s, Washington
Gas pays eight basis points and WGL Holdings pays nine basis points. If Washington Gas is at level four, Washington
Gas pays 12.5 basis points and WGL Holdings pays 15 basis points.

Under the revolving credit agreements, the ratio of consolidated indebtedness to consolidated total capitalization
can not exceed 0.65 to 1.0 (65.0 percent), and, for WGL Holdings, the ratio of earnings before interest and taxes to
interest expense can not fall below 2.25 to 1.0 (2.25 times). Under the terms of the revolving credit agreements, WGL
Holdings and Washington Gas are required to inform lenders of changes in corporate existence, financial conditions,
litigation and environmental warranties that might have a material adverse effect. The failure to inform the lenders’
agent of changes in these areas deemed material in nature might constitute default under the agreement. A default, if
not remedied, may lead to a suspension of further loans and/or acceleration in which obligations become immediately
due and payable.

Regarding certain of the regulated utility’s gas purchase and pipeline capacity agreements, if the long-term debt of
Washington Gas is downgraded below BBB by Standard & Poor’s or below Baa2 by Moody’s, or Washington Gas is
deemed by a counterparty not to be creditworthy, the counterparty may withhold service or deliveries, or may require
additional credit support.

Contractual Obligations, Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Other Commercial
Commitments

Contractual Obligations. WGL Holdings has certain contractual obligations that extend beyond fiscal year
2004. These commitments include long-term debt, lease obligations and unconditional purchase obligations for
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pipeline capacity, transportation and storage services, and certain natural gas and electricity commodity commit-
ments. The estimated obligations as of September 30, 2004 for future fiscal years are shown below.

Estimated Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments (Assumes Normal Weather)

Years Ended September 30,

(In millions) Total 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009  Thereafter
Pipeline and storage contracts® $ 850.0 $136.8 $1169 $105.0 § 851 §$ G0.6  $345.6
Medium-term notes™ 6341 605 500 850 451 750 318.5
Other long-term debt® 16.7 0.1 03 0.1 0.1 0.1 16.0
Interest expense™ 311.2 39.3 34.5 30.6 26.0 227 158.1
Gas purchase commitments—Washington Gas®  254.5 2153 392 - - - -
Gas purchase commitments—WGEServices® 288.9 2459  36.7 6.3 - - -
Electric purchase commitments® 131.6 108.7 229 - - - -
Operating leases 49.6 4.1 4.2 4.2 4.2 3.8 29.1
Other long-term commitments® 24.7 5.6 5.5 5.4 5.4 1.4 1.4
Total $2,561.3 $816.3 $310.2 $236.6 $165.9 $163.6  $868.7

@ Expected minimum payments under ndtural gas transportation and storage contracts based on current estimates of growth of the
Washington Gas system, together with current expectations of the timing and extent of unbundling initiatives in the Washington Gas service
territory. These contracls bave expiration dates through fiscal year 2024.

Represents scheduled repayment of principal.

Represents the scheduled interest payments associated with MINs and otber long-term debt.

Includes short-term gas purchase commitments to purchase fixed volumes of natural gas under Washington Gas’ regulatory-approved
bedging program, as well as long-term gas purchase commitments that contain fixed volume purchase requirements. Commitment amounts
are estimated based on forecasted market prices for minimum purchases under these purchase commitments.

Represents commitments based on a combination of market prices at September 30, 2004 and fixed price contract commitments for natural
gas delivered to various city gate stations, including the cost of transportation to that point, which is bundled in the purchase price.
Expected expenditures based on forecasted usage of its existing customer base. These commitments are pursuant to electric purchase
contracts with wholesale energy marketers for full requirements service with no minimum commitments (see “Market Risk” for a further
discussion of these contracts). Purchases will fluctuate based on customers’ actual usage.

Includes certain Information Technology service contracts. Also includes commiited payments related to certain environmental response
COsts.
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The table above reflects fixed and variable obligations estimated on the basis of normal weather and average
customer usage. These estimates reflect likely purchases under various contracts, and may differ from minimum future
contractual commitments disclosed in Note 14 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

When a customer selects a third-party marketer to provide natural gas supply, Washington Gas generally assigns
pipeline and storage capacity to third-party marketers to deliver natural gas to Washington Gas’ city gate. In order to
provide the gas commodity to customers who do not select a third-party marketer, Washington Gas has a commodity
acquisition plan to acquire the natural gas supply to serve the customer. In connection with this plan, Washington Gas
utilizes an Asset Manager to acquire the necessary supply to serve these customers. Washington Gas' commitment to
the Asset Manager is to purchase gas supply through April 30, 2005 at a market price that is tied to various public
indices for natural gas. The contract commitment is related to customer demand, there are no minimum bill
commitments, and no amount is included in the table above for these contracts.

For commitments related to the Company’s pension and post-retirement benefit plans, during fiscal year 2005, the
Company does not expect to make any contributions to its qualified, trusteed, non-contributory defined benefit
pension plan covering all active and vested former employees of Washington Gas. The Company expects to make
payments totalling $1.3 million in fiscal year 2005 on behalf of participants in its non-funded Supplemental Executive
Retirement Plan. The Company expects to contribute $34.0 million to its health and life insurance benefit plans during
fiscal year 2005. For a further discussion of the Company’s pension and post-retirement benefit plans, refer to Note 11
of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Sales and Repurchases of Accounts Receivable. In fiscal year 2002, the Company stopped making new
loans associated with its consumer financing operations. This operation was limited to servicing existing loans.
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Accordingly, the cash generated from the consumer financing operation was limited to collection of principal and
interest for existing loans that reduced the balances in loan pools that previously were created for sale to commercial
banks. Pursuant to the terms under which these loan pools were sold, the Company repurchased certain of these loans
from the commercial banks totaling $3.2 million, $3.2 million and $11.3 million for fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002,
respectively (refer to Note 14 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).

Financial Guarantees. WGL Holdings has guaranteed payments for certain purchases of natural gas and
electricity on behalf of the retail energy-marketing segment. At September 30, 2004, these guarantees totaled
$218.9 million. Termination of these guarantees is coincident with the satisfaction of all obligations of WGEServices
covered by the guarantees. WGL Holdings also had guarantees totaling $6.0 million at September 30, 2004 that were
made on behalf of certain of its non-utility subsidiaries associated with their banking transactions. For all of its financial
guarantees, WGL Holdings may cancel any or all future obligations imposed by the guarantees upon written notice to
the counterparty, but WGL Holdings would continue to be responsible for the obligations that had been created under
the guarantees prior to the effective date of the cancellation.

Construction Project Financing. In October 2000, Washington Gas contracted with the U.S. General Services
Administration (GSA) to construct certain facilities at the GSA central plant in Washington, D.C. Payments to
Washington Gas for this construction were to be made by the GSA over a 15-year period. In November 2000,
Washington Gas and General Electric Capital Assurance Company (GEFA) entered into a long-term financing
arrangement, whereby GEFA funded this construction project. As part of this financing arrangement, Washington Gas
assigned to GEFA the 15-year stream of payments due from the GSA. The amount of this long-term financing
arrangement, including change orders, origination fees and capitalized finance charges was $69.4 million. As the long-
term financing from GEFA was funded, Washington Gas established a note receivable representing the GSA’s obligation
to remit principal and interest. Upon completion and acceptance of phases of the construction project, Washington
Gas accounts for the transfer of the financed asset as an extinguishment of long-term debt and removes both the note
receivable and long-term financing from its financial statements. As of September 30, 2004, construction of these
facilities was substantially complete. Work on the construction project that has not been completed or accepted by
the GSA was valued at $15.6 million, which represents an obligation on Washington Gas’ Balance Sheet at
September 30, 2004. At any time before the contract with the GSA is fully accepted, should there be a contract default,
such as, among other things, non-payment by the GSA, GEFA may call on Washington Gas to fund the entire unpaid
principal in exchange for which Washington Gas would receive the right to the stream of repayments from the GSA.
Once final acceptance by the GSA is made, GEFA will have no recourse against the Company related to this long-term
debt. As of September 30, 2004, the GSA had made all required payments under this long-term financing arrangement,
and the remaining unpaid principal balance was $63.8 million.

Cash Flows Provided By Operating Activities

The primary drivers for the Company’s operating cash flows are cash payments received from gas customers,
offset by payments made by the Company for gas costs, operation and maintenance expenses, taxes, and interest
costs. Current interest expense reflects the favorable effect of relatively low short-term interest rates, a condition that
could change rapidly.

During the first six months of the Company’s fiscal year, the Company generates a large portion of its annual net
income due to the significant volumes of natural gas that are delivered by the regulated utility during the winter
heating season. Variations in the level of net income reported for the six-month period ended March 31 may be
significant because of the variability of weather from one period in a year to the same period in a subsequent year.
Generating large sales volumes during the six-month period ended March 31 increases accounts receivable from the
level at September 30; likewise, accounts payable increases to pay providers of the natural gas commodity and pipeline
capacity. Accounts payable for the natural gas commodity can also vary significantly from one period to the next
because of the volatility in the price of natural gas. Since payments for natural gas and pipeline capacity need to be
made to suppliers before accounts receivable are collected from customers, the Company increases its short-term debt
financing between September 30 and March 31. Storage gas inventories, which usually peak by November 1, are
largely drawn down in the six months ended March 31, and provide a source of cash as this asset is used to satisfy
winter sales demand. Gas costs due from or to customers, as well as deferred purchased gas costs, which represent the
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difference between gas costs that have been paid to suppliers in the past and what has been collected from customers
for these gas costs, can also cause significant variations in cash flows from period to period.

During the last six months of the Company’s fiscal year, after the winter heating season, the Company will
generally report a seasonal net loss due to reduced demand for natural gas during this period. Additionally, many of the
Company’s assets, which were increased during the heating season, are converted into cash. The Company generally
uses this cash to reduce and sometimes eliminate short-term debt, and acquire storage gas for the next heating season.

Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $242.6 million, $143.8 million, and $205.3 million for fiscal years
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. A description of certain material changes in cash flow from operating activities
from September 30, 2003 to September 30, 2004 is listed below:

* Storage gas inventory increased $53.0 million from September 30, 2003 due to higher natural gas costs and
increased storage capacity to accommodate the requirements for the 2004-2005 winter heating season.

* Accounts payable increased $40.7 million from September 30, 2003 largely to fund higher natural gas and
electricity purchases. Higher natural gas purchases are due mostly to higher prices associated with storage
injections.

During fiscal year 2003, storage gas inventory rose $65.5 million from September 30, 2002, primarily due to a
dramatic rise in the price of natural gas. During fiscal year 2002, cash flows provided by operating activities were
impacted by a $56.1 million decrease in gas costs due from/to customers—net due to gas costs that were paid to
suppliers but unrecovered from customers in fiscal year 2001, that subsequently were recovered from customers
during fiscal year 2002. Additionally, fiscal year 2002 reflects a reduction of $36.7 million in storage gas inventory.

Cashb Flows Used in Financing Activities

Cash flows used in financing activities totaled $132.6 million, $26.3 million and $17.3 million for fiscal years 2004,
2003 and 2002, respectively. During fiscal year 2004, a decrease in notes payable of $71.0 million was a primary use of
cash. This decrease was primarily attributable to improved operating cash flows generated by the Company’s regulated
utility during fiscal year 2004, which reduced the Company’s need for short-term borrowings to fund its working
capital requirements. The decrease in notes payable was coupled with a common stock dividend payment of
$62.7 million. Additionally during fiscal year 2004, the Company refinanced $36.0 million of long-term debt with the
proceeds of a $37.0 million lower-cost, long-term debt issue (refer to “Liquidity and Capital Resources—Long-Term
Cash Requirements and Related Financing” included herein).

Cash flows used in financing activities during fiscal year 2003 reflect a $75.8 million increase in notes payable
primarily to fund the Company’'s increased working capital requirements. Additionally, the Company retired
$41.9 million of long-term debt and paid a common stock dividend of $61.9 million. In fiscal year 2002, the Company
issued $130.4 million of long-term debt, retired $42.9 million of long-term debt and paid common stock dividends
totaling $61.4 million. Notes payable decreased $43.2 million during fiscal year 2002, primarily due to a decrease in
the Company’s working capital requirements.
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The following table reflects the issuances and retirements of long-term debt that occurred during fiscal
years 2004, 2003 and 2002 (also refer to Note 5 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).

Long-Term Debt Activity

2004 2003 2002
{n millions) Interest Rate Amount Interest Rate  Amount Interest Rate  Amount
Medium-term notes
Issued 4.88% $ 37.0 $ 5.17 - 6.05% $107.0

Retired 6.95% (36.0) 6.50 - 7.04% (40.0) 6.90 - 7.56% (42.6)

Project financing
Issued 6.75% 0.8 - - 599 - 7.88% 23.3
Retired® - - 599 -7.88% 1.3 7.22 - 7.88% 9.7
Other activity - 0.2) - 0.2 - 0.2)
Total $ 1.6 $(61.5) $ 77.8

@ Includes the non-cash extinguishment of project debt financing of $19.7 million and $9.7 million for fiscal years 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

Cashb Flows Used In Investing Activities

Net cash flows used in investing activities totaled $107.8 million, $115.6 million and $197.6 million during fiscal
years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. In fiscal year 2004, $112.8 million was utilized for capital expenditures made
on behalf of the regulated utility. Additionally, cash proceeds of $6.4 million (pre-tax) were derived from the Maritime
sale. In fiscal years 2003 and 2002, $128.5 million and $161.2 million, respectively, were utilized for capital
expenditures made on behalf of the regulated utility. Additionally, fiscal year 2003 included cash proceeds of
$16.0 million related to the sale of the Company’s former headquarters property and $5.3 million from the sale of an
interest in a land development venture. Other investing activities for fiscal year 2002 included the investment in
certain construction projects on behalf of the Company’s commercial HVAC business.

Capital Expenditures

The following table depicts the Company’s actual capital expenditures for fiscal years 2002, 2003 and 2004, and
projected capital expenditures for fiscal years 2005 through 2009. The Company’s capital expenditure program
includes investments to extend service to new areas, and to ensure safe, reliable and improved service. The decrease
in capital expenditures in fiscal year 2004 from 2003 was primarily attributable to the fact that fiscal year 2003
included a greater number of expenditures related to information technology improvements that were necessary to
improve operational efficiencies than were incurred in fiscal year 2004. The 2005 to 2009 projected period includes
$328.5 million for continued growth to serve new customers and $177.8 million primarily for replacement and
betterment of existing capacity. The projected period also reflects $164.4 million of other expenditures, which
includes general plant, as well as the anticipated construction of a liquefied natural gas peaking facility, estimated to
cost approximately $60 million, that will enhance the operational capacity of the entire natural gas distribution
system. The Company believes that the combination of available internal and external sources of funds will be
adequate to fund these capital expenditures.

Capital Expenditures

Actual Projected
(In millions) 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 Total
New business $995 $ 702 $ 675 $688 $63.6 $660 $663 % 63.8 $3285
Replacements 41.5 27.1 24.9 35.2 33.9 34.8 35.6 38.3 177.8
Other 21.4 31.8 21.0 30.5 39.7 36.2 30.6 27.4 164.4
Total $162.4 $129.1 $113.4 $134.5 $137.2 $137.0 $1325 $129.5 $670.7
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CREDIT RISK

Regulated Utility Operations

Certain suppliers that sell gas to Washington Gas have either relatively low credit ratings or are not rated by major
credit rating agencies. In the event of a supplier’s failure to deliver contracted volumes of gas, the regulated utility may
need to replace those volumes at prevailing market prices, which may be higher than the original transaction prices,
and pass these costs through to its sales customers under the purchased gas cost adjustment mechanisms (refer to
“Market Risk—Price Risk Related to Regulated Utility Operations” included herein). To manage this supplier credit
risk, Washington Gas screens suppliers’ creditworthiness and asks suppliers as necessary for financial assurances,
including letters of credit, parental guarantees, and surety bonds to mitigate adverse price exposures that could occur
if a supplier defaults.

Retail Energy-Marketing Operations

Natural Gas. Similar to the regulated utility, certain suppliers that sell gas to WGEServices have either
relatively low credit ratings or are not rated by major credit rating agencies. Depending on the future ability of these
suppliers to deliver natural gas under existing contracts, WGEServices could be financially exposed for the difference
between the price at which WGEServices has contracted to buy natural gas, and the cost of any replacement natural
gas that may need to be purchased. WGEServices has a wholesale supplier credit policy that is designed to mitigate
wholesale credit risks through a requirement for credit enhancements. Per the terms of this policy, WGEServices has
obtained credit enhancements from certain of its gas suppliers.

Electricity. For a discussion of the credit risk associated with WGEServices’ electricity suppliers, refer to
“Market Risk—Price Risk Related to Retail Energy-Marketing Operations” included herein.

MARKET RISK

The Company is exposed to various forms of market risk including commodity price risk, weather risk and
interest-rate risk. The following discussion describes these risks and the Company’s management of them.

Price Risk Related to Regulated Utility Operations

Washington Gas actively manages its gas supply portfolio to balance its sales and delivery obligations. The
regulated utility includes the cost of the natural gas commodity and pipeline services in the purchased gas costs that it
includes in firm customers’ rates, subject to regulatory review. The regulated utility’s jurisdictional tariffs contain gas
cost mechanisms that allow it to recover the invoice cost of gas applicable to firm customers.

In order to mitigate commodity price risk for its firm customers, Washington Gas has specific regulatory approval
in the District of Columbia, Maryland and Virginia to hedge transactions with option contracts for a limited portion of
its natural gas purchases. Three types of hedge instruments were approved for the Company’s use: (7) forward gas
purchases at a fixed price; (77) purchases of call options that effectively cap the cost of gas and (777) a combination of
call options purchased and put options sold that limits gas price exposure within a narrow band. Additionally, the
Company purchases gas under contracts that provide for volumetric variability. Certain of these contracts are required
to be recorded at fair value (refer to Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the
accounting for these derivative instruments). At September 30, 2004 and 2003, the Company recorded a payable on its
balance sheet reflecting a fair value loss of $8.2 million and $3.3 million, respectively, related to its variable gas
purchase contracts, with a corresponding amount recorded as a regulatory asset in accordance with regulatory
accounting requirements for a recoverable cost in each jurisdiction.

The regulated utility also mitigates price risk by injecting natural gas into storage during the summer months

when prices are generally lower and less volatile, and withdraws that gas during the winter heating season when
prices are generally higher and more volatile.
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Price Risk Related to Retail Energy-Marketing Operations

The Company’s retail energy-marketing subsidiary, WGEServices, sells natural gas and electricity to retail
customers at both fixed prices and indexed prices. The Company must manage daily and seasonal demand fluctuations
for these products. The volume and price risks are evaluated and measured separately for natural gas and electricity.

Natural Gas. WGEServices is exposed to market risk to the extent it does not closely match the timing and
volume of natural gas it purchases with the related fixed price or indexed purchase commitments. WGEServices’ risk
management policies and procedures are designed to minimize these risks. WGEServices also faces risk in that
approximately 60 percent of its annual natural gas sales volumes are subject to variations in customer demand caused
by fluctuations in weather. Purchases of natural gas to fulfill retail sales commitments are made generally under fixed-
volume contracts that are based on normal weather assumptions. If there is a significant deviation from normal
weather that causes purchase commitments to differ significantly from sales levels, WGEServices may be required to
buy incremental natural gas or sell excess natural gas at prices that negatively impact gross margins. WGEServices also
manages this volumetric risk by using storage gas inventory and peaking services offered to marketers by the regulated
utilities that provide delivery service for WGEServices customers. WGEServices also manages price risk through the
use of derivative instruments.

At September 30, 2004 and 2003, all of WGEServices' derivatives were valued at $719,000 and $188,000,
respectively. For these derivatives, WGEServices recorded net gains of $892,000 and $221,000 for the fiscal years
ended September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively, and recorded a net loss of $323,000 for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2002.

Electricity. For its electric business, WGEServices has significantly limited its volumetric and price risks by
purchasing full requirements supply from wholesale electricity suppliers under master purchase and sale agreements.
WGEServices’ principal supplier of electricity is Mirant Americas Energy Marketing L.P. (MAEM), an indirect wholly
owned subsidiary of Mirant Corporation (Mirant). WGEServices purchases full requirements services from MAEM,
including electric energy, capacity and certain ancillary services, for resale to retail electric customers. MAEM assumes
the risk for any volume and price risks associated with sales made by WGEServices.

On July 14, 2003, Mirant and substantially all of its subsidiaries filed voluntary petitions for reorganization under
Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. MAEM was included in these bankruptcy filings. Future performance by
MAEM may be subject to further developments in the bankruptcy proceedings. The performance risk associated with
the pre-bankruptcy petition MAEM contracts is mitigated through a Security and Escrow agreement entered into
between WGEServices and MAEM prior to the bankruptcy filing. Under the Security and Escrow agreement,
WGEServices has access to collateral that is intended to cover the difference between the current market price of
electricity and the price at which WGEServices has contracted to buy electricity. In the opinion of counsel to the
Company, WGEServices has the contractual right to draw on the escrow funds in the account (which totaled
$3.0 million and $30.0 million as of September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively) if the pre-bankruptcy petition
contracts between WGEServices and MAEM are terminated. The amount of WGEServices’ exposure in the event of
termination of these contracts between WGEServices and MAEM is estimated to be less than the amount of collateral
included in the escrow account. This estimate of WGEServices’ exposure to contract termination is based upon
acquiring supply, priced at forward electricity prices through the expiration of the existing sales contracts or until
WGEServices exercises certain damage limitation provisions of its customers’ sales contracts. The actual exposure for
WGEServices may differ from the estimate due to changes in timing of any contract termination, deviations from
normal weather, changes in future market conditions, or other factors.

Since the bankruptcy filing, MAEM has continued to honor its supply obligations to WGEServices. All obligations
to WGEServices under the pre-bankruptcy petition MAEM contracts expire by the end of October 2005, with the
majority of these obligations expiring by December 2004. In October 2003, WGEServices and MAEM signed a post-
bankruptcy petition contract that enables WGEServices to renew expiring contracts with its current electric
customers and to make purchases for new customers. These post-bankruptcy petition contracts include provisions
that allow WGEServices to net payables to MAEM against any damages that might result from default on the part of
MAEM, and allow WGEServices to request collateral under certain situations.
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WGEServices has made efforts to reduce its reliance on a single supplier. During fiscal year 2004, WGEServices
entered into separate master purchase and sale agreements under which it purchases full requirements services from
three new wholesale electricity suppliers. These new electric supplier contracts either have investment grade credit
ratings or provide guarantees from companies with investment grade credit ratings. Electric suppliers other than
MAEM accounted for less than ten percent of WGEServices’ electric purchases for fiscal year 2004.

Value-At-Risk. WGEServices also measures the market risk of its energy commodity portfolio and employs risk
control mechanisms to measure and determine mitigating steps related to market risk including the determination and
review of value-at-risk. Value-at-risk is an estimate of the maximum loss that can be expected at some level of
probability if a portfolio is held for a given time period. For the natural gas portfolio, based on a 95 percent confidence
interval, WGEServices’ value-at-risk at September 30, 2004 was approximately $135,000 for a one-day holding period.
WGEServices also calculates the value of its open position related to natural gas, which measures the amount of
additional transactions that would be required to close the volumetric differential between its purchase and sales
commitments. As of September 30, 2004, WGEServices would have had to increase its forward purchase commitments
by approximately $4.2 million to close its open position.

Weather Risk

The Company is exposed to various forms of weather risk in both of its regulated utility and unregulated
businesses. For the regulated utility, a large portion of the Company’s revenues is volume driven and its current rates
are based upon an assumption of normal weather. Variations from normal weather will cause the Company’s earnings
to increase or decrease, depending on the weather pattern. The financial results of the Company’s non-regulated
energy-marketing business, WGEServices, are also affected by variations from normal weather in the winter relating to
its gas sales, and in the summer relating to its electricity sales. The Company manages weather risk with a weather
insurance policy for the regulated utility and a weather hedge for WGEServices, as discussed below.

Weatber Insurance. In October 2000, Washington Gas purchased a weather insurance policy in order to
minimize the impact of warmer-than-normal weather on the Company’s financial results. The policy has a five-year
term that ends September 30, 2005. During fiscal year 2005, the Company will evaluate the possibility of obtaining weather
insurance when the current policy expires.

The policy covers a portion of Washington Gas’ estimated net revenue exposure to variations in heating degree
days (HDDs). The insurance policy defines a heating degree day as the greater of (?) 65 degrees Fahrenheit less the
average of the daily high and daily low temperatures in degrees Fahrenheit as measured at Washington Reagan National
Airport, or (#) zero. For insurance policy purposes, neither average temperatures nor HDDs are rounded.

Income is provided in the amount of $32,000 for each such HDD below 3,815 per fiscal year up to a maximum of
515 HDDs, subject to certain limitations. Over the five-year term of the policy, Washington Gas cannot be paid for
more than 1,295 HDDs. For fiscal year 2005, the fifth and last year of the policy, the full coverage of 515 HDDs is
available. Additionally, the policy provides for a one-time payment to Washington Gas at the end of the policy term if,
over its five-year term, HDDs average less than 4,000 per year. The maximum remaining one-time payment Washington
Gas may receive is an additional $928,000 (pre-tax). Other than the cost of the insurance, Washington Gas pays
nothing if weather is colder than normal. No payments were received in connection with fiscal years 2004 or 2003 due
to the colder-than-normal weather. During fiscal year 2002, weather was 13.4 percent warmer than normal, resulting
in 462 HDD:s that were covered by the policy. As a result, Washington Gas recorded pre-tax income in fiscal year 2002
due to its receipt of a pre-tax payment of $14.8 million ($8.7 million after income taxes) in October 2002, which offset
about 30 percent of the estimated financial effect of the year’s warmer-than-normal weather. The policy’s pre-tax
annual cost was $4.25 million for fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, and will continue at this level for fiscal year 2005.
No portion of the cost or benefit of this policy is considered in the regulatory process. A further description of the
accounting for weather insurance may be found in Note 1 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

When Washington Gas reports HDDs, it computes HDDs using a method different from that used for insurance
policy purposes. Washington Gas’ method rounds the average of the high and low temperatures to the nearest whole
degree prior to subtracting that average from 65 degrees. As a result, for each fiscal year in the five-year policy period,
the number of HDDs computed for insurance purposes will almost certainly be greater than the number of HDDs
reported by Washington Gas. Therefore, the insurance policy computation will indicate colder weather than
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Washington Gas’ computation, and the annual benefit received will be lower than might be expected if Washington
Gas’ measure of HDDs were used. For example, the fiscal year 2004 HDD total for insurance purposes was 4,083, but
was 4,024 under Washington Gas’ method.

HDD Hedge. WGEServices utilizes HDD hedges to manage its risk for natural gas customers who participate in
a program that allows them to pay a fixed amount for their gas requirements regardless of the amount of gas
consumed. These hedges cover a portion of WGEServices’ estimated net revenue exposure to variations in HDDs. For
fiscal year 2004, the Company recorded, net of premium costs, a net loss of $114,000 related to these hedges, and a
net gain of $372,000 for fiscal year 2003. No such gain or loss was recorded in fiscal year 2002.

Interest-Rate Risk

The Company and Washington Gas are exposed to interest-rate risk associated with its debt financing costs.
Management of this risk is discussed below.

Long-Term Debt. At September 30, 2004, the regulated utility had fixed-rate MTNs and other long-term debt
aggregating $590.2 million in principal amount, excluding current maturities and unamortized discounts, and having a
fair value of $646.5 million. Fair value is defined as the present value of the debt securities’ future cash flows
discounted at interest rates that reflect market conditions as of September 30, 2004. While these are fixed-rate
instruments and, therefore, do not expose the Company to the risk of earnings loss due to changes in market interest
rates, they are subject to changes in fair value as market interest rates change. A total of $183.5 million, or
approximately 32.0 percent, of the regulated utility’s outstanding MTNs, excluding current maturities, have put or call
options, or a combination of both, allowing either Washington Gas or the holder of the debt to mitigate this market
risk through the early redemption of those debt instruments.

Using sensitivity analyses to measure this market risk exposure, the regulated utility estimates that the fair value of
its long-term debt would increase by approximately $18.1 million if interest rates were to decline by ten percent. The
Company also estimates that the fair value of its long-term debt would decrease by approximately $17.0 million if
interest rates were to increase by ten percent. In general, such an increase or decrease in fair value would impact
earnings and cash flows only if the Company were to reacquire all or a portion of these instruments in the open
market prior to their maturity.

Derivative Instruments. Washington Gas utilizes derivative financial instruments from time to time in order to
minimize its exposure to interest-rate risk. In June 2003, Washington Gas entered into two forward-starting swaps with
an aggregate notional principal amount of $62.0 million to mitigate a substantial portion of interest-rate risk associated
with anticipated future debt transactions. These swaps were designated as cash flow hedges and were carried at fair
value.

In November 2003, Washington Gas terminated $37.0 million of the total $62.0 million aggregate notional
principal amount of the forward-starting swaps concurrent with the November issuance of $37.0 million of MTNs as
discussed previously in “Ligquidity and Capital Resources” included herein. Washington Gas received $2.6 million
associated with the settlement of this hedge agreement. In December 2003, Washington Gas terminated the remaining
$25.0 million aggregate notional principal of the forward-starting swaps, and received $1.2 million associated with the
settlement of this hedge agreement.

In September 2004, Washington Gas entered into two forward-starting swaps with an aggregate notional principal
amount of $60.5 million. These swaps are intended to mitigate a substantial portion of interest-rate risk associated with
anticipated future debt transactions, and are scheduled to terminate in fiscal year 2005 concurrent with the execution
of debt transactions planned for that year. These swaps were designated as cash flow hedges in accordance with SFAS
No. 133, as amended, and are carried at fair value. At September 30, 2004, these swaps had a fair value loss totaling
$475,000.

Refer to Note 6 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion of the accounting for
these transactions.
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WASHINGTON GAS LIGHT COMPANY

This section of Management’s Discussion focuses on the financial position and results of operations of Washington
Gas for the reported periods. In many cases, explanations for the changes in financial position and results of
operations for both WGL Holdings and Washington Gas are substantially the same.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Summary Results

Washington Gas’ net income applicable to its common stock was $95.3 million, $109.6 million and $47.4 million
for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

The following table provides the key factors contributing to the changes in utility net revenues between years.

Composition of Utility Net Revenue Changes

Increase/(Decrease)
(n millions) From Prior Year
2004 2003
Gas delivered to firm customers
Volumetric effect:
Weather $ 31.5) $ 903
Customer growth 12.7 5.3
Impact of rate cases™ 5.7 21.3
Gas delivered to interruptible customers 2.7 2.0
Other® 4.7 6.7
Total S (15.1) $1256

“@ For fiscal year 2004, “Impact of rate cases” includes a $4.7 million benefit of an accounting tracker
granted by the PSC of DC related to pension and other post-employment benefit expenses, and “Other”
excludes this benefit.

Utility Net Revenues

Net revenues for Washington Gas were $549.0 million for fiscal year 2004 compared to $564.0 million for fiscal
year 2003. Net revenues were affected primarily by weather, which was 11.6 percent warmer in fiscal year 2004 than
in fiscal year 2003. Favorably contributing to net revenues for fiscal year 2004 was the addition of 30,140 active
customer meters, or 3.1 percent, which increased net revenues by $12.7 million in the current fiscal year. Net
revenues for fiscal year 2004 also benefited by $5.7 million from the impact of rate changes that were implemented in
Maryland on November 6, 2003, the District of Columbia on November 24, 2003, and the effect of approximately one
and one-half months of the rate decision that became effective in Virginia in November 2002.

Included as part of the November 24, 2003 rate increase in the District of Columbia was a reduction in rates for
the effect of post-employment benefit costs that had been previously deferred on the balance sheet as a regulatory
liability. During fiscal year 2004, Washington Gas refunded over-collections of these costs to its District of Columbia
customers, thereby resulting in a lowering of base rates by the PSC of DC for the effect of these over-collections. The
effect of this reduction in annual revenues results in an accounting adjustment that reduces both the regulatory
liability on the balance sheet and operation and maintenance expenses on the statement of income. Accordingly, the
regulatory deferral mechanism (or “tracker’) results in no affect on net income as the lower rates reflected in
revenues are offset by lower operation and maintenance expenses. For fiscal year 2004, Washington Gas’ net income
reflects a $4.7 million reduction in both its net revenues and operation and maintenance expenses related to this
tracker in accordance with the Final Order by the PSC of DC. For purposes of the table presented above, the
$4.7 million has been included in “Impact of rate cases” and deducted from “Other” for fiscal year 2004.
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Utility net revenues of $564.0 million for fiscal year 2003 represented an increase of $125.6 million, or
28.6 percent, over fiscal year 2002. This increase was attributable primarily to 37.7 percent colder weather in fiscal
year 2003 than in fiscal year 2002, along with customer growth. Higher retail rates in Maryland and Virginia, as well as
new rates and a new rate design in the District of Columbia, contributed an additional $21.3 million to the increase in
net revenues for fiscal year 2003.

Revenue taxes comprised principally of gross receipts taxes, increased by $9.6 million and $12.9 million in fiscal
years 2004 and 2003, respectively. Changes in revenue taxes primarily are impacted by changes in the volume of gas
sold and delivered. Although volumes decreased in fiscal year 2004, tax rates charged in Maryland and the District of
Columbia increased significantly in fiscal year 2004. The increase in these taxes for fiscal year 2003 compared to fiscal
year 2002 was driven primarily by increased volumes. The regulated utility is allowed recovery of these amounts from
its customers and therefore these fees do not affect total net revenues.

Gas Deliveries, Weather and Meter Statistics

Years Ended September 30,

2004 2003 2002
Gas Sales and Deliveries (thousands of therms)
Firm
Gas Sold and Delivered 856,135 888,437 703,160
Gas Delivered for Others 454,549 496,889 346,910
Total Firm 1,310,684 1,385,326 1,050,070
Interruptible
Gas Sold and Delivered 7,626 12,163 10,646
Gas Delivered for Others 268,483 257,799 277,367
Total Interruptible 276,109 269,962 288,013
Electric Generation—Delivered for Others 41,052 67,245 169,210
Total Deliveries 1,627,845 1,722,533 1,507,293
Degree Days
Actual 4,024 4,550 3,304
Normal 3,792 3,799 3,814
Percent Colder (Warmer) than Normal 6.1% 19.8% (13.9H%
Active Customer Meters (end of period) 990,062 959,922 939,291
New Customer Meters Added 29,438 26,167 31,205

Gas Service to Firm Customers. The level of gas delivered to firm customers is highly sensitive to weather
variability as a large portion of the natural gas delivered by Washington Gas is used for space heating. The regulated
utility’s rates are based on normal weather, and none of the tariffs for the jurisdictions in which it operates has a
weather normalization provision. Nonetheless, declining block rates in the regulated utility’s Maryland and Virginia
jurisdictions, and the existence of a fixed demand charge in all jurisdictions to collect a portion of revenues, reduce
the effect that variations from normal weather have on net revenues.

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004, firm therm deliveries decreased 5.4 percent from fiscal year
2003 to 1.311 billion therms. This decrease primarily reflects 11.6 percent warmer weather during fiscal year 2004
when compared to fiscal year 2003, partially offset by a 3.1 percent increase in active customer meters being served.
Weather for fiscal year 2004 was 6.1 percent colder than normal, as compared to 19.8 percent colder than normal for
the prior fiscal year. In fiscal year 2003, firm therm deliveries increased 31.9 percent over fiscal year 2002 due to
37.7 percent colder weather in fiscal year 2003 than in fiscal year 2002, coupled with an increase in active customer
meters.

Many customers choose to buy the natural gas commodity from third-party marketers, rather than purchase the
natural gas commodity and delivery service from Washington Gas on a ‘“‘bundled” basis. Gas delivered to firm
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customers but purchased from third-party marketers represented 34.7 percent of total firm therms delivered during
fiscal year 2004, compared to 35.9 percent and 33.0 percent delivered during fiscal vears 2003 and 2002, respectively.
On a per unit basis, Washington Gas earns the same net revenues from delivering gas for others as it earns from
bundled gas sales in which customers purchase both the natural gas commodity and the associated delivery service
from Washington Gas. Therefore, the regulated utility does not experience any loss in net revenues when customers
choose to purchase the natural gas commodity from a third-party marketer.

Gas Service to Interruptible Customers. Washington Gas must curtail or interrupt service to this class of
customer when the demand by firm customers exceeds specified levels. Therm deliveries to imterruptible
customers increased 2.3 percent in fiscal year 2004 over fiscal year 2003. This is attributable to an increase of
10.7 million therms in interruptible deliveries for others, reflecting a reduction in the curtailment of interruptible
service due to warmer weather in fiscal year 2004 compared to fiscal year 2003. This increase was partially offset by a
reduction in interruptible gas sold and delivered of 4.5 million therms. Deliveries to interruptible customers during
fiscal year 2003 decreased by 18.1 million therms, or 6.3 percent, from fiscal year 2002 primarily due to customers’
use of alternative fuels or conversion to firm deliveries as a result of higher natural gas prices.

The effect on net income of changes in delivered volumes and prices to the interruptible class is limited by
margin-sharing arrangements that are included in Washington Gas’ rate designs. Under these arrangements, except as
noted below as it relates to Virginia operations, Washington Gas shares a majority of the margins earned on
interruptible gas sales and deliveries to firmn customers after a gross margin threshold is reached. A portion of the fixed
costs for servicing interruptible customers is collected through the firm customer’s class in rate design. In the Virginia
jurisdiction, Washington Gas shares only margins on interruptible gas sales to firm customers; interruptible delivery
service rates are based on the cost of service, and Washington Gas retains all revenues from interruptible delivery
service.

Gas Service for Electric Generation. Washington Gas sells and/or delivers natural gas for use at two electric
generation facilities in Maryland that are each owned by companies independent of WGL Holdings. During fiscal year
2004, deliveries to these customers decreased 39.0 percent to 41.1 million therms, reflecting the use by these
customers of alternative fuels primarily due to higher natural gas prices. During fiscal year 2003, these deliveries
decreased 60.3 percent to 67.2 million therms compared to fiscal year 2002. Washington Gas shares a significant
majority of the margins earned from gas deliveries to these customers with firm customers. Therefore, changes in the
volume of interruptible gas deliveries to these customers do not materially affect either net revenues or net income.

Cost of Gas

The regulated utility’s cost of natural gas includes both fixed and variable components. The regulated utility pays
fixed costs or “‘demand charges” to pipeline companies for system capacity needed to transport and store natural gas.
The regulated utility pays variable costs, or the cost of the natural gas commodity itself, to natural gas producers.
Variations in the utility’s cost of gas expense result from changes in gas sales volumes, the price of the gas purchased
and the level of gas costs collected through the operation of firm gas cost recovery mechanisms. Under these regulated
recovery mechanisms, the regulated utility records cost of gas expense equal to the cost of gas recovered from
customers and included in revenues. The difference between the firm gas costs paid and the gas costs recovered from
customers is deferred on the balance sheet as an amount to be collected from or refunded to customers in future
periods. Therefore, increases or decreases in the cost of gas associated with sales made to firm customers have no
direct effect on net revenues and net income. Revenues can vary widely on an annual basis because of changes in the
cost of gas, but such variations will not have any impact on net revenues or net income. Changes in the cost of gas can
cause significant variations in the utility’s cash provided by or used in operating activities. The regulated utility
receives from or pays to its customers in the District of Columbia and Virginia, at short-term interest rates, carrying
costs associated with under- or over-collected gas costs recovered from its customers.

The commodity costs of gas invoiced to the utility (excluding the cost and related volumes applicable to sales
made outside of the utility’s service territory, referred to as off-system sales) were 61.17¢, 55.75¢ and 34.27¢ per
therm for fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The higher gas costs in fiscal year 2004 and 2003 reflect
higher commodity gas prices associated with greater demand due to colder-than-normal weather during these years
and the increased price volatility in the wholesale market, as discussed above.
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Utility Operating Expenses

Operation and Maintenance Expenses. Operation and maintenance expenses increased $10.8 million, or
5.0 percent, from fiscal year 2003 to fiscal year 2004, and increased $10.8 million, or 5.2 percent, from fiscal year 2002
to fiscal year 2003.

The following table summarizes the major factors that contributed to the changes in operation and maintenance
expenses.

Composition of Operation and Maintenance Expense Changes

Increase/(Decrease)

Compared to Prior Year

(In millions) 2004 2003
Labor and incentive plans $(0.9) $ 88
Employee severance costs 2.4 0.4
Employee benefits, excluding the Medicare subsidy 3.0 8.7
Medicare subsidy Q.7 -
Uncollectible accounts (1.6) 2.0
Other non-labor operating expenses 10.6 ©.1D
Total $10.8 $10.8

Expenses related to labor and incentive plans decreased by $900,000 in fiscal year 2004 primarily due to eight
percent fewer employees. The $2.4 million increase in employee severance costs during the current fiscal year reflects
operational efficiencies at the utility. Labor-related expenses increased $8.8 million in fiscal year 2003 primarily due to
base pay increases and increased incentive pay accruals related to performance-based incentive awards, partially offset
by fewer employees.

The $3.0 million increase in employee benefits expenses for fiscal year 2004 was largely due to an increase in the
cost of group insurance. The increase in these costs for fiscal vear 2003 primarily was due to weaker financial
performance related to the Company’s pension plan, and decreasing interest rates which caused an increase in the
discounted liabilities associated with plan benefits.

During fiscal year 2004, the Company recorded lower costs associated with post-retirement benefits other than
pensions of $2.7 million associated with the Medicare subsidy. This subsidy resulted from a law enacted in December
2003 that entitles the Company to a federal subsidy for sponsoring a retiree health care benefit plan with a
prescription drug benefit that is at least actuarially equivalent to the benefit to be provided under Medicare.

The $1.6 million decrease in the provision for uncollectible accounts for fiscal year 2004 was primarily driven by
improved collection efforts by the regulated utility, as well as warmer weather compared to fiscal year 2003. The
$2.0 million increase in fiscal year 2003 was driven by higher natural gas costs and significantly colder weather in fiscal
year 2003 than the prior fiscal year.

Other non-labor operating expenses for fiscal year 2004 increased $10.6 million over fiscal year 2003. This
increase included an accrual of $2.4 million for operational expenses recorded in the current fiscal year for which the
Company ultimately may be partially or fully reimbursed, the potential reimbursement was not accrued as a receivable
as of September 30, 2004. Additionally, this increase reflects $2.0 million associated with information technology
improvements, $700,000 for implementing the provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and increases for other
miscellaneous items. The $9.1 million decrease in fiscal year 2003 from fiscal year 2002 was primarily attributable to a
decrease in professional services and billing-related costs that resulted from the implementation of various operational
enhancements during fiscal year 2003. These cost reductions were slightly offset by higher costs of public liability
insurance.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense for fiscal year 2004 rose to
$90.8 million, an increase of $7.9 million, or 9.6 percent, over fiscal year 2003. This increase reflects increased plant
investment to meet continuing customer growth, as well as the effect of a December 18, 2003 Final Order issued by
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the SCC of VA. In connection with the Final Order, the Company recorded $3.5 million (pre-tax) of additional
depreciation expense in the current fiscal year to implement higher depreciation rates applicable to the period from
January 1, 2002 through November 11, 2002. Additionally, the Company recorded $1.0 million of additional
depreciation expense in fiscal year 2004 related to the performance of earnings tests required by the Final Order of the
SCC of VA dated December 18, 2003. This earnings test, as more fully described in Note 14 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements, effectively limits the return on equity of the regulated utility’s Virginia operations at
the allowed return on equity until a regulatory asset established for regulatory accounting purposes is eliminated.
Depreciation and amortization expense increased $10.6 million in fiscal year 2003 over 2002 primarily due to
increased plant investment, and higher depreciation rates in effect for the Virginia jurisdiction. The utility’s composite
depreciation and amortization rate was 3.48 percent, 3.20 percent and 2.93 percent for fiscal years 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively.

General Taxes. General taxes decreased by $1.5 million from fiscal year 2003 and increased by $3.6 million
over fiscal year 2002. Right-of-way fees assessed and collected, principally in the District of Columbia, primarily are
impacted by changes in volumes of gas sold and delivered that decreased in fiscal year 2004 and increased in fiscal year
2003.

Income Taxes. The Statements of Income Taxes detail the composition of the change in income tax expense
for Washington Gas. Income taxes for the regulated utility decreased $10.2 million in fiscal year 2004 when compared
to 2003 primarily due to lower pre-tax income. The $40.2 million increase in fiscal year 2003 over 2002 primarily
reflects higher pre-tax income, partially offset by an adjustment of $2.7 million that reduced income tax expense in
fiscal year 2003.

Otber Income (Expenses)—Net

Other income (expenses)—net reflects net income of $2.1 million for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004,
as compared to a net expense of $662,000 for the year ended September 30, 2003. The $2.8 million increase in
income was primarily attributable to a current year allocation from WGL Holdings to Washington Gas of non-operating
tax benefits. This allocation was made in accordance with the tax sharing agreement under which Washington Gas and
all other subsidiaries of WGL Holdings participate. WGL Holdings’ consolidated financial statements do not reflect the
effect of this allocation that was eliminated in consolidation. Additionally, fiscal year 2003 included a $2.5 million after-
tax gain from the sale of the Company’s headquarters property that resulted in a decrease in income for the current
fiscal year. This was mostly offset by increased interest income earned on higher short-term investment balances
during fiscal year 2004, as well as by increased other miscellaneous income.

Other income (expenses)—net reflected a net expense of $662,000 for fiscal year 2003 compared to income of
$561,000 for fiscal year 2002. This reduction in income was due primarily to $8.7 million of after-tax benefits realized
in fiscal 2002 from the proceeds of a weather insurance policy, which was substantially offset by the following factors:
(1) a $2.5 million after-tax gain realized in fiscal year 2003 related to the sale of the headquarters property, (i) a
$3.9 million reduction in fiscal year 2003 of after-tax expenses related to uncollectible accounts and (777) a $1.7 million
after-tax charge included in fiscal year 2002 related to a transaction with a bankrupt energy trader.

Interest Expense

The explanations for changes in Washington Gas’ interest expense are substantially the same as the explanations
included in the Management’s Discussion of WGL Holdings. Those explanations are incorporated herein by reference
into this discussion.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Liquidity and capital resources for Washington Gas are substantially the same as the liquidity and capital resources
discussion included in the Management’s Discussion of WGL Holdings (except for certain items and transactions that
pertain to WGL Holdings and its unregulated subsidiaries) which, therefore, are incorporated herein by reference into
this discussion.
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REGULATORY MATTERS

During fiscal year 2004, the effect of regulatory decisions issued in fiscal years 2003 and 2004 has contributed
favorably to the Company’s overall operating results. A relatively higher contribution during the later half of the
Company’s fiscal year 2004 reflects changes in rate design that are contributing proportionately more from higher
fixed system charges that include certain of the fixed costs the Company incurs to serve customers. The earnings
effect of regulatory decisions also reflects certain accounting adjustments necessitated by the decisions.

The regulated utility bases its requests for modifying existing rates on increased net investment in plant and
equipment, higher operating expenses and the need to earn a just and reasonable return on invested capital. From
1994 through September 30, 2002, the regulated utility had not modified base rates in its major jurisdictions.
Commencing in fiscal year 2002, Washington Gas has increased the frequency for seeking rate relief to ensure its rates
reflect the underlying cost of providing utility service. The following table summarizes major rate applications and
results.

Summary of Major Rate Increase Applications and Results

Test Year
Application  Effective 12 Months Increase in Annual Allowed
Jurisdiction Filed Date Ended Revenues (Millions) Rate of Return

Requested Granted Overall Equity

District of Columbia 02/07/03  11/24/03 09/30/02 $188  9.7% $54@  28% 8.42%  10.60%
District of Columbia 06/19/01  04/09/03 12/31/00 163  68% (5.4 Q2% 883%  10.60%
®)

District of Columbia 01/14/94  08/01/94 09/30/93 173 9.0% 6.4 3.4% — —®
Maryland 03/31/03  11/06/03 12/31/02  27.2 6.8% 2.9 0.7%  861%  10.75%
Maryland 03/28/02  09/30/02 12/31/01 314 9.3% 9.3 2.8% —® —®
Maryland 06/01/94  12/01/94 03/31/94 176  5.7% 7.4 24%  979% % 11.50%
Virginia 01/27/04  10/04/04 06/30/03 196 4.7% -® -®  8.44% 10.50%
Virginia 06/14/02  11/12/02®  12/31/01 238  6.6% 9.9 2.7% 8.44% 10.50%
Virginia 04/29/94  09/27/94 12/31/93 157  6.4% 6.8 27%  972%  11.50%

@ The revenue increase includes a reduction for the effect of a $6.5 million lower level of pension and other post-retirement benefit costs that

bad been previously deferred on the balance sheet of Washington Gas as a regulatory liability. This deferral mechanism ensures that the

variation in these annual costs, when compared to the levels collected from customers, does not affect net income. Therefore, this reduction

of annual revenues for pension and other post-retirement benefit costs will be reflected as a change to the regulatory liability on the balance

sheet since the liability bad aiready been recorded. Additionally, the $5.4 million annual revenue increase includes an $800,000 per year

increase in certain expenses that are also subject to the regulatory deferral mechanism treatment. Accordingly, the total annual effect of the

Order on the Company’s pre-tax income will result in an annual increase of $11.1 miilion.

Application was settled without stipulating the return on common equity.

©  Rates were implemented as a result of a settlement agreement, The return on equity indicated in the Final Order of 11.50 percent was not
utilized to establish rates.

@ New depreciation rates effective January 1, 2002. New base rates went into effect subject to refund on November 12, 2002. Final Order
released on December 18, 2003.

©@  Rate increases went into effect, subject to refund, on February 26, 2004 under an expedited rate application. On September 27, 2004, a Final
Order was issued approving a proposed Stipulation filed by Washington Gas and other participants to resolve all issues related to this
expedited rate case. Under the approved Stipulation, Washington Gas adjusted its billing rates commencing October 4, 2004 to reflect the
level of annual revenues as determined in the previous Final Order issued on December 18, 2003 and noted in (d) above.

@)

Refer to Item 1 under the caption “Rates and Regulatory Matters” in this Form 10-K and Note 14 of the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements for a further discussion of the Company’s regulatory activities and related
contingencies.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET
RISK

The following issues related to the Company’s Market Risk are included under Item 7 and are incorporated herein
by reference into this discussion.

* Price Risk Related to Regulated Utility Operations
* Price Risk Related to Retail Energy-Marketing Operations
*  Weather Risk

* Interest-Rate Risk

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
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Years Ended September 30,

(In thousands, except per share data) 2004 2003 2002
UTILITY OPERATIONS
Operating Revenues $1,267,948  $1,301,057  $925,131
Less: Cost of gas 668,968 696,561 459,149
Revenue taxes 50,079 40,465 27,549
Utility Net Revenues 548,901 564,031 438,433
Other Operating Expenses
Operation 182,573 176,482 164,236
Maintenance 44,178 39,773 40,825
Depreciation and amortization 91,510 83,549 72,921
General taxes 36,544 37,841 34,328
Income taxes 58,463 68,633 28,702
Utility Other Operating Expenses 413,268 406,278 341,012
Utility Operating Income 135,633 157,753 97,421
NON-UTILITY OPERATIONS
Operating Revenues
Retail energy-marketing 789,859 726,231 595,866
Heating, ventilating and air conditioning (HVAC) 30,123 35,521 61,887
Other non-utility activities 1,673 1,439 1,918
Non-Utility Operating Revenues 821,655 763,191 659,671
Equity Loss in 50%-Owned Residential HVAC Investment - - (5,402)
Impairment of Residential HVAC Investment - - (9,431)
Other Operating Expenses
Operating expenses 816,172 761,540 654,573
Income taxes 2,175 168 1,725
Non-Utility Operating Expenses 818,347 761,708 656,298
Non-Utility Operating Income (Loss) 3,308 1,483 (11,460)
TOTAL OPERATING INCOME 138,941 159,236 85,961
Other Income (Expenses)—Net 3,161 807 357
INCOME BEFORE INTEREST EXPENSE 142,102 160,043 86,318
INTEREST EXPENSE
Interest on long-term debt 41,822 43,866 43,138
Other 2,323 2,515 2,739
Total Interest Expense 44,145 46,381 45,877
DIVIDENDS ON WASHINGTON GAS PREFERRED STOCK 1,320 1,320 1,320
NET INCOME (APPLICABLE TO COMMON STOCK) $ 96,637 $ 112,342 $ 39,121
AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING
Basic 48,640 48,587 48,563
Diluted 48,847 48,756 48,651
EARNINGS PER AVERAGE COMMON SHARE
Basic $ 1.99 $ 231 $ 081
Diluted $ 1.98 $ 2.30 $ 0.80
DIVIDENDS DECLARED PER COMMON SHARE S 1.2950 $ 1.2775 $ 1.2675

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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September 30,

(In thousands) 2004 2003
ASSETS
Property, Plant and Equipment
At original cost $2,667,924  $2,563,923
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (752,373) (689,000)
Net property, plant and equipment 1,915,551 1,874,923
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6,587 4,470
Receivables
Accounts receivable 158,590 171,772
Gas costs due from customers 4,099 11,368
Accrued utility revenues 16,832 15,580
Allowance for doubtful accounts (16,042) (17,543)
Net receivables 163,479 181,177
Materials and supplies—principally at average cost 15,232 12,989
Storage gas—at cost (first-in, first-out) 217,630 164,597
Deferred income taxes 13,178 11,980
Other prepayments—oprincipally taxes 12,260 26,919
Other 4,494 6,753
Total current assets 432,860 408,885
Deferred Charges and Other Assets
Regulatory assets
Gas costs 16,098 10,490
Other 45,847 52,333
Prepaid qualified pension benefits 71,869 66,753
Other 22,683 22,668
Total deferred charges and other assets 156,497 152,244
Total Assets $2,504,908 $2,436,052
CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES
Capitalization
Common shareholders’ equity $ 853,424 $ 818,218
Washington Gas Light Company preferred stock 28,173 28,173
Long-term debt 590,164 636,650
Total capitalization 1,471,761 1,483,041
Current Liabilities
Current maturities of long-term debt 60,639 12,180
Notes payable 95,634 166,662
Accounts payable 178,970 142,708
Wages payable 16,813 15,701
Accrued interest 2,781 3,027
Dividends declared 16,142 15,886
Customer deposits and advance payments 14,450 11,046
Gas costs due to customers 7,815 7,553
Accrued taxes 16,627 8,699
Other 3,040 2,612
Total current liabilities 412,911 386,074
Deferred Credits
Unamortized investment tax credits 14,944 15,841
Deferred income taxes 268,540 236,888
Accrued pensions and benefits 37,047 37,356
Regulatory liabilities
Accrued asset removal costs 251,695 230,672
Other 22,079 22,444
Other 25,931 23,736
Total deferred credits 620,236 566,937
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 14)
Total Capitalization and Liabilities $2,504,908 $2,436,052

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Years Ended September 30,

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (applicable to common stock) S 96,637 $ 112,342 $ 39,121
ADJUSTMENTS TO RECONCILE NET INCOME TO NET CASH PROVIDED BY
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Depreciation and amortization:
Per Consolidated Statements of Income 91,510 83,549 72,921
Charged to other accounts 4,735 5,724 5,001
Deferred income taxes—net 28,178 41,625 (7,391)
Amortization of investment tax credits (897) (898) 0D
Accrued/deferred pension cost (5,213) (5,159 (14,980)
Earnings from sale of carried interest in real estate (6,414) - -
Gain from sale of assets - (5,671) -
Impairment of commercial HVAC goodwill 1,500 - -
Equity loss in 50%-owned residential HVAC investment - - 5,402
Impairment of residential HVAC investment - - 9,431
Other non-cash charges (credits)—net 1,769 197 434
CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Accounts receivable and accrued utility revenues 10,429 3,352 (24,606)
Gas costs due from/to customers—net 7,531 (3,022 56,063
Storage gas (53,033) (65,510) 36,675
Other prepayments—oprincipally taxes 14,659 (13,497 6,041
Accounts payable 40,737 (2,289 21,650
Wages payable 1,112 1,353 (1,010)
Customer deposits and advance payments 3,404 (4,436) 6,825
Accrued taxes 7,928 (1,258) (3,172)
Accrued interest (246) (281) 50
Deferred purchased gas costs—net (5,608) (5,218) (3,241)
Other—net 3,847 2,881 1,007
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 242,565 143,784 205,320
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Common stock issued 50 - -
Long-term debt issued 37,800 93 130,411
Long-term debt retired (36,189) (41,903) (42,862
Debt issuance costs 879 (418) (1,055)
Notes payable issued (retired)—net (71,028) 75.797 (43,188)
Dividends on common stock (62,746) (61,948) (61,433)
Other financing activities 390 2.087 827
Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (132,602) (26,292) (17,300)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures (excludes Allowance for Funds Used During Construction) (113,439) (129,083) (162,383)
Net proceeds from sale of carried interest in real estate 6,414 - -
Net proceeds from the sale of assets - 21,300 -
50%-owned residential HVAC investment - - (3,900)
Other investing activities (821) (7,768) (31,312)
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (107,846) (115,551) (197,595)
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2,117 1,941 9,575)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 4,470 2,529 12,104
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year $ 6,587 $ 4,470 $ 2529
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Income taxes paid § 22,073 $ 45,275 $ 36,102
Interest paid § 43,355 $ 45283 $ 44,951
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Extinguishment of project debt financing $ - $ 19,707 $ 9,750

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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September 30,

(n thousands, except shares) 2004 2003
Common Shareholders’ Equity
Common stock, no par value, 120,000,000 shares authorized, 48,652,507 and
48,650,635 shares issued, respectively S 471,547 $ 471,497
Paid-in capital 3,789 2,582
Retained earnings 379,562 345,927
Deferred compensation ) (G2
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of taxes (1,469) (716)
Treasury stock—at cost, zero and 39,072 shares, respectively - (1,040)
Total Common Shareholders’ Equity 853,424 58.0% 818,218 55.2%
Preferred Stock
WGL Holdings, Inc., without par value, 3,000,000 shares authorized, none
issued - -
Washington Gas Light Company, without par value, 1,500,000 shares
authorized—issued and outstanding:
$4.80 series, 150,000 shares 15,000 15,000
$4.25 series, 70,600 shares 7,173 7,173
$5.00 series, 60,000 shares 6,000 6,000
Total Preferred Stock 28,173 1.9% 28,173 1.9%
Long-Term Debt
Washington Gas Light Company Unsecured Medium-Term Notes
Due fiscal year 2005, 7.45% 20,500 20,500
Due fiscal year 2008, 6.51% to 7.31% 45,100 45,100
Due fiscal year 2009, 5.49% to 6.92% 75,000 75,000
Due fiscal year 2010, 7.50% to 7.70% 24,000 24,000
Due fiscal year 2011, 6.64% 30,000 30,000
Due fiscal year 2012, 5.90% to 6.05% 77,000 77,000
Due fiscal year 2014, 4.88% to 5.17% 67,000 30,000
Due fiscal year 2023, 6.65% 20,000 20,000
Due fiscal year 2024, 6.95% - 36,000
Due fiscal year 2025, 6.50% to 7.76% 40,000 40,000
Due fiscal year 2026, 6.15% 50,000 50,000
Due fiscal year 2027, 6.40% to 6.82% 125,000 125,000
Due fiscal year 2028, 6.57% to 6.85% 52,000 52,000
Due fiscal year 2030, 7.50% 8,500 8,500
Total Unsecured Medium-Term Notes 634,100 633,100
Other long-term debt 16,783 16,172
Unamortized discount (80) (442)
Less—current maturities 60,639 12,180
Total Long-Term Debt 590,164 40.1% 636,650  42.9%
Total Capitalization $1,471,761 100.0% $1,483,041 100.0%

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
(In thousands, Common Stock Issued  paiq.1n  Retained Deferred Loss, Net of  Treasury
except shares) Shares Amount Capital Farnings Compensation Taxes Stock Total
Balance at
September 30, 2001 48,650,635 $471,497 $1,781 $318,111 $(275) $ - $(2,861) $ 788,253
Net income - - - 39121 - - - 39,121
Stock-based
compensation - - (136 - 155 - 566 585
Dividends declared on
common stock
($1.2675 per share) - - - (61,556) - - - (61,556)
Balance at
September 30, 2002 48,050,635 471,497 1,645 295,676 (120) - (2,295) 766,403
Net income - - - 112,342 - - - 112,342
Minimum pension
liability adjustment - - - - - 716) - (716)
Comprehensive
income 111,626
Stock-based
compensation - - 937 - 88 - 1,255 2,280
Dividends declared on
common stock
($1.2775 per share) - - - (62,09D - - - (62,09D
Balance at
September 30, 2003 48,650,635 471,497 2,582 345927 32 (716) (1,040) 818,218
Net income - - - 96,637 - - - 96,637
Minimum pension
liability adjustment - - - - - (753) - 753
Comprehensive
income 95,884
Stock-based
compensation 1,872 50 1,207 - 27 - 1,040 2,324
Dividends declared on
common stock
($1.2950 per share) - - - (63,002) - - - (63,002)
Balance at
September 30, 2004 48,652,507 $471,547 $3,789 $379,562 $ (3 $(1,469) $ —- $853,424

The accompanying nofes are an integral part of these statements.
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Years Ended September 30,

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002
INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Charged to utility operating expenses
Current $29,389 $30,841 $30,978
Deferred
Accelerated depreciation 28,291 26,997 26,078
Deferred gas costs 355 1,010 (21,243)
Pensions and other employee benefit costs 2,627 976 2,450
Least-cost planning costs (976) (1,244 (722)
Inventory overheads ®) 10,700 (1,649)
Losses/gains on reacquired debt 211 (181) 9
Other (528) 432 (6,298)
Total Deferred Income Tax Expense 29,971 38,690 1,37%)
Amortization of investment tax credits (897) (898) 901
58,463 68,633 28,702
Charged to non-utility operating expenses
Current 2,148 (1,731 4,647
Deferred 27 1,899 (2,922)
2,175 168 1,725
Charged to other income (expenses)-net
Current 2,084 (1,869) 4,544
Deferred (1,820) 1,036 (3,094)
264 (833) 1,450
Total Income Tax Expense $60,902 $67,968 $31,877
Years Ended September 30,
(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002
RECONCILIATION BETWEEN THE STATUTORY FEDERAL INCOME
TAX RATE AND THE EFFECTIVE TAX RATE
Income taxes at statutory federal income tax rate $55,601 35.00% $63,571 35.00% $25,311 35.00%
Increases (decreases) in income taxes resulting from:
Accelerated depreciation less amount deferred 1,586 1.00 2,149 1.18 2,528 3.50
Amortization of investment tax credits 897) (0.56) (898) 0.49 90D (1.25)
Cost of removal (478) (0.30) (870) (0.48) (1,077 (1.49)
State income taxes-net of federal benefit 6,663 4.19 9,146 5.04 2,218 3.07
Change in valuation allowance (1,960) (1.23) (2,446)  (1.35) 5,216 7.21
Medicare D subsidy (925)  (0.58) - - - -
Other items-net 1,312 0.82 (2,684) (1.48) (1,418) a.97)
Total Income Tax Expense and Effective Tax Rate $60,902  38.34% $67,968  37.42% $31,877  44.07%
At September 30,
(In thousands) 2004 2003
ACCUMULATED DEFERRED INCOME TAXES Current Non-current Current Non-current
Deferred Income Tax Assets:
Pensions and other employee benefit costs $ 4,888 $ (12,869) $4,778 $ (10,064)
Uncollectible accounts 5,631 - 6,177 -
Inventory overheads 2,295 - 2,286 -
Capital gains/losses-net 2,041 - 4,001 -
Valuation allowance (2,041) - (4,001) -
Compensation & benefits - 9,033 - 7,673
Customer advances - 3,197 - 2,546
Capitalized interest - 2,340 - 2,027
Other 812 1,484 564 4,552
Total Assets 13,626 3,185 13,805 6,734
Deferred Income Tax Liabilities:
Accelerated depreciation - 252,937 - 227,162
Losses/gains on reacquired debt - 3,028 - 2,817
Construction overheads - 1,710 - 1,865
Income taxes recoverable through future rates - 10,190 - 7,331
Deferred gas costs 448 4,343 1,825 2,861
Least-cost planning costs - 2,096 - 3,072
Other - (2,579 - (1,486)
Total Liabilities 448 271,725 1,825 243,622
Net Accumulated Deferred Income Tax Assets (Liabilities) $13,178 $(268,540) $11,980 $(236,888)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Years Ended September 30,

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002
UTILITY OPERATIONS
Operating Revenues $1,293,675  $1,313,039  $938,804
Less: Cost of gas 694,639 708,543 472,823
Revenue taxes 50,079 40,465 27,549
Utility Net Revenues 548,957 564,031 438,432
Other Operating Expenses
Operation 184,860 178,239 166,305
Maintenance 43,663 39,459 40,595
Depreciation and amortization 90,809 82,866 72,254
General taxes 36,121 37,652 34,013
Income taxes 58,212 68,416 28,263
Utility Other Operating Expenses 413,665 406,632 341,430
Utility Operating Income 135,292 157,399 97,002
NON-UTILITY OPERATIONS
Operating Revenues
Other non-utility 1,523 1,512 1,819
Non-Utility Operating Revenues 1,523 1,512 1,819
Other Operating Expenses
Operating expenses (income) 912) 9 7,645
Income tax expense (benefit) 128 591 (2,262)
Non-Utility Operating Expenses (Income) (784) 600 5,383
Non-Utility Operating Income (Loss) 2,307 912 (3,564)
TOTAL OPERATING INCOME 137,599 158,311 93,438
Other Income (Expenses)—Net 2,132 662) 561
INCOME BEFORE INTEREST EXPENSE 139,731 157,649 93,999
INTEREST EXPENSE
Interest on long-term debt 41,822 43 866 43,138
Other 1,319 2,885 2,174
Total Interest Expense 43,141 46,751 45,312
NET INCOME (BEFORE PREFERRED STOCK DIVIDENDS) 96,590 119,898 48,687
DIVIDENDS ON PREFERRED STOCK 1,320 1,320 1,320
NET INCOME (APPLICABLE TO COMMON STOCK) $ 95,270 $ 109,578 $ 47,367

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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September 30,

(In thousands) 2004 2003
ASSETS
Property, Plant and Equipment
At original cost $2,642,815 $2,539,397
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (733,894) (671,990)
Net property, plant and equipment 1,908,921 1,867,407
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3,398 4,119
Receivables
Accounts receivable 66,602 69,455
Gas costs due from customers 4,099 11,368
Accrued utility revenues 16,832 15,580
Allowance for doubtful accounts (13,202) (15,826)
Net receivables 74,331 80,577
Materials and supplies—principally at average cost 15,068 12,825
Storage gas—at cost (first-in, first-out) 165,196 124,416
Deferred income taxes 11,654 10,957
Other prepayments—principally taxes 9,749 19,089
Receivables from associated companies 887 -
Total current assets 280,283 251,983
Deferred Charges and Other Assets
Regulatory assets
Gas costs 16,098 10,490
Other 45,847 52,333
Prepaid qualified pension benefits 71,511 66,420
Other 21,757 19,784
Total deferred charges and other assets 155,213 149,027
Total Assets $2,344,417 $2,268,417
CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES
Capitalization
Common shareholder’s equity $ 811,632 $ 778,502
Preferred stock 28,173 28,173
Long-term debt 590,156 636,614
Total capitalization 1,429,961 1,443,289
Current Liabilities
Current maturities of long-term debt 60,611 12,100
Notes payable 18,699 65,226
Accounts payable 123,463 111,001
‘Wages payable 16,714 15,623
Accrued interest 2,781 3,027
Dividends declared 16,142 15,886
Customer deposits and advance payments 14,450 11,046
Gas costs due to customers 7,815 7,553
Accrued taxes 13,422 6,426
Payables to associated companies 19,092 10,026
Other 622 1,496
Total current liabilities 293,811 259,410
Deferred Credits
Unamortized investment tax credits 14,926 15,818
Deferred income taxes 270,908 237,483
Accrued pensions and benefits 36,954 37,264
Regulatory liabilities
Accrued asset removal costs 251,695 230,672
Other 22,069 22,431
Other 24,093 22,050
Total deferred credits 620,645 565,718
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 14)
Total Capitalization and Liabilities $2,344,417 $2,268,417

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Years Ended September 30,

(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net Income (before preferred stock dividends) $ 96,590 $ 110,398 $ 48,687
ADJUSTMENTS TO RECONCILE NET INCOME TO NET CASH PROVIDED BY
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Depreciation and amortization .
Per Statements of Income 90,809 82,3866 72,254
Charged to other accounts 4,339 5,030 3917
Deferred income taxes—net 30,364 37,165 (3,714
Amortization of investment tax credits (892) (893) (895)
Accrued/deferred pension cost (5,198) (5,118) (14,980)
Gain from sale of assets - (4,138) -
Other non-cash charges (credits)—net 1,769 197 61
CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Accounts receivable, accrued utility revenues and receivables from associated
companies (1,910) 349 6,323
Gas costs due from/to customers—net 7,531 (3,022) 56,063
Storage gas (40,780) (55,209 40,467
Other prepayments—principally taxes 9,340 (10,773 8,325
Accounts payable, including payables to associated companies 26,003 31,940 (6,735
Wages payable 1,091 1,341 (646)
Customer deposits and advance payments 3,404 (4,436) 6,825
Accrued taxes 6,996 (794) (1,144
Accrued interest (246) 281) 46
Deferred purchased gas costs—net (5,608) (5,218) (3,241
Other—net 627) 6,595 4,790
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 222,975 186,499 216,081
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Long-term debt issued 37,800 - 130,338
Long-term debt retired (36,109) (41,669) (42,600)
Debt issuance costs (879) 418) (1,055)
Paid-in capital - - 20,186
Notes payable issued (retired)-—net (46,527) 39,521 (73,019
Dividends on common and preferred stock (64,065) (63,260) (62,738)
Other financing activities 270) 1,296 282
Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (110,050) (64,530) (28,606)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures (excludes Allowance for Funds Used During Construction) (112,825) (128,468) (161,230)
Net proceeds from sale of assets - 16,000 -
Other investing activities (821) (8,019) (31,145)
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (113,646) (120,487 (192,375)
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (721) 1,482 (4,900)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 4,119 2,637 7,537
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year S 3,398 $ 4,119 $ 2,637
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Income taxes paid S 16,665 $ 41,706 $ 34,867
Interest paid $ 42,352 $ 44,608 $ 44,326
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF NON-CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
Extinguishment of project debt financing $ - $ 19,707 $ 9,750

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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September 30,

(In thousands, except shares) 2004 2003
Common Shareholder’s Equity
Common stock, $1 par value, 80,000,000 shares authorized, 46,479,536
shares issued $ 46,479 $ 46,479
Paid-in capital 452,400 450,813
Retained earnings 314,227 281,958
Deferred compensation ) 32)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of taxes (1,469) (716)
Total Common Shareholder’s Equity 811,632 56.7% 778,502 53.9%
Preferred Stock
Washington Gas Light Company, without par value, 1,500,000 shares
authorized—issued and outstanding:
$4.80 series, 150,000 shares 15,000 15,000
$4.25 series, 70,600 shares 7,173 7,173
$5.00 series, 60,000 shares 6,000 6,000
Total Preferred Stock 28,173 2.0% 28,173 2.0%
Long-Term Debt
Washington Gas Light Company Unsecured Medium-Term Notes
Due fiscal year 2005, 7.45% 20,500 20,500
Due fiscal year 2008, 6.51% to 7.31% 45,100 45,100
Due fiscal year 2009, 5.49% to 6.92% 75,000 75,000
Due fiscal year 2010, 7.50% to 7.70% 24,000 24,000
Due fiscal year 2011, 6.64% 30,000 30,000
Due fiscal year 2012, 5.90% to 6.05% 77,000 77,000
Due fiscal year 2014, 4.88% to 5.17% 67,000 30,000
Due fiscal year 2023, 6.65% 20,000 20,000
Due fiscal year 2024, 6.95% - 36,000
Due fiscal year 2025, 6.50% to 7.76% 40,000 40,000
Due fiscal year 2026, 6.15% 50,000 50,000
Due fiscal year 2027, 6.40% to 6.82% 125,000 125,000
Due fiscal year 2028, 6.57% to 6.85% 52,000 52,000
Due fiscal year 2030, 7.50% 8,500 8,500
Total Unsecured Medium-Term Notes 634,100 633,100
Other long-term debt 16,747 16,056
Unamortized discount (80) (442)
Less—current maturities 60,611 12,100
Total Long-Term Debt 590,156 41.3% 636,614 44.1%
Total Capitalization $1,429,961 100.0% $1,443,289 100.0%

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Accumulated
Common Stock Other .
Issued Comprehensive
Paid-In  Retained Deferred Loss, Net of
(In thousands, except shares) Shares  Amount Capital Earnings Compensation Taxes Total
Balance at September 30, 2001 46,479,536 $ 46,479 $ 429,050 $ 248,632 $(275) $ - $ 723,886
Net income - - - 48,687 - - 48,687
Common stock expense
adjustment - - 15 - - - 15
Stock-based compensation® - - 267 - 155 - 422
Capital contributed by WGL
Holdings - - 20,186 - - - 20,186
Dividends declared:
Common stock
($1.2675 per share) - - - (61,556) - - (61,556)
Preferred stock - - - (1,320 - - (1,320)
Balance at September 30, 2002 46,479,536 46,479 449,518 234,443 (120) - 730,320
Net income - - - 110,898 - - 110,898
Minimum pension liability
adjustment - - - - - 716) 716)
Comprehensive income 110,182
Stock-based compensation™ - - 1,295 - 88 - 1,383
Dividends declared:
Common stock
($1.2775 per share) - - - (62,063) - - (62,063)
Preferred stock - - - (1,320) - - (1,320)
Balance at September 30, 2003 46,479,536 46,479 450,813 281,958 (32 (716) 778,502
Net income - - - 96,590 - - 96,590
Minimum pension liability
adjustment - - - - - (753) (753)
Comprehensive income 95,837
Stock-based compensation® - - 1,587 - 27 - 1,614
Dividends declared:
Common stock
($1.2950 per share) - - - (63,00D - - (63,001
Preferred stock - - - (1,320 - - (1,320)
Balance at September 30, 2004 49,479,536 $46,479 $452,400 $314,227 $ (5 $(1,469) $811,632

@ Stock-based compensation s based on the stock awards of WGL Holdings, Inc. that are allocated to Washington Gas Light Company for its
pro-rata share.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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Years Ended September 30,

(n thousands) 2004 2003 2002
INCOME TAX EXPENSE
Charged to utility operating expenses
Current $29,134 $30,682 $30,499
Deferred
Accelerated depreciation 28,293 26,955 26,141
Deferred gas costs 355 1,010 (21,243)
Pensions and other employee benefit costs 2,623 954 2,419
Least-cost planning costs 976) (1,244) (722)
Inventory overheads (&) 10,700 (1,649)
Losses/gains on reacquired debt 211 (181) 9
Other (527 433 (6,296)
Total Deferred Income Tax Expense 29,970 38,627 (1,341)
Amortization of investment tax credits (892) (893) (895)
58,212 68,416 28,263
Charged to non-utility operating expenses
Current (391) (1,130 125
Deferred 519 1,721 (2,387)
128 591 (2,262)
Charged to other income (expenses)-net
Current (4,671 2,343 1,843
Deferred a2s5) (3,183 14
(4,796) (840) 1,857
Total Income Tax Expense $53,544  $68,167 527,858
Years Ended September 30,
(In thousands) 2004 2003 2002
RECONCILIATION BETWEEN THE STATUTORY FEDERAL INCOME
TAX RATE AND THE EFFECTIVE TAX RATE
Income taxes at statutory federal income tax rate $52,547 35.00% $62,673 35.00% $26,791 35.00%
Increases (decreases) in income taxes resulting from:
Accelerated depreciation less amount deferred 1,586 1.06 2,149 1.20 2,528 3.30
Amortization of investment tax credits (892) (0.59) (893) (0.50) (895) (1.17)
Cost of removal (478) (0.32) (870) (0.49) Q,077) (1.41)
State income taxes-net of federal benefit 6,138 4.09 8,552 4.78 1,665 2.18
Consolidated tax sharing allocation (5,261) (3.50) (355) (0.20) (1,140) (1.50)
Medicare D subsidy (925) (0.62) - - - -
Other items-net 829 0.54 (3,089 (1.72) (149 ©.0D
Total Income Tax Expense and Effective Tax Rate $53,544 35.66% $68,167 38.07% $27,858 36.39%
At September 30,
@n thousands) 2004 2003
ACCUMUILATED DEFERRED INCOME TAXES Current Non-current Current Non-current
Deferred Income Tax Assets:
Pensions and other employee benefit costs S 4,840 $ (12,775) $ 4,765 $ (9,973
Uncollectible accounts 4,502 - 5,264 -
Inventory overheads 2,295 - 2,286 -
Compensation and benefits - 8,894 - 7,458
Customer advances - 3,177 - 2,526
Capitalized interest - 2,340 - 2,027
Other 812 1,473 564 4,352
Total Assets 12,449 3,109 12,879 6,390
Deferred Income Tax Liabilities;
Accelerated depreciation - 252,958 - 227,200
Losses /gains on reacquired debt - 3,028 - 2,817
Construction overheads - 1,720 - 1,882
Income taxes recoverable through future rates - 10,200 - 7,343
Deferred gas costs 795 4,343 1,922 2,861
Least-cost planning costs - 2,096 - 3,072
Other - (328) - (1,302)
Total Liabilities 795 274,017 1,922 243,873
Net Accumulated Deferred Income Tax Assets (Liabilities) $11,654 $(270,908) $10,957 $(237,483)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

GENERAL

WGL Holdings, Inc. (WGL Holdings or the Company) is a holding company that was established on November 1,
2000 under the Public Utility Holding Company Act of 1935. WGL Holdings owns all of the shares of common stock
of Washington Gas Light Company (Washington Gas or the regulated utility), a regulated natural gas utility, and all of
the shares of common stock of Crab Run Gas Company, Hampshire Gas Company (Hampshire) and Washington Gas
Resources Corporation (Washington Gas Resources). Washington Gas Resources owns all of the shares of common
stock of various unregulated, energy-related businesses. Until October 15, 2002, the Company held a 50-percent equity
investment in Primary Investors, LLC (Primary Investors) (refer to Note 2—Disposition of Limited Liability Company
Investment).

NATURE OF OPERATIONS

The Company’s core business is the delivery and sale of natural gas through its regulated utility, Washington Gas.
The Company also offers retail energy-related products and services that are closely related to its core business. The
majority of these energy-related activities are performed by wholly owned unregulated subsidiaries of Washington Gas
Resources.

Washington Gas is a regulated public utility that delivers and sells natural gas to approximately one million
customers primarily in Washington, D.C., and the surrounding metropolitan areas in Maryland and Virginia. Deliveries
to firm residential and commercial customers accounted for 80.5 percent of the total therms delivered by Washington
Gas in fiscal year 2004, deliveries to interruptible customers accounted for 17.0 percent, and deliveries to customers
who use natural gas to generate electricity accounted for 2.5 percent. Washington Gas does not depend on any one
customer or group of customers to derive income. Hampshire operates an underground gas storage facility that
provides services exclusively to Washington Gas. Hampshire is regulated under a cost of service tariff by the Federal
Energy Regulatory Commission (FERC).

Washington Gas Resources owns the Company’s unregulated subsidiaries. These unregulated operations include
retail energy-marketing provided by Washington Gas Energy Services (WGEServices), as well as commercial heating,
ventilating and air conditioning (HVAC) products and services provided by American Combustion Industries, Inc.
(ACD and Washington Gas Energy Systems, Inc. (WGESystems).

CONSOLIDATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries during the
periods reported. Intercompany transactions have been eliminated. Certain amounts in financial statements of prior
years have been reclassified to conform to the presentation of the current fiscal year.

USE OF ESTIMATES IN THE PREPARATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

In accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the United States of America (GAAP),
management makes certain estimates and assumptions regarding: (7) reported amounts of assets and liabilities;
(71) disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and (7i7) reported amounts of
revenues, revenues subject to refund, and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those
estimates.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment (principally utility plant) are stated at original cost, including labor, materials,
taxes and overhead. The cost of utility and other plant of the regulated utility includes an allowance for funds used
during construction (AFUDC) that is calculated under a formula prescribed by the FERC. The regulated utility
capitalizes AFUDC as a component of construction overhead. The 2004, 2003 and 2002 before-tax rates for AFUDC
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were 1.98 percent, 1.76 percent, and 4.4 percent, respectively. The regulated utility capitalized AFUDC of $94,700
during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004, excluding offsets of $20,000 representing adjustments to AFUDC for
items such as small projects that were discontinued and expensed. Capitalized AFUDC for fiscal years 2003 and 2002
was $193,600 and $329,000, respectively, excluding offsets of $206,000 and $362,000.

Washington Gas accrues estimated non-legal asset removal costs through depreciation expense, with a corre-
sponding credit to “‘Regulatory liabilities—Accrued asset removal costs.” Additionally, when Washington Gas retires
depreciable utility plant and equipment, it charges the associated original costs to “Accumulated depreciation and
amortization” and any related non-legal removal costs incurred are charged to ‘“‘Regulatory liabilities—Accrued asset
removal costs.”” In the rate setting process, the liability for non-legal asset removal costs is treated as a reduction to the
net rate base upon which the regulated utility has the opportunity to earn its allowed rate of return.

The Company’s regulated utility charges maintenance and repairs to operating expenses, except those charges
applicable to transportation and power-operated equipment, which it allocates to operating expenses, construction
and other accounts based on the use of the equipment. The Company’s regulated utility capitalizes betterments and
renewal costs, and calculates depreciation applicable to its utility gas plant in service primarily using a straight-line
method over the estimated remaining life of the plant. The composite depreciation and amortization rate of the
regulated utility was 3.48 percent, 3.20 percent and 2.93 percent for fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.
Such rates include the component related to non-legal asset removal costs. The Company’s regulated utility
periodically reviews the adequacy of its depreciation rates by considering estimated remaining lives and other factors.
Refer to Note 14—Commitments and Contingencies for a discussion of depreciation-related contingencies.

At both September 30, 2004 and 2003, 99.7 percent of the Company’s consolidated original cost of property,
plant and equipment was related to the regulated utility segment as shown below.

Property, Plant and Equipment at Original Cost

At September 30, 2004 2003
{n millions) Dollars % Dollars %
Regulated utility property
Distribution, transmission and storage $2,376.5 89.1 $2,297.6 89.6
General, miscellaneous and intangibles 247.5 9.3 229.3 89
Construction work in progress (CWIP) 36.1 1.3 29.4 1.2
Total regulated utility property 2,660.1 99.7 2,556.3 99.7
Unregulated property 7.8 0.3 7.6 0.3
Total $2,667.9 100.0 $2,563.9 100.0

REGULATED OPERATIONS

Washington Gas accounts for its regulated operations in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 71, Accounting for the Effects of Certain Types of Regulation, as amended and supplemented.
This standard includes accounting principles for companies whose rates are determined by independent third-party
regulators. When setting rates, regulators often make decisions, the economics of which require companies to record
costs as expense (or defer costs or revenues) in different periods than may be appropriate for unregulated enterprises.
When this situation occurs, the regulated utility defers the associated costs as assets (regulatory assets) on the balance
sheet, and records them as expenses on the income statement as it collects revenues through customers’ rates.
Further, regulators can also impose liabilities upon a company for amounts previously collected from customers, and
for recovery of costs that are expected to be incurred in the future (regulatory liabilities).
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At September 30, 2004 and 2003, the regulated utility had recorded the following regulatory assets and liabilities
on the Balance Sheets. These assets and liabilities will be recognized as revenues and expenses in future periods as
they are reflected in customers’ rates.

Regulatory Assets and Liabilities

Regulatory Regulatory
(In millions) Assets Liabilities
At September 30, 2004 2003 2004 2003
Accrued asset removal costs (Note 1) s - $ - $251.7 $230.7
Income tax-related amounts due from/to customers 18.1 16.6 7.9 9.3
Least-cost planning costs 5.9 8.8 - -
Losses on reacquired debt 7.7 7.1 - -
Other post-retirement benefit costs (Note 11) 6.4 6.6 - -
Gas costs due:
From customers 4.1 11.4 - -
To customers - - 7.8 7.6
Deferred pension costs/income (Note 11) - 4.2 5.4 8.1
Deferred gain on sale of assets - - 4.5 -
Deferred regulatory and other expenses 1.9 2.6 4. 5.0
Deferred gas costs and pipeline supplier fees 16.1 10.5 - -
Environmental response costs (Note 13) 2.6 4.3 - -
Rights-of-way fees and other 3.2 21 - -
Total $66.0 $74.2 $281.6 $260.7

Regulatory assets are reported on the Balance Sheets under the captions ‘“Regulatory assets—Gas costs,”
“Regulatory assets—Other’’ and ‘“Gas costs due from customers.” Regulatory liabilities are reported on the Balance
Sheets under the captions “‘Regulatory liabilities—Accrued asset removal costs,” “‘Regulatory liabilities—Other” and
“Gas costs due to customers.” With the exception of “‘Gas costs due from customers” and “Regulatory assets—Gas
costs,” there are no material regulatory assets that reflect an outlay of cash by Washington Gas for which Washington
Gas does not earn its overall rate of return. Washington Gas is allowed to recover and is required to pay, using short-
term interest rates, the carrying costs related to gas costs due from and to its customers in the District of Columbia and
Virginia jurisdictions.

As required by SFAS No. 71, Washington Gas monitors its regulatory and competitive environment to determine
whether the recovery of its regulatory assets continues to be probable. If Washington Gas were to determine that
recovery of these assets is no longer probable, it would write off the assets against earnings. The Company believes
that SFAS No. 71 continues to apply to its regulated operations, and the recovery of its regulatory assets is probable.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

WGL Holdings considers all investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
The Company did not have any restrictions on its cash balances that would impact the payment of dividends by WGL
Holdings or its subsidiaries as of September 30, 2004.

REVENUE AND COST RECOGNITION
Utility Operations
Revenues. For regulated deliveries of natural gas, Washington Gas reads meters and bills customers on a cycle
basis. It accrues revenues for gas delivered, but not yet billed, at the end of the accounting period. Such revenues are

recognized as unbilled revenues that are adjusted in subsequent periods when actual meter readings are taken.
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Cost of Gas. The regulated utility’s jurisdictional tariffs contain mechanisms that provide for the recovery of
the cost of gas paid to suppliers on behalf of firm customers. Under these mechanisms, the regulated utility
periodically adjusts its firm customers’ rates to reflect increases and decreases in the cost of gas paid to suppliers.
Annually, the regulated utility reconciles the difference between the total gas costs collected from firm customers and
the total gas costs paid to suppliers. The regulated utility defers any excess or deficiency and either recovers it from, or
refunds it to, customers over a subsequent twelve-month period. The balance sheet captions “Gas costs due from
customers,” “‘Gas costs due to customers” and ‘‘Regulatory assets—gas costs” reflect amounts related to these
reconciliations.

Transportation Gas Imbalance. Interruptible shippers and third-party marketer shippers transport gas on
the pipeline facilities of the regulated utility as part of the unbundled services offered by the regulated utility. The
delivered volumes of gas from third-party shippers often do not equal the volumes delivered out of the pipeline system
to the customers, resulting in a transportation gas imbalance. These imbalances are usually short-term in duration, and
the regulated utility monitors the activity and regularly notifies the shippers when their accounts have an imbalance.
In accordance with regulatory treatment, Washington Gas does not record assets or liabilities associated with gas
volumes related to these transportation imbalances but, rather, reflects the economic impact in its actual cost
adjustment balance calculations eliminating any profit or loss that would occur as a result of the imbalance.

The regulated utility also engages an asset manager to operate its pipeline and storage capacity, and to assist in the
acquisition of natural gas supply. From time to time, the asset manager will utilize the upstream pipeline capacity
reserved by the regulated utility and the capacity from the regulated utility’s own pipeline system for its own
purposes. The regulated utitity also designates portions of its pipeline, peaking and storage capacity to third-party
marketers, under a program approved by relevant regulatory bodies, in connection with its unbundling and customer
choice programs.

Non-Utility Operations

Retail Energy-Marketing. WGEServices, the Company’s retail energy-marketing subsidiary, sells natural gas
and electricity on an unregulated basis to residential, commercial and industrial customers both inside and outside the
Washington Gas service territory.

WGEServices enters into indexed or fixed-rate contracts with residential, commercial and industrial customers,
for sales of natural gas. Customer contracts, which have terms of up to 36 months, allow WGEServices to bill
customers based upon metered gas usage at customer premises or quantities delivered to the local utility, either of
which may vary by month. WGEServices recognizes revenue based on contractual billing amounts plus an accrual for
gas delivered and unbilled.

WGEServices' electric commodity contracts are full requirements contracts in which the wholesale energy
suppliers from whom WGEServices purchases electricity are responsible for each customer’s full metered electricity
usage. WGEServices recognizes revenue based on electricity delivered and billed to customers, and accrues revenue
for electric volumes delivered, but not yet billed, at the end of the accounting period. WGEServices recognizes
electricity costs based on the same volumetric estimates that it uses to record revenue. These estimates later are
actualized to the customers’ final metered usage (refer to Note 14—Commitments and Contingencies for a further
discussion of an electric supplier contract).

Heating, Ventilating and Air Conditioning. Two unregulated subsidiaries, ACI and WGESystems, design and
renovate mechanical HVAC systems for commercial and governmental customers under construction contracts. The
Company recognizes income for all contracts using the percentage-of-completion method.

RATE REFUNDS DUE TO CUSTOMERS

If Washington Gas were to file a request with a state regulatory commission to modify customers’ rates, the
regulated utility could, depending on the jurisdiction, charge customers the new rates until the regulatory commission
renders a final decision. During this interim period, the regulated utility would potentially record a provision for a rate
refund based on the difference between the amount it collected in rates subject to refund and the amount it expected
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to recover pending the final regulatory decision. Similarly, Washington Gas periodically records provisions for rate
refunds related to other transactions of the regulated utility. Actual results for these regulatory contingencies are
difficult to predict and could differ significantly from the estimates reflected in the financial statements. When
necessary, in management’s judgment, Washington Gas establishes an estimated refund to customers. Refer to
Note 14—Commitments and Contingencies for a further discussion of the Company’s regulatory matters and related
contingencies.

REACQUISITION OF LONG-TERM DEBT

Washington Gas defers gains or losses resulting from the reacquisition of long-term debt for financial reporting
purposes, and amortizes them over future periods as adjustments to interest expense in accordance with established
regulatory practice. For income tax purposes, Washington Gas recognizes these gains and losses when they are
incurred.

WEATHER INSURANCE POLICY

Effective October 1, 2000, Washington Gas purchased a five-year weather insurance policy to minimize the impact
of warmer-than-normal weather on the Company’s financial results. On an annual basis that begins on October 1 and
ends on September 30 of each year during the five-year term of the policy, the regulated utility receives $32,000 for
every heating degree day (HDD) below the normal level of HDDs stated in the policy. Washington Gas cannot be paid
for more than 515 HDDs per fiscal year, subject to certain limitations. Furthermore, the regulated utility cannot be
paid for more than 1,295 HDDs over the entire five-year policy life.

Washington Gas pays an annual premium of $4.25 million for the weather insurance policy and spreads the
premium cost during the year on the basis of the estimated normal HDDs that are expected in each month of the year.
Using this method of accounting for the insurance premium causes approximately 90 percent of the annual premium
to be recorded during the first and second quarters of the fiscal year.

At any point in time during the fiscal year, benefits derived from the policy are recorded in WGL Holdings’
Consolidated Statements of Income for the cumulative number of HDDs that are warmer than normal, multiplied by
$32,000, with an assumption of normal weather for the remainder of the fiscal year. As a result, income from the
policy recorded in one interim accounting period can be reduced or even eliminated in a subsequent interim
accounting period. The benefits derived from the policy in any one fiscal year cannot be eliminated in a subsequent
fiscal year other than to reduce the remaining number of HDDs that can be utilized over the five-year term of the
policy.

In fiscal years 2004 and 2003, weather was colder than normal and Washington Gas realized no benefits from this
insurance. In fiscal year 2002, the regulated utility recorded $14.8 million of pre-tax income from the policy as the
weather from October 1, 2001 through September 30, 2002 was 462 HDDs warmer than the normal HDDs, as defined
by the terms of the policy. This income from the policy was accrued in fiscal year 2002, and cash was subsequently
received in October 2002 from the underwriter of the insurance policy.

The weather insurance policy is accounted for under the guidelines issued by the Emerging Issues Task Force
(EITF) of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) in Issue No. 99-2. Washington Gas records both the benefits
and the expense of the insurance in “Other income (expenses)—net’ in the Statements of Income. The premium
expense and any benefits that are derived from the weather insurance policy are not considered in establishing the
retail rates of the regulated utility.

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

The revenues of the regulated utility segment accounted for approximately 61.9 percent of WGL Holdings’ total
consolidated revenues. There is a relatively low concentration of credit risk in the regulated utility with respect to its
customer base due to the large number of customers, none of which are singularly large as a percentage of the
regulated utility’s total customer base. Certain suppliers that sell gas to Washington Gas have either relatively low
credit ratings or are not rated by major credit rating agencies. A supplier’s failure to deliver contracted volumes of gas
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may cause the regulated utility to replace those volumes at prevailing market prices, which may be higher than the
original transaction prices, and pass these costs through to its sales customers under the purchase gas cost adjustment
mechanisms.

The concentration of credit risk for WGEServices’ retail energy-marketing business as it relates to the size of its
customer base is very similar to the credit risk associated with the regulated utility. The retail energy-marketing
business purchases natural gas and electricity from certain suppliers that have low credit ratings or are not rated by
major credit rating agencies. This presents a risk to the extent a supplier does not deliver gas or electricity under the
terms of its contract and the retail energy-marketing company has to repurchase energy at a higher cost. In July 2003,
the principal supplier of electricity to WGEServices filed for bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11 of the
Bankruptcy Code but has, to date, continued to honor its supply obligations to WGEServices. Refer to Note 14—
Commitments and Contingencies for a further discussion of the credit risk associated with WGEServices’ electric
supplier contract.

DERIVATIVE ACTIVITIES

The Company applies the accounting guidelines of SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities, as amended by SFAS No. 138, Accounting for Certain Derivative Instruments and Certain
Hedging Activities and SFAS No. 149, Amendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities (collectively referred to as SFAS No. 133). SFAS No. 133 requires derivative instruments, including derivative
instruments embedded in certain contracts, to be recorded at fair value as either an asset or a liability. Changes in the
derivative’s fair value are recorded in earnings, unless the derivative meets specific hedge accounting criteria. If the
derivative is designated as a fair value hedge, the changes in the fair value of the derivative and the hedged item are
recognized in earnings. If the derivative is designated as a cash flow hedge, changes in the fair value of the derivative
generally are recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) and recognized in income when the hedged item affects
earnings. Additionally in accordance with SFAS No. 133, the Company formally documents, designates and assesses the
effectiveness of derivatives that are accounted for as hedging instruments. For those derivatives that are associated
with activities of the regulated utility whose costs are likely to be recovered from or refunded to customers in future
periods, the corresponding fair value is recorded as a regulatory asset or a regulatory liability, subject to SFAS No. 71,
rather than through earnings or other comprehensive income (loss).

The Company enters into forward contracts and other related transactions for the purchase of natural gas. A
majority of these contracts qualify as normal purchases and sales, and are exempt from the accounting requirements of
SFAS No. 133. Contracts that qualify as derivative instruments under SFAS No. 133 are recorded on the balance sheet at
fair value.

From time to time, Washington Gas utilizes derivative instruments that are designed to minimize interest-rate risk
associated with planned issuances of Medium-Term Notes (MTNs). The interest costs associated with issuing MTNs
reflect spreads over comparable maturity U.S. Treasury vields. Such spreads take into account credit quality, maturity
and other factors.

Refer to Note 6—Derivative Instruments for a further discussion of these transactions.

INCOME TAXES

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income ITaxes. Under
SFAS No. 109, the Company recognizes deferred income taxes for all temporary differences between the financial
statement and tax basis of assets and liabilities at currently enacted income tax rates.

SFAS No. 109 also requires recognition of the additional deferred income tax assets and liabilities for temporary
differences where regulators prohibit deferred income tax treatment for ratemaking purposes of the regulated utility.
Regulatory assets or liabilities corresponding to such additional deferred income tax assets or liabilities may be
recorded to the extent the Company believes they will be recoverable from or payable to customers through the
ratemaking process. Refer to the table under “Regulated Operations” above that depicts the regulated utility’s
regulatory assets and liabilities associated with income taxes due from and to customers at September 30, 2004 and
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2003. Amounts applicable to income taxes due from and due to customers primarily represent differences between
the book and tax basis of net utility plant in service.

The Company amortizes investment tax credits as reductions to income tax expense over the estimated service
lives of the related properties.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

As permitted by SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, as amended by SFAS No. 148,
Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure, the Company applies Accounting Principles
Board Opinion (APB) No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and related interpretations in accounting for
its stock-based compensation plans. In accordance with APB No. 25, the Company does not record compensation
expense related to its stock option grants. The Company records compensation expense for performance shares
awarded to certain key employees. If compensation expense for stock options had been determined and recorded
based on fair value at their grant dates consistent with the method prescribed by SFAS No. 123, as amended, the
Company’s net income and earnings per share would have been reduced to the amounts shown in the following table.

Pro Forma Effect of Stock Options

Years Ended September 30,

(In thousands, except per share data) 2004 2003 2002
Net Income As Reported $96,637 $112,342  $39,121
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in

reported net income, net of tax®@ 1,225 1,078 528
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense

determined under the fair value-based method, net of tax (1,656) (1,425) (902)
Pro Forma Net Income $96,206 $111,995  $38,747

Earnings per average common share—basic

As reported $ 199 $ 231 § 081

Pro forma $ 198 $ 231 § 0.80
Earnings per average common share—diluted

As reported $ 198 $ 230 $ 0.80

Pro forma $ 197 $ 230 $ 080

@ Reflects compensation expense related to performance shares.

RECENT ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Effective March 31, 2004, the Company adopted SFAS No. 132 (revised 2003), Employers’ Disclosure about
Pensions and Otber Postretirement Benefits, which amends SFAS No. 87, Employers’ Accounting for Pensions, SFAS
No. 88, Employers’ Accounting for Settlements and Curtailments of Defined Benefit Pension Plans and for
Termination Benefits, and SFAS No. 106, Employers’ Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions,
and replaces SFAS No. 132, Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and Otber Postretirement Benefits (collectively
referred to as “‘SFAS No. 132 (revised)’”). SFAS No. 132 (revised) expands employers’ disclosures about pension and
other postretirement benefit plans to present more information regarding the economic resources and obligations of
such plans in terms of the plans’ assets, obligations, cash flows and net periodic benefit costs (refer to Note 11—
Pension and Post-Retirement Benefit Plans). Additionally, SFAS No. 132 (revised) requires interim-period disclosures
regarding plan benefit costs and plan contributions. The adoption of SFAS No. 132 (revised) did not change the
Company’s measurement or recognition of pension and other post-retirement benefit costs as required by SFAS No. 87,
SFAS No. 88 and SFAS No. 1006, nor did the adoption of this new standard have any effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

Effective December 2003, the Company adopted FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. 106-1, Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003. FSP
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No. 106-1 permitted the sponsor of a post-retirement health care plan that provides a prescription drug benefit to
make a one-time election to defer accounting for the effects of the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and
Modernization Act of 2003 (the Act), and required certain disclosures pending further consideration of the underlying
accounting issue. The Act, signed into law on December 8, 2003, introduces a prescription drug benefit under
Medicare, as well as a federal subsidy to sponsors of retiree health care benefit plans that provide a benefit that is at
least actuarially equivalent to Medicare (Medicare Part D). The Company elected to follow the deferral provisions of
FSP No. 106-1 for both the first and second quarters ended December 31, 2003 and March 31, 2004, respectively. In
accordance with this FSP, the effects of this Act on any measures of the Accumulated Post-Retirement Benefit
Obligation (APBO) or net periodic post-retirement benefit cost associated with the Company’s benefit plans were not
reflected in the Company’s unaudited consolidated financial statements or accompanying notes for those interim
reporting periods. The deferral provisions of FSP No. 106-1 were permitted until such time as new specific
authoritative guidance on the accounting for the Medicare subsidy was issued.

In May 2004, the FASB issued FSP No. 1062, Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003, which superseded the accounting guidance in FSP
No. 106-1. FSP No. 106-2 provides specific guidance on accounting for the effects of the Act for employers sponsoring
postretirement health care plans that provide certain prescription drug benefits. Additionally, this guidance allows
companies who elected to follow the deferral provisions of FSP No. 106-1, and whose prescription drug benefit plans
are actuarially equivalent to the benefit to be provided under Medicare Part D, to either reflect the effects of the
federal subsidy to be provided by the Act in their financial statements on a prospective basis or on a retroactive basis.

The Company and its external actuary determined that the prescription drug benefit provided by the Company’s
post-retirement benefit plans as of the date of the Act’s enactment was at least actuarially equivalent to those that will
be provided by Medicare Part D and, accordingly, the Company will be entitled to the federal subsidy when it begins
in calendar year 2006. In June 2004, the Company adopted the provisions of FSP No. 106-2, and applied these
provisions on a retroactive basis effective January 1, 2004, the beginning of the Company’s second quarter of fiscal
year 2004. Accordingly, the Company calculated the incremental effect of the Medicare subsidy on its APBO as of
December 31, 2003, the end of the interim period that included the date of the Act’s enactment (all other actuarial
assumptions determined as of September 30, 2003 for fiscal year 2004 were not changed). Based on this calculation,
the Company recognized the effects of the Medicare subsidy on its net periodic post-retirement benefit costs which,
net of capitalization and deferrals required by the effects of regulation on the regulated utility, reduced this expense
and improved earnings by $2.7 million for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004 (refer to Note 11—Pensions and
Other Post-Retirement Benefit Plans). Additionally, the Company restated net income for the three months ended
March 31, 2004, increasing it by $1.2 million to recognize the effect of the subsidy related to this period (refer to
Supplementary Financial Information (Unaudited)) included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further
information regarding the interim period restatement).

In December 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 46 (revised December 2003), Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities, an interpretation of ARB No. 51 (FIN 46R). The primary objective of FIN 46R is to provide
guidance on the identification and consolidation of variable interest entities (VIEs), which are entities by which
control is achieved through means other than voting rights. FIN 46R replaced FASB Interpretation No. 46,
Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, which was issued in January 2003. FIN 46R generally became effective
March 31, 2004 for all VIEs. Management has reviewed this new standard and concluded that it does not have any
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements at this time.
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In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, Inventory Costs. SFAS No. 151 requires that abnormal amounts
of idle facility expense, freight, handling costs and spoilage be charged to income as a current period expense rather
than capitalized as inventory costs. SFAS No. 151 is effective for the Company on October 1, 2005. Management is
currently reviewing the effect of this new standard, but does not believe it will materially affect the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

2. DISPOSITION OF LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY INVESTMENT

On September 20, 2002, WGL Holdings and Thayer Capital Partners (Thayer) entered into an agreement to
restructure Primary Investors LLC (Primary Investors), a limited liability company in which the Company held a
50 percent equity method investment, such that WGL Holdings had no liability or financial commitment to Thayer,
Primary Investors or any subsidiary of Primary Investors. On October 15, 2002, WGL Holdings and Primary Investors
executed a final closing, and WGL Holdings transferred all of its interest in Primary Investors to Thayer. Since
September 30, 2002, the Company had no net investment in this equity venture nor was there any effect on
consolidated net income from this venture during fiscal years 2003 and 2004. Net income for fiscal year ended 2002
included a net loss from these operations of $3.5 million as well as an impairment provision of $9.4 million to reflect
the permanent decline in value.

3. SALE OF CARRIED INTEREST AND OTHER ASSETS

During the second quarter of fiscal year 2004, the Company’s non-utility operations realized pre-tax earnings of
$6.4 million from the sale, by a third party, of two buildings at Maritime Plaza, a commercial development project in
which the Company held a carried interest. This carried interest had no cost basis, and was accounted for under the
equity method. WGL Holdings utilized a capital loss carryforward to offset the federal income taxes associated with
this transaction and, after considering other local income tax expense, WGL Holdings realized after-tax earnings of
$5.8 million for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004.

In the quarter ended March 31, 2003, the regulated utility realized a pre-tax gain of $4.1 million (or $2.5 million
after income taxes) from the sale of its land and the former headquarters building located in Washington, D.C. This
gain was reported in “Other income (expenses)—net” for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2003 after considering
management’s estimate of the regulatory liability that would be due to customers as a result of this gain (refer to
Note 14—Commitments and Contingencies for a further discussion of these regulatory matters and related
contingencies).

In the quarter ended December 31, 2002, the Company’s non-utility operations realized a pre-tax gain of
$1.5 million (or $926,000 after income taxes) from the sale of a real estate partnership interest.

4. SHORT-TERM DEBT

WGL Holdings and Washington Gas satisfy their short-term financing requirements through the sale of commer-
cial paper or through bank borrowings. Due to the seasonal nature of the regulated utility and retail energy-marketing
operations, short-term financing requirements can vary significantly during the year. The Company maintains revolving
credit agreements to support its outstanding commercial paper and to permit short-term borrowing flexibility. The
Company’s policy is to maintain bank credit facilities in an amount equal to its expected maximum commercial paper
position.

Effective April 28, 2004, Washington Gas and WGL Holdings each entered into new credit agreements with a
group of banks in the amount of $175 million for each entity. The credit facility for Washington Gas expires on
April 28, 2009, and permits the regulated utility to request until April 28, 2005, and the banks to approve, an
additional line of credit of $100 million above the original credit limit, for a maximum potential total of $275 million.
The WGL Holdings’ credit facility expires on April 27, 2007, and permits the Company to request until April 28, 20053,
and the banks to approve, an additional line of credit of $50 million above the original credit limit, for a maximum
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potential total of $225 million. As of September 30, 2004, there was no amount outstanding under either the
Washington Gas or WGL Holdings credit facility.

Both WGIL Holdings and Washington Gas may reduce the amount of the commitments at their option. Depending
on the type of borrowing option chosen under these credit agreements, loans may bear interest at variable rates based
on the Eurodollar rate, the higher of the prime lending rate or the Fed Funds effective rate, or at a competitive rate
determined through auction.

In the event the long-term debt of Washington Gas is downgraded below certain levels, WGL Holdings and
Washington Gas would be required to pay higher facility fees on their revolving credit agreements. Also under the
revolving credit agreements, the ratio of consolidated indebtedness to consolidated total capitalization can not exceed
0.65 to 1.0 (65.0 percent), and, for WGL Holdings, the ratio of earnings before interest and taxes to interest expense
can not fall below 2.25 to 1.0 (2.25 times). Under the terms of the revolving credit agreements, WGL Holdings and
Washington Gas are required to inform lenders of changes in corporate existence, financial conditions, litigation and
environmental warranties that might have a material adverse effect. The failure to inform the lenders’ agent of changes
in these areas deemed material in nature might constitute default under the agreement. A default, if not remedied, may
lead to a suspension of further loans and/or acceleration in which obligations become immediately due and payable.
At September 30, 2004, the Company was in compliance with all of the covenants under its revolving credit
agreements.

At September 30, 2004 and 2003, WGL Holdings and its subsidiaries had $95.6 million and $166.7 million,
respectively, in commercial paper outstanding at a weighted average cost of 1.99 percent and 1.17 percent,
respectively. Included in these consolidated balances were $18.7 million and $65.2 million in commercial paper that
Washington Gas had outstanding at September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

5. LONG-TERM DEBT
FIRST MORTGAGE BONDS

The Mortgage of Washington Gas dated January 1, 1933 (Mortgage), as supplemented and amended, securing any
First Mortgage Bonds (FMBs) it issues, constitutes a direct lien on substantially all property and franchises owned by
the regulated utility, other than a small amount of property that is expressly excluded. The regulated utility had no
debt outstanding under the Mortgage at September 30, 2004 and 2003. Any FMBs that may be issued in the future will
represent indebtedness of Washington Gas.

SHELF REGISTRATION

At September 30, 2004, Washington Gas was authorized to issue up to $213.0 million of long-term debt under a
shelf registration that was declared effective by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) on April 24, 2003. On
May 20, 2003, Washington Gas executed a Distribution Agreement with certain financial institutions for the issuance
and sale of debt securities included in the shelf registration statement.

UNSECURED MEDIUM-TERM NOTES

Washington Gas issues unsecured Medium-Term Notes (MTNs) with individual terms regarding interest rates,
maturities and call or put options. These notes can have maturity dates of one or more years from the date of issuance.
At September 30, 2004 and 2003, the weighted average interest rate on all outstanding MTNs was 6.46 percent and
6.58 percent, respectively.

The indenture for these unsecured MTNs provides that Washington Gas will not issue any FMBs under its
Mortgage without securing all MTNs with all other debt secured by the Mortgage.

Certain of Washington Gas’ outstanding MTNs have call options, put options, or both. Certain other MTNs have
attached a make-whole call feature that pays the holder a premium based on a spread over the yield to maturity of a
U.S. Treasury security having a comparable maturity, when that particular note is called by Washington Gas before its
stated maturity date. With the exception of this make-whole call feature, Washington Gas is not required to pay call
premiums for calling debt prior to the stated maturity date.
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On November 17, 2003, Washington Gas paid $37.2 million plus accrued interest to redeem $36.0 million of
6.95 percent MTNs that were due in fiscal year 2024, and replaced this debt with $37.0 million of 4.88 percent MTNs
due in fiscal year 2014 that were issued in November 2003. The $1.2 million loss incurred in connection with the debt
retirement was deferred and is being amortized over the life of the newly issued debt in accordance with regulatory
accounting requirements. Refer to Note 6—Derivative Instruments for a discussion of a derivative transaction that
was settled concurrent with the debt issuance discussed in this footnote.

LONG-TERM DEBT MATURITIES

Maturities of long-term debt for each of the next five fiscal years and thereafter as of September 30, 2004 are
summarized in the following table.

Long-Term Debt Maturities™

(In millions) MTNs Other Total
2005 $ 60.5 $ 0.1 $ 60.6
2006 50.0 0.3 50.3
2007 85.0 0.1 85.1
2008 45.1 0.1 45.2
2009 75.0 0.1 751
Thereafter 318.5 16.0 3345
Total 634.1 16.7 650.8
Less: current maturities 60.5 0.1 60.6
Total non-current $573.6 $16.6 $590.2

@ Excludes unamortized discounts of $80,000 as of September 30, 2004.

6. DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS

Washington Gas enters into forward contracts and other related transactions for the purchase of natural gas that
qualify as derivative instruments under SFAS No. 133. The net fair value loss of these forward contracts and other
related transactions, at September 30, 2004 and 2003, totaled $8.2 million and $3.3 million, respectively. These
amounts were recorded as a payable, with a corresponding amount recorded as a regulatory asset in accordance with
regulatory accounting requirements.

Washington Gas enters into derivative instruments that are designed to minimize interest-rate risk associated with
planned issuances of MTNs. In June 2003, Washington Gas entered into two forward-starting swaps with an aggregate
notional principal amount of $62.0 million to mitigate a substantial portion of interest-rate risk associated with
anticipated future debt transactions. These swaps were designated as cash flow hedges in accordance with SFAS
No. 133, and were carried at fair value. Concurrent with the issuance of $37.0 million of MTNs in November 2003 (see
Note 5—Long-Term Debt), Washington Gas terminated $37.0 million of the total $62.0 million aggregate notional
principal amount of the forward-starting swaps. Washington Gas received $2.6 million associated with the settlement
of this hedge agreement, which was recorded as a regulatory liability. As a result of a Virginia rate order issued on
September 27, 2004, $737,000 of this amount received was reclassified from a regulatory liability to a current liability
as it will be refunded to customers during the January 2005 billing cycle (refer to Note 14— Commitiments and
Contingencies for a further discussion of this regulatory matter). The remaining balance is being amortized over the
life of the newly issued MTNs in accordance with regulatory accounting requirements. In December 2003, Washington
Gas terminated the remaining $25.0 million aggregate notional principal of the forward-starting swaps, and received
$1.2 million associated with the settlement of this hedge agreement which was recorded as a regulatory liability. Of
this amount, $495,000 was reclassified to a current liability which will be refunded to customers in connection with a
Virginia rate order.

On September 16, 2004, Washington Gas entered into two forward-starting swaps with an aggregate notional
principal amount of $60.5 million. These swaps are intended to mitigate a substantial portion of interest-rate risk

associated with anticipated future debt transactions, and are scheduled to terminate in fiscal year 2005 concurrent
with the execution of debt transactions planned for that year. These swaps were designated as cash flow hedges and
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carried at fair value. At September 30, 2004, these instruments had a fair value loss totaling $475,000 that was
recorded as a payable with a corresponding amount recorded as a regulatory asset.

The Company’s non-regulated retail energy-marketing subsidiary, WGEServices, enters into contracts for the sale
and purchase of natural gas that qualify as derivative instruments under SFAS No. 133. WGEServices also enters into
other derivative instruments (primarily in the form of call options, put options and swap contracts) related to the sale
and purchase of natural gas. WGEServices’ derivative instruments are recorded at fair value on the Company’s
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Changes in the fair value of these various derivative instruments are reflected in the
earnings of the retail energy-marketing segment. These derivative instruments were valued at $719,000 and $188,000
at September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively. WGEServices recorded net gains of $892,000 and $221,000 for fiscal
years 2004 and 2003, respectively. WGEServices recorded a net loss of $323,000 during fiscal year 2002 related to
similar derivative instruments.

WGEServices also holds HDD option contracts that are used to manage its risk for natural gas customers who
participate in a program that allows them to pay a fixed amount for their gas requirements regardless of the amount of
gas consumed. These hedges cover a portion of WGEServices’ estimated net revenue exposure to variations in HDDs.
These contracts pay WGEServices a fixed dollar amount for every HDD over a specified level during the calculation
period. Similar to Washington Gas’ weather insurance policy (see Note 1—Accounting Policies), these contracts are
accounted for under the guidelines issued by EITF Issue No. 99-2. WGEServices recorded, net of premium costs, a net
loss related to these hedges of $114,000 for fiscal year 2004, and a net gain of $372,000 for fiscal year 2003. No such
gains or losses were recorded in fiscal year 2002.

7. COMMON STOCK

COMMON STOCK OUTSTANDING

Shares of common stock outstanding, net of treasury shares, were 48,652,507, 48,611,563 and 48,564,667 at
September 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

COMMON STOCK RESERVES

At September 30, 2004, there were 2,951,956 authorized, but unissued, shares of common stock reserved under
the following plans.

Common Stock Reserves

Reserved for: Number of Shares
Incentive compensation plan® 1,863,687
Dividend reinvestment and common stock purchase plan 376,890
Employee savings plans 637,196
Directors’ stock compensation plan 74,183
Total common stock reserves 2,951,956

@ Included are shares that potentially could be issued and that would reduce the Incentive Compensation Plan shares authorized.
These shares include 940,300 shares dedicated to incentive stock options issued but not exercised, and 249,566 shares dedicated
to performance shares granted but not vested.

Refer to Note 12—Stock-Based Compensation for a discussion regarding the Company’s stock-based compensa-
tion plans.
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8. PREFERRED STOCK

Washington Gas has three series of cumulative preferred stock outstanding, and each series is callable by
Washington Gas. All three series have a dividend preference that prevents Washington Gas from declaring and paying
common dividends unless preferred dividends have been paid. In addition, all outstanding shares of preferred stock
have a preference as to the amounts that would be distributed in the event of a liquidation or dissolution of
Washington Gas. The following table presents this information, as well as call prices for each preferred stock series
outstanding.

Preferred Stock

Liquidation Preference

Preferred Per Share
Series Shares Call Price
Outstanding Outstanding Involuntary Voluntary Per Share
$4.80 150,000 $100 $101 $101
$4.25 70,600 $100 $105 $105
$5.00 60,000 $100 $102 $102

9. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share (EPS) is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding during the reported period. Diluted EPS assumes the issuance of common shares pursuant to stock-
based compensation plans at the beginning of the applicable period (see Note 12—Stock-Based Compensation). The
following table reflects the computation of the Company’s basic and diluted EPS for WGL Holdings for fiscal years
ended September 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Basic EPS and Diluted EPS

Net Per Share

(In thousands, except per share data) Income Shares Amount
Year Ended September 30, 2004
Basic EPS:

Net income $ 96,637 48,640 $1.99

Stock-based compensation plans - 207 -
Diluted EPS:

Net income $ 96,637 48,847 $1.98
Year Ended September 30, 2003
Basic EPS:

Net income $112,342 48,587 $2.31

Stock-based compensation plans - 169 -
Diluted EPS:

Net income $112,342 48,756 $2.30
Year Ended September 30, 2002
Basic EPS:

Net income $ 39,121 48,563 $0.81

Stock-based compensation plans - 88 -
Diluted EPS:

Net income $ 39,121 48,651 $0.80
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10. INCOME TAXES

The Company files a consolidated federal income tax return. The Company’s federal income tax returns for all
years through September 30, 2000 have been reviewed and closed, or closed without review by the Internal Revenue
Service. The Company and each of its subsidiaries also participate in a tax sharing agreement that establishes the
method for allocating tax benefits from losses to various subsidiaries that are utilized on a consolidated federal income
tax return. During fiscal year 2004, Washington Gas realized $5.3 million of tax savings resulting from this tax sharing
agreement. This benefit was reflected primarily in “Other income (expenses)—net” on Washington Gas’ Statement of
Income. The effect of this allocation of benefits to Washington Gas has no effect on WGL Holdings’ consolidated
financial statements. During fiscal years 2003 and 2002, Washington Gas realized $355,000 and $1.1 million,
respectively, of tax savings as a result of this tax sharing agreement. State income tax returns are filed on a separate
company basis in states where the Company has operations and/or a requirement to file.

The Statements of Income Taxes provide the following: (i) the components of income tax expense; (if) a
reconciliation between the statutory federal income tax rate and the effective income tax rate and (7i7) the
components of accumulated deferred income tax assets and liabilities at September 30, 2004 and 2003.

During fiscal years ended September 30, 2004 and 2003, the Company recognized tax benefits of $2.0 million and
$2.4 million, respectively, from the release of a valuation allowance associated primarily with previously unrecognized
capital losses. A valuation allowance of $2.0 million and $4.0 million remained for unused tax benefits of capital losses
as of September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

11. PENSION AND OTHER POST-RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

Washington Gas maintains a qualified, trusteed, non-contributory defined benefit pension plan (qualified pension
plan) covering all active and vested former employees of Washington Gas. To the extent allowable by law, Washington
Gas funds pension costs accrued for the qualified pension plan.

Executive officers of Washington Gas also participate in a non-funded supplemental executive retirement plan
(SERP), a non-qualified defined benefit pension plan. A rabbi trust has been established for the potential future funding
of the SERP liability.

Washington Gas provides certain healthcare and life insurance benefits for retired employees. Substantially all
employees of the regulated utility may become eligible for such benefits if they attain retirement status while working
for Washington Gas. The Company accounts for these benefits under the provisions of SFAS No. 106, Employers’
Accounting for Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions. The Company elected to amortize the accumulated
post-retirement benefit obligation of $190.6 million existing at the October 1, 1993 adoption date of this standard,
known as the transition obligation, over a twenty-year period. Effective January 1, 2004, changes were made to post-
retirement medical benefits that reduced the Company’s post-retirement benefit obligations by $37.9 million as of
September 30, 2003.

Certain subsidiaries of the Company offer defined-contribution savings plans to eligible employees, covering all
employee groups. These plans allow participants to defer on a pre-tax or after-tax basis, a portion of their salaries for
investment in various alternatives. The Company makes matching contributions to the amounts contributed by
employees in accordance with the specific plan provisions. The Company’s contributions to the plans were $3.0
million during both fiscal years 2004 and 2003, and $2.9 million during fiscal year 2002.

The Company uses a measurement date of September 30 for its pension, and retiree healthcare and life insurance
benefit plans.
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The following tables provide certain information about the Company’s post-retirement benefits:

Post-Retirement Benefits

Health and Life

(In millions) Pension Benefits Benefits

Years Ended September 30, 2004 2003 2004 2003
Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $615.9 $567.1 $ 361.2 $ 3229
Service cost 10.3 9.2 8.6 8.0
Interest cost 36.1 35.9 19.8 20.5
Change in plan benefits - - - (37.9)
Actuarial loss 27.6 35.6 36.5 62.7
Benefits paid (34.1) (319 (17.6) (15.0)
Benefit obligation at end of year $655.8 $615.9 $ 408.5 $ 361.2
Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $661.5 $611.2 $ 163.5 $ 147.3
Actual return on plan assets 56.8 83.1 2.2 2.8
Company contributions 1.2 1.2 27.0 28.4
Expenses 2.3) Q.10 - -
Benefits paid (34.1) (3G1.9 (17.6) (15.0)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $683.1 $661.5 $ 175.1 $ 163.5
Funded status

Funded status of plan $ 27.3 $ 45.6 $(233.4) 50197.7)
Unrecognized actuarial net (gains)/losses 13.2 (11.3) 166.3 124.3
Unrecognized prior service cost 15.5 17.8 - -
Unrecognized transition obligation - 0.2 51.7 57.4
Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost S 56.0 $ 523 $ (15.4) $ (16.0)

Health and Life

(n millions) Pension Benefits Benefits

At September 30, 2004 2003 2004 2003
Total amounts recognized on balance sheet

Prepaid benefit cost $ 71.9 $ 66.8 ) - $ -
Accrued benefit liability (20.5) (19.8) (15.4) (16.0)
Regulatory asset - 4.2 - -
Intangible asset 2.2 - - -
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 2.4 1.1 - -
Total recognized $ 56.0 $523 $(15.4) $(16.0)

The Company’s Accumulated Benefit Obligation (ABO) for its qualified pension plan was $574.5 million at
September 30, 2004 and $527.8 million at September 30, 2003. The projected benefit obligation and ABO for the
Company’s non-funded SERP, which had accumulated benefits in excess of plan assets, were $24.4 million and
$20.5 million, respectively, as of September 30, 2004, and $21.8 million and $19.8 million, respectively, as of
September 30, 2003. The SERP is reflected in the table above and has no assets.

As of September 30, 2003, the Company had recorded a minimum pension obligation of $5.3 million related to
the SERP, with corresponding amounts recorded to ‘‘Regulatory assets—Other” of $4.2 million and “Accumulated
other comprehensive loss” of $1.1 million (before income taxes). This accounting treatment reflected the Company’s
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belief that a significant portion of this obligation ultimately would be recovered through future rates in certain
jurisdictions. During fiscal year 2004, the Company discontinued regulatory accounting treatment related to the SERP.
At September 30, 2004, the Company had recorded a minimum pension obligation of $4.6 million related to the SERP,
with corresponding amounts recorded to an intangible asset of $2.2 million included in “Deferred charges and other
assets—Other” and $2.4 million recorded to “Accumulated other comprehensive loss.”

The pre-tax amounts included in other comprehensive loss due to the increase in the minimum pension
obligation related to the SERP were $1.3 million ($753,000 after income taxes) and $1.1 million ($716,000 after
income taxes) for the fiscal years ended September 30, 2004 and 2003.

Assets under the Company’s post-retirement benefit plans are valued using a method designed to spread realized
and unrealized gains and losses over a period of five years. Each year, 20 percent of the prior five years’ asset gains and
losses are recognized. The marketrelated value of assets is set equal to the market value of assets less the following
percentages of prior years’ realized and unrealized gains and losses on equities: 80 percent of prior year, 60 percent of
the second prior year, 40 percent of the third prior year and 20 percent of the fourth prior year.

The Company employs a total return investment approach whereby a mix of equities and fixed income
investments can be used to maximize the long-term return of plan assets for a prudent level of risk. The intent of this
strategy is to minimize plan expenses by outperforming plan liabilities over the long run. Risk tolerance is established
through careful consideration of plan liabilities, plan funded status, and corporate financial condition. The investment
portfolio can contain a diversified blend of equity and fixed income investments. Investment risk is measured and
monitored on an ongoing basis through annual liability measurements, periodic asset/liability studies, and quarterly
investment portfolio reviews.

The asset allocations for the qualified pension plan and healthcare and life insurance benefit trusts as of
September 30, 2004 and 2003 and the weighted average target asset allocations as of September 30, 2004, by asset
category, are as follows:

Post-Retirement Investment Allocations

Pension Benefits Health and Life Benefits
Target Actual Target Actual
Allocation Allocation Allocation Allocation

At September 30, 2004 2004 2003 2004 2004 2003
Asset Category
Equity Securities™ 50% 50% 51% 50% 4% -
Debt Securities 50% 50% 49% 50% 96% 100%
Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

@ None of the Company’s common stock is included in its plans.

Expected benefit payments, including benefits attributable to estimated future employee service, which are
expected to be paid over the next ten years are as follows:

Expected Benefit Payments

Pension Health and Life
(In millions) Benefits Benefits
2005 $ 343 $ 17.3
2006 35.0 18.8
2007 36.2 20.4
2008 37.4 22.0
2009 38.6 235
2010-2014 2184 141.2
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During fiscal year 2005, the Company does not expect to make any contributions related to its qualified pension
plan. The Company expects to make payments totaling $1.3 million in fiscal year 2005 to participants in its non-funded
SERP.

The Company expects to contribute $34.0 million to its health and life insurance benefit plan during fiscal year
2005.

Components of Net Periodic Benefit Costs (Income)

n millions) Pension Benefits Health and Life Benefits

Years Ended September 30, 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002

Components of net periodic benefit cost (income)
Service cost $104 % 92 $ 81 § 86 $ 80 $ 6.1
Interest cost 36.1 35.9 35.5 19.8 20.6 18.3
Expected return on plan assets (52.3) G40 (58 (@A21) 14 (102
Recognized prior service cost 2.3 23 23 - - -
Recognized actuarial loss (gain) 0.9 0.5 6.5 4.1 1.1 -
Amortization of transition obligation (asset)-net 0.2 0.2 0.9 5.7 9.5 9.5

Net periodic benefit cost (income) 2.49) 69 A7.3 26.1 27.8 23.7

Amount capitalized as construction cost 0.7 1.5 4.4 4.7) (5.8 4.2
Amount deferred as regulatory asset/liability-net 2.7) 0.8 3.4 0.2 0.6 14
Amount charged (credited) to expense $ (449 $ B6) $ (95 $21.6 $226 $209

As discussed in Note 1—Accounting Policies, the Company implemented FSP No. 106-2 in June 2004, to account
for the impact of the Medicare subsidy on the Company’s post-retirement benefits costs.

The implementation of FSP No. 106-2 resulted in a $33.8 million reduction in the APBO, and was accounted for as
an actuarial gain as required by the FSP. The table below reflects the effects of the Medicare subsidy on the
components of net periodic benefits cost related to the Company’s healthcare and life insurance benefit plans for the
year ended September 30, 2004.

Effect of Medicare Subsidy on Components of Net Periodic Benefit Costs
Health and Life

n millions) Benefits
Year Ended September 30, 2004
Components of net periodic benefit costs (income)
Service cost $(0.6)
Interest cost 1.5)
Recognized actuarial gain Q.0
Net periodic benefit income 4.1)
Amount capitalized as construction costs 0.7
Amount deferred as regulatory asset/liability-net 0.7
Amount credited to expense $Q2.7D

88




WGL Holdings, Inc.
Washington Gas Light Company
Part II
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data (continued)
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Expected receipts attributable to the Medicare subsidy to be received over the next ten years are as follows:

Medicare Subsidy Receipts
Health and Life

(In millions) Benefits
2005 $ -
2006 0.9
2007 1.4
2008 1.6
2009 1.7
2010-2014 10.6

The weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit obligations and net periodic benefit
costs were as follows:

Net Periodic Benefit Obligations Assumptions

Pension Benefits Health and Life Benefits
Years Ended September 30, 2004 2003 2004 2003
Discount rate 5.75% 6.00% 5.75% 6.00%
Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%

Net Periodic Benefit Cost Assumptions

Pension Benefits Health and Life Benefits
Years Ended September 30, 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
Discount rate 6.00% 6.50% 7.25% 6.00% 650% 7.25%
Expected long-term return on plan assets 8.25% 8.50% 850% 7.25% 8.25% 8.25%
Rate of compensation increase 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%

The Company determines the expected long-term rate of return by averaging the expected earnings for the target
asset portfolio. In developing the Company’s expected rate of return assumption, the Company evaluates an analysis of
historical actual performance and long-term return projections, which gives consideration to the Company’s asset mix
and anticipated length of obligation of the plan.

The Company has assumed the initial healthcare cost trend rates related to the APBO at September 30, 2004 for
Medicare and non-Medicare eligible retirees to be 12.0 percent and 10.0 percent, respectively. The Company expects
these rates to decrease gradually to 5.75 percent and 5.50 percent, respectively, in 2010 and remain at those levels
thereafter.

The assumed healthcare trend rate has a significant effect on the amounts reported for the healthcare plans. A one
percentage-point change in the assumed healthcare trend rate would have the following effects:

Healthcare Trends

One Percentage-Point One Percentage-Point

{n millions) Increase Decrease
Increase (decrease) total service and interest cost components $ 54 $ 4.2
Increase (decrease) post-retirement benefit obligation $63.3 $(50.6)

A significant portion of the estimated post-retirement medical and life insurance benefits apply to the Company’s
regulated activities.
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The Public Service Commission of the District of Columbia (PSC of DC) granted the recovery of post-retirement
medical and life insurance benefit costs determined in accordance with GAAP through a five-year phase-in plan that
ended September 30, 1998. The regulated utility deferred the difference generated during the phase-in period as a
regulatory asset. Effective October 1, 1998, the PSC of DC granted the regulated utility full recovery of costs
determined under GAAP, plus a fifteen-year amortization of the regulatory asset established during the phase-in period.

On September 28, 1995, the State Corporation Commission of Virginia (SCC of VA) issued a generic order that
allowed the regulated utility to recover most costs determined under GAAP in rates over twenty years. The SCC of VA,
however, set a forty-year recovery period of the transition obligation. As prescribed by GAAP, the regulated utility
amortizes these costs over a twenty-year period.

The Public Service Commission of Maryland (PSC of MD) has not rendered a decision that specifically addresses
recovery of post-retirement medical and life insurance benefit costs determined in accordance with GAAP. However,
the PSC of MD has approved a level of rates sufficient to recover the costs determined under GAAP.

Post-retirement medical and life insurance benefit costs deferred as a regulatory asset at September 30, 2004 and
2003 were $6.4 million and $6.6 million, respectively. The regulated utility expects that these costs will be recovered
over a twenty-year period that began October 1, 1993,

Each regulatory commission having jurisdiction over the regulated utility requires it to fund amounts reflected in
rates for post-retirement medical and life insurance benefits to irrevocable trusts. The expected long-term rate of
return on the assets in the trusts was 7.25 percent for fiscal year 2004, and 8.25 percent for fiscal years 2003 and 2002.
The regulated utility assumes a 39.7 percent income tax rate to compute taxes on the taxable portion of the income in
the trusts.

12. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company and its subsidiaries periodically provide compensation in the form of common stock to certain
employees and Company directors. As permitted by SFAS No. 123, as amended by SFAS No. 148, the Company applies
APB No. 25, and related interpretations in accounting for its stock-based compensation plans. The stock-based
compensation arrangements are discussed more fully below.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION FOR KEY EMPLOYEES

The Company has granted restricted stock to participants in the Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan
(LTICP) and to certain other employees. These shares have restrictions on vesting, sale and transferability. Restrictions
lapse with the passage of time. The Company holds the certificates for restricted stock until the shares fully vest. In the
interim, the participants receive full dividend and voting rights. The LTICP expired on June 27, 1999, and was replaced
with the 1999 Incentive Compensation Plan (1999 Plan).

Approved by the shareholders in February 1999 and amended in March 2003, the 1999 Plan allows the Company
to grant up to 2,000,000 shares of unrestricted common stock to officers and key employees. Under the 1999 Plan, the
Company may impose performance goals, which if unattained, may result in participants forfeiting all or part of the
award. Performance shares granted under the 1999 Plan currently vest over 36 months from the date of grant. At the
end of the associated vesting period, the issuance of any performance shares depends upon the Company’s
achievement of performance goals for total shareholder return relative to a selected peer group.
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In accordance with APB No. 25, the Company recognizes estimated compensation expense for restricted stock
and performance shares ratably over the shares’ vesting periods. The following table discloses the number of shares
granted and outstanding under the LTICP and 1999 Plan, as well as the associated weighted average fair value at grant
dates and compensation expense recognized during each reporting period.

Schedule of LTICP and 1999 Plan Shares Outstanding

Long-Term Incentive

Compensation Plan 1999 Plan

Years Ended September 30, 2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
Shares outstanding—beginning of period 2,400 8,300 16,470 181,533 117,088 107,071
Shares granted—Performance shares - - - 107,236 91,232 64,105
Shares vested (1,200) (5,900) (8,170) (28,706) (26,787)  (40,332)
Shares forfeited - - - (10,497) - (13,756)
Shares outstanding—end of period 1,200 2,400 8,300 249,566 181,533 117,088
Weighted average fair value per share on

grant dates S - - 3 - S 2758 § 2391 $ 2689
Compensation expense recognized §22,125 $83,119 $150,000 $1,862,320 $1,574,594 $662,836

STOCK OPTIONS OUTSTANDING AND OTHER INFORMATION

Since stock options are granted at the fair market value of the Company’s stock on the grant dates, no
compensation expense is recognized. The Company’s stock options generally have a vesting period of three years, and
expire ten years from the date of grant.

The following table summarizes information regarding option activity under the 1999 Plan for fiscal years 2004,
2003 and 2002.

Stock Option Activity

Years Ended September 30, 2004 2003 2002
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Number Average Number Average Number Average
of Exercise of Exercise of Exercise
Options Price Options Price Options Price
Outstanding, beginning of year 615,384 $25.24 411,836 $26.00 271,604 $25.41
Granted 343,850 27.58 238,424 23.90 156,698 27.02
Exercised (18,934) 23.71 (28,826) 25.14 - -
Cancelled/Forfeited - - (6,050) 24.06 (16,466) 25.96
Outstanding, end of year 940,300 $26.13 615,384 $25.24 411,836 $26.00
Exercisable, end of year 376,253 $26.21 224,509 $25.56 152,743 $24.74
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The following table summarizes stock options outstanding and exercisable at September 30, 2004.

Stock Options as of September 30, 2004

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Weighted Average Weighted
Average Remaining Average
Options Exercise Contractual Options Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Price Life® Exercisable Price
$22.63-$25.10 300,011 $23.67 7.2 69,558 $22.92
$25.11-$27.58 640,289 $27.28 7.5 306,695 $26.96
Total 940,300 $26.13 7.4 376,253 $26.21

@ Weighted average remaining contractual life in years.

The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scheles option-pricing
model, with the following assumptions:

Fair Market Value Assumptions (Black-Scholes Model)

2004 2003 2002
Dividend yield 4.6% 5.3% 5.3%
Expected stock-price volatility 19.04%  21.55% 24.0%
Risk-free interest rate 0.94% 1.58% 6.3%
Expected option life 3 years 3 years 3 years
Weighted average fair market value of stock options
granted during the year $2.26 $2.13 $4.41

STOCK GRANTS TO DIRECTORS

Non-employee directors receive a portion of their annual retainer fee in the form of common stock through the
Directors’ Stock Compensation Plan. Up to 120,000 shares of common stock may be awarded under the plan. Shares
granted to directors totaled 8,000, 7,500 and 5,600 for fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. For those
periods, the fair value of the stock on the grant dates was $28.02, $24.89 and $29.18, respectively. Shares awarded to
the participants: () vest immediately and cannot be forfeited; (74) may be sold or transferred; and (7i7) have voting and
dividend rights.

13. ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

The Company and its subsidiaries are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations related to
environmental matters. These evolving laws and regulations may require expenditures over a long timeframe to
control environmental effects. Almost all of the environmental liabilities the Company and its subsidiaries have
recorded are for costs expected to be incurred to remediate sites where the Company or a predecessor affiliate
operated manufactured gas plants (MGP). Estimates of liabilities for environmental response costs are difficult to
determine with precision because of the various factors that can affect their ultimate level. These factors include, but
are not limited to the following:

* the complexity of the site;

* changes in environmental laws and regulations at the federal, state and local levels;

¢ the number of regulatory agencies or other parties involved;

* new technology that renders previous technology obsolete or experience with existing technology that
proves ineffective;

* the ultimate selection of technology;
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* the level of remediation required; and
* variations between the estimated and actual period of time that must be dedicated to respond to an
environmentally-contaminated site.

Washington Gas has identified up to ten sites where it or its predecessors may have operated MGPs. Washington
Gas last used any such plant in 1984. In connection with these operations, Washington Gas is aware that coal tar and
certain other by-products of the gas manufacturing process are present at or near some former sites, and may be
present at others. Washington Gas does not believe that any of the sites present any unacceptable risk to human health
or the environment.

At one of the former MGP sites, studies show the presence of coal tar under the site and an adjoining property.
Washington Gas has taken steps to control the movement of contaminants into an adjacent river by installing a water
treatment system that removes and treats contaminated groundwater at the site. Washington Gas received approval
from governmental authorities for a comprehensive remediation plan for the majority of the site that will allow
commercial development of Washington Gas’ property. Washington Gas has entered into an agreement with a natjonal
developer for the development of this site in phases. The first two phases have been completed, with Washington Gas
retaining a ground lease on each phase. Washington Gas is working with the owner of the affected adjoining property
to adopt a remediation plan for that portion of the site.

At a second former MGP site and on an adjacent parcel of land, Washington Gas made application under a state
voluntary closure program. Washington Gas developed a “‘monitoring-only”’ remediation plan for the site for which it
received state approval during fiscal year 2004. Accordingly, the Company reduced its liability in fiscal year 2004 for
estimated environmental response costs related to this matter.

Washington Gas believes, at this time, that the appropriate remediation has been or is being undertaken, or that
no remediation is necessary at the remaining eight sites.

At September 30, 2004 and 2003, Washington Gas had a liability of $5.6 million and $6.8 million, respectively, on
an undiscounted basis related to future environmental response costs, which included the estimated costs for the ten
MGP sites. These estimates principally include the minimum liabilities associated with a range of environmental
response costs expected to be incurred at the sites identified. At September 30, 2004 and 2003, Washington Gas
estimated the maximum liability associated with all of its sites to be approximately $12.8 million and $14.9 million,
respectively. The estimates were determined by Washington Gas’ environmental experts, based on experience in
remediating MGP sites and advice from legal counsel and environmental consultants. Variations within the range of
estimated liability result primarily from differences in the number of years that will be required to perform
environmental response processes at each site and the extent of remediation that may be required.

Regulatory orders issued by the PSC of MD allow Washington Gas to recover the costs associated with the sites
applicable to Maryland over periods ranging from five to thirty years. Rate orders issued by the PSC of DC allow
Washington Gas a three-year recovery of prudently incurred environmental response costs, and allow Washington Gas
to defer additional costs incurred between rate cases. Regulatory orders from the SCC of VA have generally allowed the
recovery of prudent environmental remediation costs to the extent they were included in a test year.

At September 30, 2004 and 2003, Washington Gas reported a regulatory asset of $2.6 million and $4.3 million,
respectively, for the portion of environmental response costs it believes are recoverable in future rates. Washington
Gas does not expect that the ultimate impact of these matters will have a material adverse effect on its financial
statements.

93




WGL Holdings, Inc.
Washington Gas Light Company
Part II
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data (continued)
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

OPERATING LEASES

Minimum future rental payments under operating leases over the next five years and thereafter are as follows:

Minimum Payments Under Operating Leases

(In millions)

2005 $ 4.1
2006 4.2
2007 4.2
2008 4.2
2009 38
Thereafter 29.1
Total $49.6

Rent expense totaled $3.8 million, $1.8 million and $809,000 in fiscal years ended September 30, 2004, 2003 and
2002, respectively.

REGULATED UTILITY OPERATIONS

Natural Gas Contracts—Minimum Commitments

At September 30, 2004, Washington Gas had service agreements with four pipeline companies that provided
direct service for firm transportation and/or storage services. These agreements, which have expiration dates ranging
from fiscal years 2005 to 2024, require Washington Gas to pay fixed charges each month. As of September 30, 2004,
based on current estimates of growth of the Washington Gas system, together with current expectations of the timing
and extent of unbundling initiatives in the Washington Gas service territory, the minimum aggregate amount of
required payments under the pipeline service agreements total approximately $848.1 million for contracts in effect
through fiscal year 2024. The SCC of VA has approved mandatory assignment of firm transportation to third-party
marketers. The issue recently was rejected in the District of Columbia and Maryland; however, the issue can be
brought up in a subsequent proceeding.

The following table summarizes the contract minimum payments that Washington Gas will make under its
pipeline transportation contracts during the next five fiscal years and thereafter.

Washington Gas Contract Minimums

(In millions) Pipeline contracts
2005 $135.1
2006 116.8
2007 104.9
2008 85.1
2009 60.6
Thereafter 345.6
Total $848.1

When a customer selects a third-party marketer to provide supply, Washington Gas generally assigns pipeline and
storage capacity to third-party marketers to deliver gas to Washington Gas’ city gate. If a customer does not select a
third-party marketer, Washington Gas has a commodity acquisition plan to acquire the natural gas supply to serve the
customer.
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In connection with this plan, Washington Gas utilizes an asset manager to acquire the necessary supply to serve
these customers. Washington Gas’ commitment to the asset manager is to purchase gas supply at market prices that
are tied to various public indices for natural gas. The contract commitment is related to customer demand, and there
are no minimum bill commitments. Additionally, Washington Gas enters into long-term purchase commitments to
purchase fixed volumes of natural gas at variable prices, and there are no minimum bill commitments. Accordingly,
there are no amounts included in the table above related to asset manager and long-term natural gas purchase
commitments.

Currently, Washington Gas recovers its cost of gas through the purchased gas cost recovery mechanisms included
in its retail rate schedules in each of its jurisdictions. However, the timing and extent of Washington Gas’ initiatives or
regulatory requirements to separate the purchase and sale of natural gas from the delivery of gas could cause its gas
supply commitments to be in excess of its continued sales obligations.

‘Washington Gas has rate provisions in each of its jurisdictions that would allow it to continue to recover potential
excess commitments in rates. The regulated utility also actively manages its supply portfolio to ensure its sales and
supply obligations remain balanced. This reduces the likelihood that the contracted supply commitments would
exceed supply obligations. However, to the extent Washington Gas were to determine that changes in regulation
would cause it to discontinue recovery of these costs in rates, the regulated utility would be required to charge these
costs to expense without any corresponding revenue recovery. If this occurred, depending upon the timing of the
occurrence, the related impact on the Company’s financial position and results of operations would likely be
significant.

Rate Case Contingencies

Certain legal and administrative proceedings, incidental to the Company’s business, including rate case contingen-
cies, involve WGL Holdings and/or its subsidiaries. In the opinion of management, the Company has recorded an
adequate provision for probable losses or refunds to customers for rate case contingencies related to these
proceedings in accordance with SFAS No. 5, Accounting for Contingencies.

District of Columbia Jurisdiction

In a March 28, 2003 Final Order, the PSC of DC upheld a previous ruling that approved a methodology for sharing
with customers 50 percent of asset management revenues previously received by Washington Gas. As part of this
ruling, the PSC of DC also approved a methodology for sharing with customers 50 percent of annual ground lease and
development fees that Washington Gas received from Maritime Plaza, a commercial development project constructed
on land owned by Washington Gas. The rates approved by the PSC of DC reflect annual sharing of this income with
customers totaling $15,000. On May 23, 2003, the District of Columbia Office of the People’s Counsel (DC OPC) filed
an appeal with the District of Columbia Court of Appeals (DC Court of Appeals) seeking to overturn these two
portions of the March 28, 2003 ruling by the PSC of DC. On March 18, 2004, the DC Court of Appeals affirmed the
PSC of DC’s March 28, 2003 ruling with respect to the treatment of Washington Gas’ asset management revenues.
Furthermore, the DC Court of Appeals ordered the PSC of DC to provide an explanation of its decision to approve the
allocation methodology for sharing with customers the ground lease and development fee revenues attributable to the
Maritime Plaza development project. The PSC of DC issued a subsequent order requiring both the DC OPC and
Washington Gas to file testimony on this matter of the allocation. On October 12, 2004, Washington Gas filed
testimony before the PSC of DC that supports the allocation methodology that was approved in the PSC of DC's initial
order. The DC OPC filed opposing testimony on the same date. Rebuttal testimony was filed on November 19, 2004 by
the DC OPC and Washington Gas. Management cannot predict the outcome of this matter.

Virginia Jurisdiction

On June 14, 2002, Washington Gas filed an application with the SCC of VA to increase annual revenues in Virginia.
The Shenandoah Gas Division of Washington Gas was included in the application. The application requested an
increase in overall annual revenues of approximately $23.8 million. Washington Gas requested an overall rate of return
of 9.42 percent and a return on common equity of 12.25 percent. Under the regulations of the SCC of VA, Washington
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Gas placed the proposed general revenue increase into effect on November 12, 2002, subject to refund, pending the
SCC of VA’s final decision in the proceeding. From that time until a refund was made, as discussed below, Washington
Gas recorded a provision for rate refunds representing the estimated refund required based on management’s
judgment of the rate case outcome.

On December 18, 2003, the SCC of VA issued a Final Order in this proceeding which granted Washington Gas an
annual revenue increase of $10.8 million, and reduced the annual revenues of the Shenandoah Gas Division of
Washington Gas by $867,000. The combination of this increase in the rates of Washington Gas and the reduction in
the rates of the Shenandoah Gas Division of Washington Gas yvields a net increase in annual revenues of $9.9 million.
The Final Order allowed a rate of return on common equity of 10.50 percent and an overall rate of return of
8.44 percent.

Refunds to customers, with interest, were made pursuant to the Final Order during the quarter ended March 31,
2004. The difference between the amount refunded to customers and the amount of the provision for rate refunds
previously recorded by Washington Gas was not material. Accordingly, this refund had no material effect on earnings
for the year ended September 30, 2004.

In the Final Order, the SCC of VA ordered that the implementation date of new depreciation rates should be
January 1, 2002, as opposed to November 12, 2002 as originally requested and implemented by Washington Gas. This
required Washington Gas to record additional depreciation expense in the quarter ended December 31, 2003 of
approximately $3.5 million, on a pre-tax basis, that related to the period from January 1, 2002 through November 11,
2002.

The SCC of VA also ordered Washington Gas to reduce its rate base related to net utility plant by $28 million,
which is net of accumulated deferred income taxes of $14 million, and to establish an equivalent regulatory asset that
the Company has done for regulatory accounting purposes only. This regulatory asset represents the difference
between the accumulated reserve for depreciation recorded on the books of Washington Gas and a theoretical reserve
that was derived by the Staff of the SCC of VA (VA Staff) as part of its review of Washington Gas’ depreciation rates, less
accumulated deferred income taxes. This regulatory asset is being amortized, for regulatory accounting purposes only,
as a component of depreciation expense over 32 years pursuant to the Final Order. The SCC of VA provided for both a
return on, and a return of, this regulatory asset established for regulatory accounting purposes.

In approving the treatment described in the preceding paragraph, the SCC of VA further ordered that an annual
“‘earnings test”” be performed to determine if Washington Gas has earned in excess of its allowed rate of return on
common equity for its Virginia operations. The current procedure for performing this earnings test does not normalize
the actual return on equity for the effect of weather over the applicable twelve-month period. To the extent that
Washington Gas earns in excess of its allowed return on equity in any annual earnings test period, Washington Gas is
required to increase depreciation expense (after considering the impact of income tax benefits) and increase the
accumulated reserve for depreciation for the amount of the actual earnings in excess of the earnings produced by the
10.50 percent allowed return on equity. Under the SCC of VA’s requirements for performing earnings tests, if weather
is warmer than normal in a particular annual earnings test period, Washington Gas is not allowed to restore any
amount of earnings previously eliminated as a result of this earnings test. This annual earnings test shall continue to be
performed until the $28 million difference between the accumulated reserve for depreciation recorded on Washington
Gas’ books and the theoretical reserve derived by the VA Staff, net of accumulated deferred income taxes, is eliminated
or the level of the regulatory asset established for regulatory accounting purposes is adjusted as a result of a future
depreciation study. During fiscal year ended September 30, 2004, Washington Gas recorded additional depreciation
expense of $1.0 million in connection with earnings tests performed. The amount recorded could change if the SCC of
VA differs with management’s calculations or methodology.

On January 27, 2004, Washington Gas filed an expedited rate case with the SCC of VA to increase annual revenues
in Virginia by $19.6 million, with an overall rate of return of 8.70 percent and a 10.50 percent return on equity. On
February 26, 2004, based upon expedited rate case filing procedures, Washington Gas placed the proposed revenue
increase into effect, subject to refund, pending the SCC of VA’s final decision in the proceeding.
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On September 15, 2004, six participants in the rate case, including Washington Gas and the VA Staff, submitted a
proposed Stipulation to the SCC of VA. On September 27, 2004, the SCC of VA issued a Final Order approving the
Stipulation as filed. The Stipulation resolved all issues related to Washington Gas’ January 27, 2004 expedited rate case
application filed with the SCC of VA.

Under the Stipulation, Washington Gas will not change its annual base revenues, and will maintain the allowed
rate of return on common equity of 10.50 percent and the overall rate of return of 8.44 percent as approved by the
December 18, 2003 Final Order as previously discussed. Refunds to customers, with interest, are being made during
the December 2004 billing cycle for the amount of the proposed annual revenue increase that has been collected since
February 26, 2004. Based on the terms of the Stipulation, the Company implemented billing rates commencing
October 4, 2004 that reflect the level of annual revenues determined in the December 18, 2003 Final Order, and
implemented the agreed upon changes in rate design that are contained in the Stipulation.

The Stipulation provides for a one-time credit to all Virginia customers of $3.2 million for certain liabilities that
were previously recorded by Washington Gas. This one-time credit will be made to customers during the January 2005
billing cycle. Providing this credit to customers does not have an effect on earnings of Washington Gas. Under the
Stipulation, Washington Gas is required to file with the SCC of VA, on or before December 27, 2004, an earnings test
calculation for the twelve-month period ended December 31, 2003. Future annual earnings test calculations will be
estimated by the Company quarterly, and when appropriate, accounting adjustments will be recorded.

The Company’s financial results for the nine months ended June 30, 2004 reflected a provision for rate refunds to
customers based on the difference between the amount the Company had collected in rates subject to refund through
June 30, 2004, and the amount that the Company had expected to be realized from the final outcome of the rate case
filed in January 2004, based on management’s judgment at that time. The amount of the proposed revenue increase
that had been included in net income for the nine months ended June 30, 2004, after considering the provision for
rate refunds, was $2.2 million (pre-tax). After taking into consideration the Stipulation discussed above, Washington
Gas increased its provision for rate refunds in the quarter ended September 30, 2004 to the full amount of revenues
that had been collected subject to refund through the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004. The increased provision
eliminated the $2.2 million of pre-tax income that was previously included in net income for the nine months ended
June 30, 2004. After the additional provision for rate refunds was recorded in the quarter ended September 30, 2004,
there was no effect on fiscal year 2004, nor will there be any effect on fiscal year 2005 earnings for the rates initially
put into effect in February 2004.

NON-UTILITY OPERATIONS

Natural Gas

WGEServices has contracts to purchase natural gas with terms of up to 30 months. WGEServices designs its
purchase contracts to match the duration of its sales commitments and effectively to lock in a margin on estimated gas
sales over the terms of existing sales contracts. Gas purchase commitments disclosed below are based on existing
fixed-price purchase commitments using city gate equivalent deliveries, the majority of which are for fixed volumes.

Electricity

WGEServices owns no electric generation assets, and receives its electric supply to serve its retail customers
under full requirements supply contracts. WGEServices’ principal supplier of electricity is Mirant Americas Energy
Marketing L.P. (MAEM), a wholly owned subsidiary of Mirant Americas, Inc., which is a wholly owned subsidiary of
Mirant Corporation (Mirant). WGEServices purchases full requirements services from MAEM, including electric
energy, capacity and certain ancillary services, and then resells it to retail electric customers in the District of
Columbia and Maryland. As a result, WGEServices has no open position on its electric supply contracts at
September 30, 2004. Electric commitments are based on customer usage, and the range of the commitment could
extend from zero to the full amount used by customers. The Company has no fixed commitment to purchase
electricity. Therefore, no commitment for electricity is shown in the table below.
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The following table summarizes the contractual obligations and minimum commitments of WGEServices at
September 30, 2004.

WGEServices Contract Minimums

Gas purchase Pipeline

(In millions) Commitments® Contracts Total

2005 $134.4 $1.7 $136.1
2006 16.0 0.1 16.1
2007 23 0.1 2.4
2008 - - -
2009 - - -
Thereafter - - -
Total $152.7 $1.9 $154.6

@ Represents Jfixed price commitments with city gate equivalent deliveries.

On July 14, 2003, Mirant and substantially all of its subsidiaries filed voluntary petitions for reorganization under
Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code. MAEM was included in these bankruptcy filings. Future performance by
MAEM may be subject to further developments in the bankruptcy proceedings. The performance risk associated with
the pre-bankruptcy petition MAEM contracts is mitigated through a Security and Escrow agreement entered into
between WGEServices and MAEM prior to the bankruptcy filing. Under the Security and Escrow agreement,
WGEServices has access to collateral that is intended to cover the difference between the current market price of
electricity and the price at which WGEServices has contracted to buy electricity. In the opinion of counsel to the
Company, WGEServices has the contractual right to draw on the escrow funds in the account (which totaled
$3.0 million and $30.0 million as of September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively) if the pre-bankruptcy petition
contracts between WGEServices and MAEM are terminated. The amount of WGEServices’ exposure in the event of
termination of these contracts between WGEServices and MAEM is estimated to be less than the amount of collateral
included in the escrow account. This estimate of WGEServices’ exposure to contract termination is based upon
acquiring supply, priced at forward electricity prices through the expiration of the existing sales contracts or until
WGEServices exercises certain damage limitation provisions of its customers’ sales contracts. The actual exposure for
WGEServices may differ from the estimate due to changes in timing of any contract termination, deviations from
normal weather, changes in future market conditions, or other factors.

Since the bankruptcy filing, MAEM has continued to honor its supply obligations to WGEServices. All obligations
to WGEServices under the pre-bankruptcy petition MAEM contracts expire by the end of October 2005, with the
majority of these obligations expiring by December 2004. In October 2003, WGEServices and MAEM signed a post-
bankruptcy petition contract that enables WGEServices to renew expiring contracts with its current electric
customers and to make purchases for new customers. These post-bankruptcy petition contracts include provisions
that allow WGEServices to net payables to MAEM against any damages that might result from default on the part of
MAEM, and allow WGEServices to request collateral under certain situations.

Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishment of Liabilities

The Company’s unregulated consumer financing business previously had extended credit to certain residential
and small commercial customers to purchase gas appliances and other energy-related products. The Company’s
unregulated consumer financing business transferred with recourse certain of these accounts receivable to commer-
cial banks.

In September 2001, the Company scaled back its consumer financing operation. The Company stopped financing
new loans, but expects to continue servicing existing loans until they are fully amortized by the end of fiscal year 2005
or the beginning of fiscal year 2006. In May 2002, the Company contracted with a third-party vendor to service the
remaining loans. During fiscal years 2004, 2003 and 2002, there were no sales of receivables to commercial banks.
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At September 30, 2004, the Company had loans totaling $2.5 million, all of which were recorded in the
Company’s financial statements. The Company had a $304,000 reserve for uncollectible accounts. Loan repurchases
from commercial banks totaled $3.2 million for both fiscal years 2004 and 2003.

Construction Project Financing

In October 2000, Washington Gas contracted with the U.S. General Services Administration (GSA) to construct
certain facilities at the GSA central plant in Washington, D.C. Payments to Washington Gas for this construction were
to be made by the GSA over a 15-year period. In November 2000, Washington Gas and General Electric Capital
Assurance Company (GEFA) entered into a long-term financing arrangement, whereby GEFA funded this construction
project. As part of this financing arrangement, Washington Gas assigned to GEFA the 15-year stream of payments due
from the GSA. The amount of this long-term financing arrangement, including change orders, origination fees and
capitalized finance charges was $69.4 million. As the long-term financing from GEFA was funded, Washington Gas
established a note receivable representing the GSA’s obligation to remit principal and interest. Upon completion and
acceptance of phases of the construction project, Washington Gas accounts for the transfer of the financed asset as an
extinguishment of long-term debt and removes both the note receivable and long-term financing from its financial
statements. As of September 30, 2004, construction of these facilities was substantially complete. Work on the
construction project that has not been completed or accepted by the GSA was valued at $15.6 million, which
represents an obligation on Washington Gas’ Balance Sheet at September 30, 2004. At any time before the contract
with the GSA is fully accepted, should there be a contract default, such as, among other things, non-payment by the
GSA, GEFA may call on Washington Gas to fund the entire unpaid principal in exchange for which Washington Gas
would receive the right to the stream of repayments from the GSA. Once final acceptance by the GSA is made, GEFA
will have no recourse against the Company related to this long-term debt. As of September 30, 2004, the GSA had
made all required payments under this long-term financing arrangement, and the remaining unpaid principal balance
was $63.8 million.

In addition to the GSA project described above, the Company finances other smaller construction projects and
accounts for them using a similar methodology. During fiscal year 2004, the Company issued an additional $800,000 of
debt to finance such projects. In fiscal year 2003, the Company eliminated $21.3 million of notes receivable and long-
term debt related to completed projects. The following table details the activity related to long-term borrowings
associated with construction projects.

Debt Activity Related to Construction Projects

(n millions) 2004 2003

Balance at beginning of fiscal year $15.6 $ 36.9
Debt issued 0.8 -
Debt retired® - (21.3)
Balance at end of fiscal year $16.4 $ 15.6

@ Includes the non-cash extinguisbment of project debt financing of $19.7 million for fiscal year 2003.

Financial Guarantees

WGL Holdings has guaranteed payments for certain purchases of natural gas and electricity made by
WGEServices. At September 30, 2004, these guarantees totaled $218.9 million. Termination of these guarantees is
coincident with the satisfaction of all obligations of WGEServices covered by the guarantees. WGL Holdings also had
guarantees totaling $6.0 million at September 30, 2004 that were made on behalf of certain of its non-utility
subsidiaries associated with their banking transactions. Of the total guarantees of $224.9 million, $42.0 million,
$4.0 million and $600,000 are due to expire on December 31, 2004, June 30, 2006 and February 29, 2008,
respectively. The remaining guarantees of $178.3 million do not have specific maturity dates. For all of its financial
guarantees, WGL Holdings may cancel any or all future obligations imposed by the guarantees upon written notice to
the counterparty, but WGL Holdings would continue to be responsible for the obligations that had been created under
the guarantees prior to the effective date of the cancellation.
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15. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following table presents the carrying amounts and estimated fair values of the Company’s financial
instruments at September 30, 2004 and 2003. The fair value of a financial instrument represents the amount at which
the instrument could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties. The carrying amount of current
assets and current liabilities approximates fair value because of the short-term maturity of these instruments, and
therefore are not shown in the table below.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

At September 30, 2004 2003
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
(In millions) Amount Value Amount Value
Preferred stock $ 28.2 S 28.2 $ 28.2 $ 28.2
Long-term debt® $590.2 $646.6 $637.1 $722.9

@ Excludes current maturities and unamortized discounts,

The carrying amount of preferred stock approximates fair value. The fair value of long-term debt was estimated
based on the quoted market prices of U.S. Treasury issues having a similar term to maturity, adjusted for Washington
Gas’ credit quality and the present value of future cash flows.

16. OPERATING SEGMENT REPORTING

In accordance with SFAS No. 131, Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, the
Company identifies and reports on operating segments under the “management approach.” Operating segments
comprise revenue-generating components of an enterprise for which the Company produces separate financial
information internally that management regularly uses to make operating decisions and assess performance. The
Company reports three operating segments: 1) regulated utility; 2) retail energy-marketing and 3) commercial HVAC.

With approximately 93 percent of WGL Holdings’ consolidated total assets, the regulated utility segment is the
Company’s core business. Represented by Washington Gas and Hampshire, the regulated utility segment provides
regulated gas distribution services (including the sale and delivery of natural gas, meter reading, responding to
customer inquiries and bill preparation) to customers primarily in Washington, D.C. and the surrounding metropolitan
areas in Maryland and Virginia. In addition to the regulated operations of Washington Gas, the regulated utility
segment includes the operations of Hampshire, an underground natural gas storage facility that is regulated under a
cost of service tariff by the FERC, and provides services exclusively to Washington Gas.

Through WGEServices, the retail energy-marketing segment sells natural gas and electricity directly to retail
customers, both inside and outside of Washington Gas’ traditional service territory, in competition with unregulated
gas and electricity marketers. Through two wholly owned subsidiaries, ACI and WGESystems, the commercial HVAC
segment designs, renovates and services mechanical heating, ventilating and air conditioning systems for commercial
and governmental customers. For fiscal year 2002, the HVAC segment also included the results of the Company’s
50 percent former equity investment in Primary Investors, an entity that provided HVAC services to residential
customers. The Company terminated its interest in Primary Investors in October 2002 (refer to Note 2—Disposition of
Limited Liability Company Investment).

Certain activities of the Company are not significant enough on a stand-alone basis to warrant treatment as an
operating segment and the activities do not fit into one of the segments contained in the Company’s financial
statements. For purposes of segment reporting, these activities are aggregated in the category ‘‘Other Activities” of the
Company’s non-utility operations as presented below in the Operating Segment Financial Information. These activities
are included in the Consolidated Statements of Income in the appropriate lines, revenues and expenses in “Non-Utility
Operations.”
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The same accounting policies as those described in Note 1—Accounting Policies also apply to the reported
segments. While net income or loss is the primary criterion for measuring a segment’s performance, the Company also
evaluates its operating segments based on other relevant factors, such as penetration into their respective markets and
return on invested capital. The following tables present operating segment information for fiscal years ended

September 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

Operating Segment Financial Information

Non-Utility Operations

Regulated Retail Energy- Other Eliminations/

(n thousands) Utility Marketing HVAC  Activities™  Total Other Consolidated
Year Ended September 30, 2004
Total Revenues $1,293,675 $789,859 $30,123 § 1,673 $821,655 §$ (25,727) $2,089,603
Operating Expenses:

Depreciation and Amortization 91,510 218 135 43 396 - 91,906

Other Operating Expenses®™ 1,008,013 775,882 36,114 3,836 815,832 (25,7273 1,798,118

Income Tax Expense (Benefit) 58,463 4,924 (2,077) 672) 2,175 - 60,638

Total Operating Expenses 1,157,986 781,024 34,172 3,207 818,403 (25,727 1,950,662

Operating Income (Loss) 135,689 8,835 (4,049) (1,534) 3,252 - 138,941
Interest Expense—Net 43,141 714 12 978 1,704 (700) 44,145
Other Non-Operating Income (Expense)® 2,277 159 (1,335) 7,314 6,138 (700) 3,161
Dividends on Washington Gas Preferred

Stock 1,320 - - - - — 1,320
Net Income (Loss) (Applicable to

Common Stock) $ 88951 $ 8,280 $(5396) $ 4802 $ 7,686 $ - $ 96,637
Total Assets $2,333,114 $152,816 $24,281 § 86,680 §263,777 § (91,983) $2,504,908
Capital Expenditures/Investments $§ 113,225 § 56 $§ 158 § - $§ 214 $ - § 113,439
Year Ended September 30, 2003
Total Revenues $1,313,041 $726,231 $35,521 $ 1439 $763,191 $ (11,984) $2,064,248
Operating Expenses:

Depreciation and Amortization 83,549 649 134 625 695 - 84,244

Other Operating Expenses™ 1,003,106 719,459 37,539 3,847 760,845 (11,984) 1,751,967

Income Tax Expense (Benefit) 68,633 2,521 (960) (1,393) 168 - 68,801

Total Operating Expenses 1,155,288 721,916 36,713 3,079 761,708 (11,984) 1,905,012

Operating Income (Loss) 157,753 4,315 (1,192) (1,640) 1,483 - 159,236
Interest Expense—Net 45,563 581 16 669 1,266 (448) 46,381
Other Non-Operating Income (Expense)® (1,834 11 24 3,054 3,089 (448) 807
Dividends on Washington Gas Preferred Stock 1,320 - - - - - 1,320
Net Income (Loss) (Applicable to Common

Stock) $ 109,036 $ 3,745 $(1,184) $ 745 % 3306 $ - $ 112,342
Total Assets $2,257,787 $141,421 $23,053 $114,027 $278,501 $(100,236)  §$2,436,052
Capital Expenditures/Investments $ 129,003 § 8 § 72 8 - 8 80 § - § 129,083
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Operating Segment Financial Information

Non-Utility Operations

Regulated Retail Energy- Other Eliminations/

(In thousands) Utility Marketing HVAC  Activities™ Total Other Consolidated
Year Ended September 30, 2002
Total Revenues $ 938,804 $595,866 $61,887 $ 1918 $659,671 § (13,673) $1,584,802
Operating Expenses:

Depreciation and Amortization 72,921 430 675 483 1,588 - 74,509

Other Operating Expenses™ 739,761 587,633 53,591 11,761 652,985 (13,673) 1,379,073

Income Tax Expense (Benefit) 28,596 1,931 1,527 (1,733 1,725 105 20,426

Total Operating Expenses 841,278 589,994 55,793 10,511 656,298 (13,568) 1,484,008

Equity in Net Loss of Affiliate - - (5,402) - (5,402) - (5,402)
Residential HVAC Impairment - - 9,431 - 9.431) - 943D
Operating Income (Loss) 97,526 5,872 (8,739 (8,593) (11,460) (105) 85,961
Interest Expense—Net 45,312 912 335 795 2,042 (1,477 45,877
Other Non-Operating Income (Expense)® 827 7 117 778 902 (1,372) 357
Dividends on Washington Gas Preferred Stock 1,320 - - - - - 1,320
Net Income (Loss) (Applicable to Common

Stock) $ 51,721 $ 4,967 $(8,957) $ (8,610) $(12,600) $ - $ 39,121
Total Assets $2,177,713 $128,127 $25,501 $ 73,672 $227390 $ (65,957) $2,339,146
Capital Expenditures/Investments $ 161,645 $ 433 $ 4313 § (108) $ 4,638 § - $ 166,283

@ 2004 includes an after-tax gain of $5.8 million from the sale of an interest in two buildings by a thivd party in a commercial development
Dproject in which the Company beld a carried interest.

® Includes cost of gas and revenue taxes.

© Amounts reported are net of applicable income taxes.

17. TRANSACTIONS BETWEEN WASHINGTON GAS AND AFFILIATES

Washington Gas and other subsidiaries of WGL Holdings engage in transactions with each other during the
ordinary course of business. All of these intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated from the
consolidated financial statements of WGL Holdings.

Washington Gas provides administrative and general support to affiliates, such as cash collections and other
services, and has filed tax returns that include affiliated taxable transactions. The actual costs of these services are
billed to the appropriate affiliates and to the extent such billings are not yet paid, they are reflected in ‘‘Receivables
from associated companies’” on the Washington Gas Balance Sheets. Cash collected by Washington Gas on behalf of its
affiliates but not yet transferred is recorded in “Payables to associated companies” on the Washington Gas Balance
Sheets. Washington Gas does not recognize revenues or expenses associated with providing these services.

At September 30, 2004 and 2003, the Washington Gas Balance Sheets reflected a net payable to associated
companies of $18.2 million and $10.0 million, respectively. All affiliated transactions, including these balances, were
eliminated from the WGL Holdings Consolidated Balance Sheets in accordance with GAAP.

Additionally, Washington Gas provides gas balancing services related to storage, injections, withdrawals and
deliveries to all unregulated energy marketers participating in the sale of natural gas on an unregulated basis through
the customer choice programs that operate in its service territory. Washington Gas records revenues for these
balancing services pursuant to tariffs approved by the appropriate regulatory bodies. In conjunction with such
services, Washington Gas charged WGEServices, an affiliated energy marketer, $25.7 million and $12.0 million for the
fiscal years ended September 30, 2004 and 2003, respectively. These related party amounts have been eliminated in
the consolidated financial statements of WGL Holdings.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of WGL Holdings, Inc. and Washington Gas Light Company

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and consolidated statements of capitalization of
WGL Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries and the separate balance sheets and statements of capitalization of Washington
Gas Light Company (the Companies) as of September 30, 2004 and 2003, and the related statements of income,
common shareholders’ equity, cash flows and income taxes for each of the three years in the period ended
September 30, 2004. Our audits also included the financial statement schedules listed in the Index at Item 15 under
Schedule II. These financial statements and financial statement schedules are the responsibility of the Companies’
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements and financial statement schedules
based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position
of WGL Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries and the financial position of Washington Gas Light Company as of
September 30, 2004 and 2003, and the respective results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three
vears in the period ended September 30, 2004 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such financial statement schedules, when considered in relation to the
basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly in all material respects the information set forth
therein.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

McLean, Virginia
December 8, 2004
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Unaudited)

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA

The Company believes that all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation have been included in the quarterly
information provided below. Due to the seasonal nature of its business, WGL Holdings reports substantial variations in
operations on a quarterly basis.

Quarter Ended

(In thousands, except per share data) December 31®  March 31%  June 30  September 30@
Fiscal Year 2004

Operating revenues $585,289 $862,252 $356,852 $285,210
Operating income (loss) 52,384 84,755 7,553 (5,751)
Net income (loss) 39,543 79,232 (4,128) (18,010)

Earnings (loss) per average share of
common stock:

Basic(® 0.81 1.63 (0.08) 0.37)

Diluted® 0.81 1.62 (0.08) 0.37)
Fiscal Year 2003
Operating revenues $ 560,022 $ 851,073 $ 373,155 $ 279,998
Operating income (10ss) 63,137 92,955 9,283 (6,139)
Net income (loss) 51,622 80,963 (2,640) (17,603)
Earnings (loss) per average share of common

stock:

Basic® 1.06 1.67 (0.05) (0.36)

Diluted® 1.06 1.66 (0.05) (0.36)

@ Quarter ended December 31, 2003 included additional depreciation expense of $3.5 million (pre-tax), or $0.04 per share, applicable to the
period from January 1, 2002 through November 11, 2002, in connection with a December 18, 2003 Virginia rate order.

® Quarter ended March 31, 2004 included after tax-earnings of $5.8 million, or $0.12 per shavre, from the sale, by an unrelated third party, of
two buildings at Maritime Plaza, a commercial development project in which the Company beld a carried interest under the equity method
of accounting, and gquarter ended March 31, 2003 included an after-tax gain of $2.5 million, or $0.05 per share, from the sale of the
Company’s Washington D.C. beadquarters property. The results for the quarter ended March 31, 2004 reflect the following restatement due
to the implementation of FSP No. 106-2 in the third quarter of fiscal year 2004:

Effect of
(In thousands, except per share data) Reported Subsidy  Restated
Net income $78,055 $1,177  $79,232
Earnings per average common share
Basic 1.60 0.03 1.63
Diluted 1.60 0.02 1.62

@ Quarter ended June 30, 2003 included a reduction in income taxes of $2.1 million, or $0.04 per share, due to the realization of tax benefits
of capital loss carryforwards.

@ Quarter ended September 30, 2004 included a $1.3 million after-tax, or $0.03 per share, decrease in revenues related to the provision for
rate refunds in Virginia, as well as a $1.5 million charge, or $0.03 per sbare, for the impairment of goodwill related to the Company’s
investment in its HVAC business,

@ The sum of quarterly per share amounts may not equal annual per share amounts as the quarterly calculations are based on varying
numbers of common shares.
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Glossary of Key Terms

ACI: American Combustion Industries, Inc. is a subsidiary of WGL Holdings, Inc. that provides HVAC-related products
and services to commercial customers.

Active Customer Meters: Natural gas meters that are physically connected to a building structure within the
Washington Gas distribution system and service is active. Customers are billed for flowing gas and/or fixed charges.

Bcf: A measurement standard of natural gas volumes of one billion cubic feet, or approximately ten million therms.
Book Value Per Share: Common shareholders’ equity divided by the number of common shares outstanding.

Bundled Service: Service in which customers purchase both the natural gas commeodity and the distribution or
delivery of the commodity from the local regulated utility. When customers purchase bundled service from
Washington Gas, no mark-up is applied to the cost of the natural gas commodity that is passed through to customers.
The regulated utility has an opportunity to earn a fair rate of return on the net investment used to deliver natural gas.

City Gate: A point or measuring station at which a gas distribution company such as Washington Gas receives natural
gas from a pipeline or transmission system.

Connected Customer Meters: Natural gas meters that are physically connected to a building structure within the
Washington Gas distribution system, however, service may or may not be active.

Degree Day (Heating): A measure of the variation in weather based on the extent to which the daily average
temperature falls below 65 degrees Fahrenheit.

Delivery Service: The regulated distribution or delivery of natural gas to retail customers. Washington Gas provides
delivery service to retail customers in Washington, D.C. and parts of Maryland and Virginia.

Dividend Yield on Book Value: Dividends declared per share divided by book value per share.

Firm Customers: Customers whose gas supply will not be disrupted to meet the needs of other customers. Typically,
this class of customer comprises residential customers and the vast majority of commercial customers.

HVAC: Heating, ventilating and air conditioning products and services.

Interruptible Customers: Large commercial customers whose service can be temporarily interrupted in order for
the regulated utility to meet the needs of firm customers. These customers pay a lower delivery rate than firm
customers and they must be able to readily substitute an alternate fuel for natural gas. The effect on net income of any
changes in delivered volumes or prices to the interruptible class is minimized by margin sharing arrangements in the
regulated utility’s tariffs.

Market-to-Book Ratio: Market price of a share of common stock divided by its book value per share.
Merchant Function: The purchase of the natural gas commodity by the regulated utility on behalf of retail customers.

New Customer Meters Added: Natural gas meters that are newly connected to a building structure within the
Washington Gas distribution system. Service may or may not have been activated.

Payout Ratio: Dividends declared per share divided by basic earnings per share.

PSC of DC: The Public Service Commission of the District of Columbia is a three-member board that regulates the
utility’s distribution operations in the District of Columbia.

PSC of MD: The Public Service Commission of Maryland is a five-member board that regulates the utility’s distribution
operations in Maryland.

Regulated Utility Operations: See Utility Operations.

Retail Energy-Marketing: Unregulated sales of the natural gas and electricity to end users by a company subsidiary,
Washington Gas Energy Services, Inc.

Return on Average Common Equity: Net income divided by average common shareholders’ equity.

105




WGL Holdings, Inc.
Washington Gas Light Company
Part II

SCC of VA: The State Corporation Commission of Virginia is a three-member board that regulates the utility’s
distribution operations in Virginia.

Service Area: The region in which the regulated utility operates. The service area includes Washington, D.C. and the
surrounding metropolitan areas in Maryland and Virginia.

Tariffs: Documents issued by the regulatory commission in each jurisdiction that set the prices the regulated utility
may charge and the practices it must follow when providing utility service to its utility customers.

Third-Party Marketer: Unregulated companies that sell natural gas and electricity directly to retail customers.
Washington Gas Energy Services, Inc., a subsidiary company of Washington Gas Resources Corp., is a third-party
marketer.

Therm: A natural gas unit of measurement that includes a standard measure for heating value. The regulated utility
reports its natural gas sales and deliveries in therms. Ten million therms equal approximately one billion cubic feet

(bcf).

Unbundling: The separation of the delivery of natural gas or electricity from the sale of these commodities and related
services that, in the past, were provided only by a regulated utility.

Utility Net Revenues: Utility revenues, less the associated cost of gas and applicable revenue taxes.

Utility Operations: The regulated business that delivers and sells natural gas to retail customers in Washington, D.C.,
Maryland and Virginia. Utility operations are regulated primarily by state regulatory commissions.

Value-At-Risk: A risk measurement that estimates the largest expected loss over a specified period of time under
normal market conditions within a specified probabilistic confidence interval.

Wasbington Gas: Washington Gas Light Company is a subsidiary of WGL Holdings, Inc. that delivers and sells natural
gas primarily to retail customers in accordance with tariffs set by the District of Columbia, Maryland and Virginia
regulatory commissions.

Wasbhington Gas Resources Corporation: Washington Gas Resources Corp. is a subsidiary of WGL Holdings, Inc.
that owns the majority of the non-utility subsidiaries.

WGEServices: Washington Gas Energy Services, Inc. is a subsidiary of Washington Gas Resources Corp. that markets
natural gas and electricity to retail customers on an unregulated basis.

WGESystems: Washington Gas Energy Systems, Inc., is a subsidiary of Washington Gas Resources Corp. that offers
HVAC-related products and services to commercial customers.

WGL Holdings: WGL Holdings, Inc. is a holding company that became the parent company of Washington Gas Light
Company and its subsidiaries effective November 1, 2000.

Weather Insurance: An insurance policy that provides the regulated utility’s earnings with some protection from the
effects of warmer-than-normal winter weather.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON
ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Senior management, including the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and the Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of WGL Holdings’ and Washington Gas’ disclosure controls and
procedures as of September 30, 2004. Based on this evaluation process, the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and
the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that WGL Holdings’ and Washington Gas’ disclosure
controls and procedures were effective as of September 30, 2004. There have been no changes in the Registrants’
internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended September 30, 2004 that have materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Registrants’ internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANTS

Information concerning the Company’s Board of Directors and the audit committee financial expert contained in
WGL Holdings’ definitive Proxy Statement and Washington Gas’ definitive Information Statement for the February 23,
2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders is hereby incorporated by reference. Information related to Executive Officers is
reflected in Part 1 hereof.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information concerning Executive Compensation contained in WGL Holdings’ definitive Proxy Statement and
Washington Gas’ definitive Information Statement for the February 23, 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders is
hereby incorporated by reference. Information related to Executive Officers as of September 30, 2004 is reflected in
Part I hereof.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information captioned Security Ownership of Management and Certain Beneficial Owners and the
information captioned Equity Compensation Plan Information in WGL Holdings’ definitive Proxy Statement and
Washington Gas’ definitive Information Statement for the February 23, 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders is
hereby incorporated by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

The information captioned Business Relationship with Associate of Directors in WGL Holdings’ definitive Proxy
Statement and Washington Gas’ definitive Information Statement for the February 23, 2005 Annual Meeting of
Shareholders is hereby incorporated by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information captioned Audit Firm Fee Summary in WGL Holdings’ definitive Proxy Statement and
Washington Gas’ definitive Information Statement for the February 23, 2005 Annual Meeting of Shareholders is
hereby incorporated by reference.
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ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Financial Statement Schedules

@™

All of the financial statements and financial statement schedules filed as a part of the Annual Report on Form 10-K
are included in Item 8.

(@)(2)

Schedule II should be read in conjunction with the financial statements in this report. Schedules not included
herein have been omitted because they are not applicable or the required information is shown in the financial
statements or notes thereto.

Schedule/

Exhibit Description

I Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves for the years ended September 30, 2004, 2003 and
2002—WGL Holdings, Inc.
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves for the years ended September 30, 2004, 2003 and
2002—Washington Gas Light Company.

@Q@3) Exhibits
Exhibits Filed Herewith:

3 Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws:
Bylaws of Washington Gas Light Company as amended on October 1, 2004.

10 Material Contracts:

10.1 Service Agreement, renegotiated and effective November 1, 2004, with Columbia Gulf Transmission
Company related to Firm Transportation Service.

10 .2 Service Agreement, effective November 1, 2004, with Dominion Cove Point LNG, LP related to Firm
Transportation Service.

10.3 Service Agreement, effective November 1, 2004, with Dominion Transmission Inc. related to Firm
Transportation Service from the Mid Atlantic project.

10 .4 Service Agreement, effective November 1, 2004, with Dominion Transmission Inc. related to Storage
Service from the Mid Atlantic project.

10 .5 Service Agreement, effective November 1, 2004, with Dominion Transmission Inc. related to Firm
Storage Service from the Mid Atlantic project.

10.6 Service Agreement, effective October 1, 2004, with Transcontinental Pipe Line Corporation related to
additional Firm Transportation Service from Leidy East.

10.7 Service Agreements, renegotiated and effective June 1, 2004, with Columbia Gas Transmission
Corporation related to Firm Storage Service. (Agreements 78843,78844,78845 and 78846)

10 .8 Service Agreements, renegotiated and effective June 1, 2004, with Columbia Gas Transmission
Corporation related to Storage Service. (Agreements 78837, 78838, 78839 and 78840)

10.9 Service Agreements, renegotiated and effective June 1, 2004, with Columbia Gas Transmission
Corporation related to Firm Transportation Service. (Agreements 78833, 78834, 78835 and 78836)

10 .10 Service Agreement, effective November 27, 2003, with Columbia Gas Transmission Corporation related
to additional Firm Transportation Service.

10 .11 Service Agreement, effective January 1, 1996, with Transcontinental Gas Pipe Line Corporation related

to Firm Transportation Setvice.
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Schedule/
Exhibit Description
@)(3) Exhibits (continued)
10 .12 Service Agreement, effective April 1, 1995, with Transcontinental Gas Pipe Line Corporation related to
Firm Transportation Service.
10.13 Service Agreement, effective August 1, 1991, with Transcontinental Gas Pipe Line Corporation related
to Firm Transportation Service.
10 .14 Service Agreements, effective January 12, 2004 with East Tennessee Natural Gas Company and Saltville
Storage Company related to Firm Transportation and Firm Storage Service.
10 .15 WGL Holdings, Inc. 1999 Incentive Compensation Plan, as amended and restated as of March 5, 2003.*
12 Statement re Computation of Ratios:
121 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges—WGL Holdings, Inc.
12.2 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends—WGL Holdings,
Inc.
12 .3 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges—Washington Gas Light Company.
12 4 Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges and Preferred Stock Dividends—Washington Gas
Light Company.
21 Subsidiaries of WGL Holdings, Inc.
23 Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP.
31.1 Certification of James H. DeGraffenreidt, Jr., the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of WGL
Holdings, Inc., pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.2 Certification of Frederic M. Kline, the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of WGL Holdings,
Inc., pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31.3 Certification of James H. DeGraffenreidt, Jr., the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Washington
Gas Light Company, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
31 .4 Certification of Frederic M. Kline, the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Washington Gas
Light Company, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32 Certification of James H. DeGraffenreidt, Jr., the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, and Frederic
M. Kline, the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.
Exhibits Incorporated by Reference:
2 Plan of Merger between WGL Holdings, Inc. and Washington Gas Light Company, filed on Form S-4
dated February 2, 2000.
3 Articles of Incorporations & Bylaws:
Washington Gas Light Company Charter, filed on Form S$-3 dated July 21, 1995.
WGL Holdings, Inc. Charter and Bylaws, filed on Form S-4 dated February 2, 2000.
4 Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders including Indentures:

Indenture, dated September 1, 1991 between Washington Gas Light Company and The Bank of New
York, as Trustee, regarding issuance of unsecured notes, filed as an exhibit to Form 8K on
September 19, 1991.
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Schedule/

Exhibit Description

(a)(3) Exhibits (continued)
Supplemental Indenture, dated September 1, 1993 between Washington Gas Light Company and The
Bank of New York, as Trustee, regarding the addition of a new section to the Indenture dated
September 1, 1991, filed as an exhibit to Form 8-K on September 10, 1993.

10 Material Contracts:

Service Agreement effective November 1, 2002 with the Transcontinental Gas Pipe Line Corporation
for the MarketLink Firm Transportation Capacity, filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2003.

Service Agreement effective October 1, 1993 with Transcontinental Gas Pipe Line Corporation related
to the upstream capacity on the Dominion Transmission, Inc. system, filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 1993.

Service Agreement effective October 1, 1993 with Transcontinental Gas Pipe Line Corporation related
to General Storage Service, filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30,
1993.

Service Agreement effective October 1, 1993 with Dominion Transmission, Inc. related to Firm
Transportation Service, filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 1993.

Service Agreement effective October 1, 1993 with Dominion Transmission, Inc. related to Firm
Transportation Storage Service, filed as an exhibit to Form 10K for the fiscal year ended
September 30, 1993.

Service Agreement effective October 1, 1993 with Dominion Transmission, Inc. related to General
Storage Service, filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 1993.

Service Agreement effective August 1, 1991 with Transcontinental Gas Pipe Line Corporation related to
Washington Storage Service, filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended September 30,
1993.

Retirement Plan for Outside Directors, as amended on December 18, 1996 and filed as an exhibit to
Form 10K for the fiscal year ended September 30, 1997.*

WGL Holdings, Inc. and Washington Gas Light Company Deferred Compensation Plan for Outside
Directors, adopted December 18, 1985, and amended as of November 1, 2000, filed as an exhibit to
Form 10K in the fiscal year ended September 30, 2001.*

WGL Holdings, Inc. Directors’ Stock Compensation Plan, adopted on October 25, 1995, and amended
as of November 1, 2000, filed as an exhibit to Form 10K in the fiscal year ended September 30,
2001

Employment Agreement between Washington Gas Light Company and Mr. Thomas F. Bonner, as
defined in Item 402 (a)(3) of Regulation S-K, dated April 29, 2002, filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2003.*

Employment Agreement between Washington Gas Light Company and Ms. Beverly J. Burke, as defined
in Item 402 (a)(3) of Regulation S-K, dated December 14, 2001, filed as an exhibit to Form 10K for
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2003.*

Employment Agreement between Washington Gas Light Company and Mr. James H. DeGraffenreidt, Jr.,
as defined in Item 402 (a)(3) of Regulation S-K, filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K in the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2001.*

111




Schedule/
Exhibit

WGL Holdings, Inc.
Washington Gas Light Company
Part IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules (concluded)

Description

@@3)

Exhibits (concluded)

Employment Agreement between Washington Gas Light Company and Mr. Frederic M. Kline, as
defined in Item 402 (a)(3) of Regulation S-K, filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K in the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2001.*

Employment Agreement between Washington Gas Light Company and Mr. Terry D. McCallister, as
defined in Item 402 (a)(3) of Regulation S-K, filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K in the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2001.*

Washington Gas Light Company Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan amended November 1, 2000,
filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K in the fiscal year ended September 30, 2001.*

WGL Holdings, Inc. Long-Term Incentive Compensation Plan, adopted June 28, 1989, amended as of
November 1, 2000, filed as an exhibit to Form 10-K in the fiscal year ended September 30, 2001.*

Form of Nongqualified Stock Option Award Agreement, filed as an exhibit to Form 8-K dated
October 5, 2004.*

Form of Performance Share Award Agreement, filed as an exhibit to Form 8-K dated October 5, 2004.*

Distribution Agreement among Washington Gas Light Company and Citigroup Capital Markets Inc.,
Bank One Capital Markets, Inc., Merrill Lynch, Pierce Fenner & Smith Incorporated, The Williams
Capital Group, L.P. and Wachovia Services, Inc. for the issuance and sale of up to $250.0 million of
Medium-Term Notes, Series G, under an Indenture dated as of September 1, 1991. This was filed as an
exhibit to Form 8K dated May 22, 2003.

* This asterisk designates an agreement that is a compensatory plan or arrangement.
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WGL Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Schedule I—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves
Years Ended September 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Additions Charged To

Balance at Balance at
Beginning Costs and Otber Deductions End of
(In thousands) of Period Expenses Accounts (@] Period
2004
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Deducted from Assets in the Balance
Sheet:
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts $17,543 $12,299 $3,173 A $16,973 $16,042
Provision for Impairment of
Investments and Other Deferred
Charges 1,546 - - - 1,546
Reserves:
Injuries and Damages 3,459 74 1,679 (B) 1,094 4,118
Other 450 - - - 450
2003
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Deducted from Assets in the Balance
Sheet:
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts $13,740 $13,327 $ 2,380 (A) $ 11,904 $17,543
Provision for Impairment of Investments
and Other Deferred Charges 1,946 - - 400 1,546
Reserves:
Injuries and Damages 6,949 (3,120) - ® 370 3,459
Other 450 - - - 450
2002
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Deducted from Assets in the Balance
Sheet:
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts $ 16,632 $12,528 $ 4,666 A) $ 20,086 $ 13,740
Provision for Impairment of Investments
and Other Deferred Charges 1,946 - - - 1,946
Reserves:
Injuries and Damages 6,939 327 322 ® 639 6,949
Other 450 - - - 450
Notes:

(A) Recoveries on receivables previously written off as uncollectible and unclaimed customer deposits, overpayments, etc., not

refundable.

(B) Portion of injuries and damages charged to construction and reclassification from otbher accounts.

(C©) Includes deductions for purposes for which reserves were provided or revisions made of estimated exposure.
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Schedule II-Valuation and Qualifying Accounts and Reserves
Years Ended September 30, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Additions Charged To
Balance at Balance at
Beginning Costs and Other Deductions End of

(In thousands) of Period Expenses Accounts ©) Period
2004
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Deducted from Assets in the Balance

Sheet:

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts $15,826 $11,111 $3,173 (A) $16,908 $13,202
Reserves:

Injuries and Damages 3,409 74 1,679 ®) 1,094 4,068

Other 450 - - - 450
2003
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Deducted from Assets in the Balance

Sheet:

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts $ 9,395 $15,801 $2,380 (A) $11,750 $15,826
Reserves:

Injuries and Damages 6,899 (3,120) - ® 370 3,409

Other 450 - - - 450
2002
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Deducted from Assets in the Balance

Sheet:

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts $14,372 $ 11,847 $2,939 A) $19,763 $ 9,395
Reserves:

Injuries and Damages 6,939 277 322 ®) 639 6,899

Other 450 - - - 450
Notes:

(A) Recoveries on recetvables previously written off as uncollectible and unclaimed customer deposits, overpayments, etc., not

refundable.

(B) Portion of injuries and damages charged to construction and reclassification from otber accounts.

(C) Includes deductions for purposes for which reserves were provided or revisions made of estimated exposure.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrants have
duly caused this report to be signed on their behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

WGL HOLDINGS, INC.
and
WASHINGTON GAS LIGHT COMPANY
(Co-registrants)

/s/ Frederic M. Kline
Frederic M. Kline
Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

Date: December 9, 2004

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the registrants and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ James H. DeGraffenreidt, Jr. Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive December 9, 2004
(ames H. DeGraffenreidt, Jr.) Officer

/s/ Terry D. McCallister President and Chief Operating Officer December 9, 2004
(Terry D. McCallister)

/s/ Frederic M. Kline Vice President and Chief Financial Officer December 9, 2004
(Frederic M. Kline) (Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Mark P. O’Flynn Controller December 9, 2004
(Mark P. O’Flynn) (Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Michael D. Barnes Director December 9, 2004

(Michael D. Barnes)

/s/ Daniel J. Callahan, III Director December 9, 2004
(Daniel J. Callahan, III)

/s/ George P. Clancy, Jr. Director December 9, 2004
(George P. Clancy, Jr.)

/s/ James W. Dyke, Jr., Esq. Director December 9, 2004
(James W. Dyke, Jr., Esq.)

/s/ Melvyn J. Estrin Director December 9, 2004
(Melvyn J. Estrin)

/s/ James F. Lafond Director December 9, 2004
(James F. Lafond)

/s/ Debra L. Lee Director December 9, 2004
(Debra L. Lee)

/s/ Karen Hastie Williams, Esq. Director December 9, 2004
(Karen Hastie Williams, Esq.)
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF WGL HOLDINGS, INC.
I, James H. DeGraffenreidt, Jr., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of WGL Holdings, Inc. and Washington Gas Light Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared,;

b)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

¢) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors:

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant

role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: December 9, 2004

/s/ James H. DeGraffenreidt, Jr.

James H. DeGraffenreidt, Jr.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF WGL HOLDINGS, INC.

I, Frederic M. Kline, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of WGL Holdings, Inc. and Washington Gas Light Company;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢e)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

¢)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors:

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: December 9, 2004

/s/ Frederic M. Kline

Frederic M. Kline
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 31.3
CERTIFICATION OF WASHINGTON GAS LIGHT COMPANY
I, James H. DeGraffenreidt, Jr., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of WGL Holdings, Inc. and Washington Gas Light Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared,

b)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

¢)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors:

a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant

role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: December 9, 2004

/s/ James H. DeGraffenreidt, Jr.

James H. DeGraffenreidt, Jr.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.4
CERTIFICATION OF WASHINGTON GAS LIGHT COMPANY
I, Frederic M. Kline, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of WGL Holdings, Inc. and Washington Gas Light Company;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:

a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be
designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared,

b)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of
the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

¢)  Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of
directors:

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: December 9, 2004

/s/ Frederic M. Kline

Frederic M. Kline
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION OF THE CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AND THE VICE PRESIDENT AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the combined Annual Report of WGL Holdings, Inc. and Washington Gas Light Company (the
“Companies’ on Form 10-K for the annual period ended September 30, 2004 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report’), James H. DeGraffenreidt, Jr., Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of the Companies, and Frederic M. Kline, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Companies, each
hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to the
best of their knowledge, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934;
and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Companies.

This certification is being made for the exclusive purpose of compliance by the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer and the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Companies with the requirements of Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and may not be disclosed, distributed, or used by any person for any reason other than
as specifically required by law.

/s/ James H. DeGraffenreidt, Jr.

James H. DeGraffenreidt, Jr.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Frederic M. Kline

Frederic M. Kline
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

December 9, 2004
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WGL Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Income
(In thousands, except per share data)

Years Ended September 30, 2004 2003 2002
UTILITY OPERATIONS
Operating Revenues $1,267,948 $1,301,057 $ 925,131
Less: Cost of gas 668,968 696,561 459,149
Revenue taxes 50,079 40,465 27,549
Utility Net Revenues 548,901 564,031 438,433
Other Operating Expenses
Operation 182,573 176,482 164,236
Maintenance 44,178 39,773 40,825
Depreciation and amortization 91,510 83,549 72,921
General taxes 36,544 37,841 34,328
Income taxes:
Federal 21,707 22,368 23,085
Other 7,682 8,473 7,893
Deferred—net 29,971 38,690 (1,375)
Investment tax credits—net (897) (898) (901)
Utility Other Operating Expenses 413,268 406,278 341,012
Utility Operating Income 135,633 157.753 97.421
NON-UTILITY OPERATIONS
Operating Revenues
Retail energy-marketing 789,859 726,231 595,866
Heating, ventilating and air conditioning{HVAC) 30,123 35,521 61,887
Other non-utility activities 1,673 1,439 1,918
Non-Utility Operating Revenues 821,655 763,191 659,671
Equity Loss in 50%-Owned Residential HVAC Investment - - (5,402)
Impairment of Residential HVAC Investment - - {9,431)
Other Operating Expenses (Income)
Operating expenses 816,172 761,540 654,573
Income taxes:
Federal 2,025 (4,805) 3,601
Other 123 3,074 1,046
Deferred—net 27 1,899 (2,922)
Non-Utility Operating Expenses 818,347 761,708 656,298
Non-Utility Operating Income {Loss) 3,308 1,483 (11,460)
TOTAL OPERATING INCOME 138,941 159,236 85,961
Other Income (Expenses)—Net @ 3,161 807 357
INCOME BEFORE INTEREST EXPENSE 142,102 160,043 86,318
INTEREST EXPENSE
Interest on long-term debt 41,822 43,866 43,138
Other 2,323 2,515 2,739
Total Interest Expense 44,145 46,381 45,877
DIVIDENDS ON WASHINGTON GAS PREFERRED STOCK 1,320 1,320 1,320
NET INCOME (APPLICABLE TO COMMON STOCK) $ 96,637 $ 112.342 $ 39.121
AVERAGE COMMON SHARES OUTSTANDING
Basic 48,640 48,587 48,563
Diluted 48.847 48.756 48.651
EARNINGS PER AVERAGE COMMON SHARE
Basic $ 1.99 $ 2.31 $ 0.81
Diluted $ 1.98 $ 2.30 $ 0.80
“ Amounts reported for fiscal years 1994-1996 include both non-utility operating revenues and expenses as well as other
miscellaneous non-operating revenues and expenses.
Common Stock Data
Years Ended September 30, 2004 2003 2002
Shares outstanding (000s) {year-end) 48,653 48,612 48,565
Dividends declared per share $ 1.2950 $ 12775 $ 12675
Payout ratio 65.1% 55.3% 156.5%
Dividend yield on book value {year-end) 7.4% 7.6% 8.0%
Market price on NYSE: High $ 3039 $ 2879 $ 2975
Low $ 26.20 $ 21.94 $ 1925
Average $ 28.30 $ 25.37 $ 2450
Close S 28.26 $ 27.58 $ 2391
Price earnings ratio (year-end) 14.2 11.9 29.5
Dividend yield on market price (year-end) 4.6% 4.6% 5.3%
Book value per share at September 30 $ 17.54 $ 16.83 $ 1578
Market-to-book ratio (average) 164.6% 155.6% 153.0%
Number of common shareholders of record (year-end) 16,442 17,277 17,960
Shares traded—average daily voluEe 146,314 152.907 124,633




2004 Operating Financial Statisitics

2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1996 1995 1994
$1,446,456 $1,031,105 $ 972,120 $1,040,618 $1,055,754 $ 969,778 $ 828,748 $ 914,863
904,416 552,579 505,346 575,786 572,925 469,925 390,041 462,195
40,616 35,598 134,793 39,659 43,719 44,349 40,472 47,271
501,424 442,928 431,981 425,173 439,110 453,504 398,235 405,397
157,662 146,288 168,532 162,336 160,193 187,817 163,518 171,612
36,807 31,216 35,624 38,458 36,857 33,105 31,268 35,789
68,754 65,514 59,940 54,875 51,363 47,887 46,385 43,494
37,867 27,226 28,125 29,519 27,558 24,256 27,357 24,906
16,089 28,416 28,151 26,164 36,783 36,365 32,636 22,596
605 2,148 2,147 2,078 2,891 2,859 2,962 2,041
43,214 18,157 9,445 10,714 9,144 11,124 2,908 13,641
899 (900) (1,054) (934)  (954) (972) (992) {1,014)
360,099 318,065 330,910 323,210 323,835 342,441 306,042 313,065
) 141,325 124,863 101.071 101,963 115,275 113,063 92,193 92,332
419,226 166,705 103,851 83,176 35,308 - - -
70,279 47,473 31,208 13,815 2,653 - - -
3,558 3,909 5,037 5,843 6,965 - - -
493063 218,087 140,096 102,834 44.926 B : -
{2,595) (1,949) (54 - - - - -
_{3,900) o - - - . i i
487,486 210,614 129,526 96,434 42,618 - - -

476 1,783 2,957 1,410 (35) - -

91 13 365 181 29 - -

(204) (354) 504 49 778 - -

487,849 212,056 133,352 98,074 43,390 - B

(1,281) 4,082 6,690 4,760 1,536 - -
140,044 128,945 107,761 106,723 116,811 113,063 92,193 92,332
(6,279) (635) (2,022) (375) (650) (874) 2,610 274
133,765 128,310 105,739 106,348 116,161 112,189 94,803 92,606
41,294 36,115 34,684 33,859 30,135 27,622 28,012 27,741
) 8,706 7,621 2,287 3,860 4,007 2,976 3,882 4,406
50,000 43,736 36,971 37,719 34,142 30,598 31,894 32,147
1,320 1,323 1,331 , 1,331 1,331 1,332 1,333 1,335
$ 82445 $ 83251 $ 67.437 $ 67.298 $ 30,688 $ 80,259 $ 61,576 $§ 59.124
47,120 46,473 45,984 43,691 43,706 43,360 42,575 41,835
47,190 46,537 46,023 43,717 43,733 43,391 42.609 41,876
$ 1.75 $ 1.79 $ 147 $ 1.54 $ 1.85 $ 185 $ 145§ 141
$ 1.75 $ 1.79 $ 147 $ 1.54 $ 1.85 $  1.85 $ 145 § 141
2001 2000 1999 1998 1997 1596 1995 1994
48,543 46,470 46,473 43,839 43,700 43,703 42,932 42,187
$  1.2550 $  1.2350 $ 1.2150 $  1.1950 $ 11700 $ 1.1350 $ 11175 $ 1.1050
71.7% 69.0% 82.7% 77.6% 63.2% 61.4% 77.1% 78.4%
7.7% 8.1% 8.3% 8.6% 8.7% 8.9% 9.4% 9.6%
$  31.50 $  29.44 $ 28.88 $ 3138 $ 2650 $ 2288 $ 2100 $ 2275
$  24.81 $ 2175 $  21.00 $  23.06 $ 2088 $ 18.50 $ 1600 $ 16.88
$ 2816 $  25.59 $ 2494 $ 2722 $  23.69 $ 2069 $ 1850 § 19.82
$  26.89 $  26.88 $ 2713 $  27.69 $ 2563 $  22.00 $ 1988 § 17.88
15.4 15.0 17.0 17.7 12.8 11.1 12.8 14.0
4.7% 4.8% 4.9% 4.4% 5.0% 5.5% 6.0% 5.6%
$ 1624 $ 1531 $ 1472 $  13.86 $ 1348 $ 1279 $ 1195 §  11.51
178.5% 170.5% 174.5% 199.1% 180.0% 167.2% 157.7% 175.8%
18,823 20,029 21,565 22,790 24,581 25,292 24,759 24,843
110,761 89,800 89,600 72,760 60,428 42,600 35,500 28,400




WGL Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands)

2004 Operating and Financial Statistics

September 30, 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
ASSETS
Property, Plant and Equipment
At original cost $2,667,924  $2,563,923  $2,481,810  $2,340,410  $2,225312  $2,114,071
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (752,373) (689,000) (649,485) (608,777) (565,032) (522,681)
Net property, plant and equipment 1,915,551 1,874,923 1,832,325 1,731,633 1,660,280 1,591,390
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 6,587 4,470 2,529 12,104 24,336 26,935
Receivables
Accounts receivable 158,590 171,772 175,344 150,007 106,446 74,295
Gas costs due from customers 4,099 11,368 6,983 58,718 2,313 5,127
Accrued utility revenues 16,832 15,580 11,557 15,180 21,497 17,141
Allowance for doubtful accounts (16,042) (17,543) (13,740) (16,632) (7,186) (6,626)
Net receivables 163,479 181,177 180,144 207,273 123,070 89,937
Materials and supplies—principally at average cost 15,232 12,989 13,088 14,230 16,341 17,207
Storage gas—at cost {first-in, first-out) 217,630 164,597 99,087 135,762 138,684 80,481
Deferred income taxes 13,178 11,980 29,973 - 16,232 19,662
Other prepayments—principally taxes 12,260 26,919 13,422 19,462 7,467 14,888
Other 4,494 6,753 2,588 3,668 19,732 10,130
Total current assets 432,860 408,885 340,831 392,499 345,862 259,240
Deferred Charges and Other Assets
Regulatory assets
Gas costs 16,098 10,490 5,272 2,030 - 1,837
Other 45,847 52,333 64,621 96,293 78,364 82,441
Equity in 50% owned residential HVAC Investment - - - 10,802 16,247 7,446
Prepaid qualified pension benefits 71,869 66,753 58,453 38,844 17,327 -
Other 22,683 22,668 37,644 20,898 21,909 21,793
Total deferred charges and other assets 156,497 152,244 165,990 168,867 133,847 113,517
Total Assets $2.504.908  $2.436.052 _ $2.339.146 _ $2.292.999 _ $2.139.989  $1.964 147
CAPITALIZATION AND LIABILITIES
Capitalization
Common shareholders’ equity $853,424 $818,218 $766,403 $788,253 $711,496 $684,034
Washington Gas Light Company preferred stock 28,173 28,173 28,173 28,173 28,173 28,420
Long-term debt 590,164 636,650 667,951 584,370 559,724 506,084
Total capitalization 1,471,761 1,483,041 1,462,527 1,400,796 1,299,393 1,218,538
Current Liabilities
Current maturities of long-term debt 60,639 12,180 42,396 48,179 1,668 1,431
Notes payable 95,634 166,662 90,865 134,052 161,423 113,067
Accounts payable 178,970 142,708 138,472 116,822 138,218 117,059
Wages payable 16,813 15,701 14,348 15,358 13,875 9,824
Accrued interest 2,781 3,027 3,308 3,258 3,052 2,907
Dividends declared 16,142 15,886 15,743 15,621 14,738 14,507
Customer deposits and advance payments 14,450 11,046 15,482 8,657 10,746 15,853
Gas costs due to customers 7,815 7,553 6,190 1,862 5,640 11,321
Accrued taxes 16,627 8,699 9,957 13,129 8,252 5,226
Other 3,040 2,612 750 3,998 2,389 2,706
Total current liabilities 412,911 386,074 337,511 360,936 360,001 293,901
Deferred Credits
Unamortized investment tax credits 14,944 15,841 16,739 17,640 18,539 19,439
Deferred income taxes 268,540 236,888 212,631 209,292 169,442 156,495
Accrued pensions and benefits 37,047 37,356 37,970 34,840 37,936 40,087
Accrued asset removal costs 251,695 230,672 225,482 211,886 200,000 188,648
Other regulatory liabilities 22,079 22,444 21,045 29,308 34,597 26,257
Other 25,931 23,736 25,241 28,301 20,081 20,782
Total deferred credits 620,236 566,937 539,108 531,267 480,595 451,708
Total Capitalization and Liabilitics $2,504,908  $2.436.052  $2.339.146 _ $2.292.999  $2.139.989 _ $1.964.147
Property, Plant and Equipment at Original Cost
(In thousands)
September 30, 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Utility
Distribution $2,074,595  $2,007,105  $1,962,298  $1,850,219  $1,745,688  $1,650,254
Transmission and storage 301,898 290,549 278,968 247,542 237,900 218,101
Other 283,608 258,660 233,353 235,878 236,330 241,924
Non-utility 7,823 7,609 7,191 6,771 5,394 3,792
Total $2,667,924 _ $2.563.923  $2.481.810 $2.340410 $2.225312  $2.114,071




WGL Holdings, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

2004 Operating and Financial Statistics

Years Ended September 30, 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income (applicable to common stock) $ 96,637 $112,342 $ 39,121 $ 82,445 $ 83,251 $ 67,437
ADJUSTMENTS TO RECONCILE NET INCOME TO NET
CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Depreciation and amortization:
Per Consolidated Statements of Income 91,510 83,549 72,921 68,754 65,514 59,940
Charged to other accounts 4,735 5,724 5,001 4,507 4,294 6,307
Deferred income taxes—net 28,178 41,625 (7,391) 42,656 17,470 9,576
Amortization of investment tax credits (897) (898) (901) (899) (900) (1,054)
Accrued/deferred pension cost (5,213) (5,159} (14,980) (16,000) (12,944) (169)
Earnings from sale of carried interest in real estate (6,414) - - - - -
Gain from sale of assets - (5,671) - - -
Impairment of commercial HVAC goodwill 1,500 - - - - -
Equity loss in 50%-owned residential HVAC investment - - 5,402 2,595 1,949 54
Impairment of residential HVAC investment - - 9,431 3,900 - -
Other non-cash charges (credits)—net 1,769 197 434 (920) (4,178) (4,246)
CHANGES IN ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Accounts receivable and accrued utility revenues 10,429 3,352 (24,606) (27,798) (35,947) 13,922
Gas costs due from/to customers—net 7,531 (3,022) 56,063 {60,183) (2,867) 9,790
Storage gas (53,033) (65,510) 36,675 2,922 (58,203) (4,143)
Other prepayments—principally taxes 14,659 (13,497) 6,041 {11,995) 7,421 (1,024)
Accounts payable 40,737 (2,289) 21,650 (22,293) 20,216 13,413
Wages payable 1,112 1,353 (1,010) 1,483 4,051 (3,703)
Customer deposits and advance payments 3,404 (4,436) 6,825 (2,089) {5,107) (3,505)
Accrued taxes 7,928 (1,258) (3,172) 4,877 3,026 (142)
Accrued interest (246) (281) 50 206 135 (926)
Deferred purchased gas costs-net (5,608) (5,218) {3,241) (6,125) 5,933 1,713
Exchange gas imbalance-non-utility operations (1,545) (320) 276 13,136 (4,966) (8,377}
Other—net 5,392 3,201 731 860 (941) (3,455)
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 242,565 143,784 205,320 80,039 87,207 151,408
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Common stock issued 50 - - 52,665 - 64,266
Long-term debt issued 37,800 93 130,411 98,304 54,931 80,823
Long-term debt retired (36,189) (41,903) (42,862) (27,062) (1,169) (66,193)
Debt issuance costs (879) (418) (1,055) (666) (451) (588)
Notes payable issued (retired)—net (71,028) 75,797 (43,188) (27,371) 48,356 (11,876)
Dividends on common stock (62,746) (61,948) (61,433) (58,753) (57,148) (55,300)
Other financing activities 390 2,087 827 1,014 840 {12)
Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Financing Activities {132,602) (26,292) (17,300) 38,131 45,359 11,120
INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures (113,439) (129,083) (162,383) (130,215) (124,067) (158,733)
Net proceeds from sale of carried interest in real estate 6,414 - - - - -
Net proceeds from the sale of assets - 21,300 - - 711 16,632
50%-owned residential HVAC investment - - (3,900) (1,050) (10,750} (7,500)
Other investing activities (821) (7,768) (31,312) 863 (1,059) (3,868)
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (107,846) (115,551) (197,595) (130,402) (135,165) (153,469)
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2,117 1,941 (9,575) (12,232) (2,599) 9,059
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 4,470 2,529 12,104 24,336 26,935 17,876
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year $ 6,587 $ 4,470 $ 2,529 $ 12,104 $ 24.336 $ 26,935
Capital Expenditures
(In thousands)
Years Ended September 30, 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
New business $ 67,464 $ 70,227 $ 99,480 $ 79,512 $ 75,649 § 83,583
Replacements 24,846 27,050 41,532 33,583 27,057 37,522
Other 21,129 31,806 21,371 17,120 21,361 37,628
Total $113.439 $129.083 $162.383 $130,215 $124.067 $158,733




WGL Holdings, Inc. o
Consolidated Statements of Capitalization
(In thousands)

Years Ended September 30, 2004 % 2003 %
Common Shareholders’ Equity

Common stock issued $ 471,547 $ 471,497

Paid-in capital 3,789 2,582

Retained earnings 379,562 345,927

Deferred compensation (S) (32)

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of taxes (1,469) (716}

Treasury stock—-at cost - (1,040)

Total Common Shareholders’ Equity 853,424 58.0 818,218 55.2
Preferred Stock 28,173 1.9 28,173 1.9
Long-Term Debt

Unsecured medium-term notes {including unamortized discount) 634,020 632,658
Other long-term debt 16,783 16,172
Less—current maturities 60,639 12,180

Total Long-Term Debt 590,164 40.1 636,650 42.9

Total CaBitalization $1.471,761 100.0 $1.483.041 100.0
Utility Gas Statistics
Years Ended September 30, 2004 % 2003 %

Operating Revenues (I thousands)
Gas sold and delivered

Residential—firm $792,999 62.5 $737,264 56.7
Commercial and industrial—firm 245,242 19.3 239,907 18.4
Commercial and industrial—interruptible 7,578 0.6 10,326 0.8
Electric generation 967 0.1 1,100 0.1
1,046,786 82.5 988,597 76.0
Gas delivered for others
Firm 150,548 11.9 161,971 12.4
Interruptible 34,073 2.7 30,747 2.4
Electric generation 278 - 412 -
184,899 14.6 193,130 14.8
: 1,231,685 97.1 1,181,727 90.8
Other 36,263 2.9 119,330 9.2
Tortal $1.267,948 100.0 $1,301,057 100.0
Therms Delivered by Area (In thousands)
Maryland 715,337 44.0 760,718 44.1
Virginia 596,406 36.6 619,597 36.0
District of Columbia 316,102 19.4 342,218 19.9
West Virginia - - - -
Total 1,627,845 100.0 1,72_2.533 100.0
Gas Sales and Deliveries (In thousands of therms)
Gas sold and delivered
Residential-firm 629,728 38.7 648,809 37.7
Commercial and industrial—firm 226,407 13.9 239,628 13.9
Commercial and industrial—interuptible 7,626 0.5 12,163 0.7
. 863,761 531 900,600 52.3
Gas delivered for others
Firm 454,549 27.9 496,889 28.8
Interruptible 268,483 16.5 257,799 15.0
Electric generation 41,052 2.5 67,245 3.9
764,084 46.9 821,933 47.7
Total 1,627.845 100.0 1,7.2,533 100.0
Active Customer Meters (year-end)
Residential-firm 921,767 931 892,382 93.0
Commercial and industrial—firm 67,564 6.8 66,804 6.9
Commercial and industrial—interuptible 731 0.1 736 0.1
Total 990,062 100.0 959,922 100.0
Active Customer Meters by Area (year-end)
Maryland 407,795 41.2 395,921 41.2
Virginia 432,738 43.7 416,582 43.4
District of Columbia 149,529 15.1 147,419 15.4
Toral 990,062 100.0 959,922 100.0
New Customer Meters Added 29,438 26,167
Load Factor
Ratio of average daily sendout/peak day sendout 32.8% ’ 35.1%
Degree Days in Heating Season
Normal 3,792 3,799
Actual 4,024 4,550
Percent colder (warmer) than normal 6.1% 19.8%
Average Annual Residential Bill (weather normalized) N 1,153 $ 1,011
Retail Energy-Marketing Statistics
Natural Gas Sales
Therm sales (In thousands of therms) 716,577 710,893
Number of customers (year-end) 150,800 153,400
Electricity Sales ’
Electrcity sales (In thousands of kWhs) 6,658,926 7,548,354
Number of accounts (vear-end) 44,500 76,000




2004 Operating Financial Statisitics

2002 % 2001 % 2000 % 1999 %
$ 471,497 $ 471,497 $ 46,613 § 46,597
1,645 1,781 373,895 372,453
295,676 318,111 295,302 269,430
{120) (275) (544) (1,190
(2,295) (2,861) (3,770) (3,256)
766,403 52.4 788,253 56.3 711,496 54.8 634,034 56.1
28,173 1.9 28,173 2.0 28,173 21 28,420 2.4
672,552 608,133 553,133 500,105
37,795 24,416 8,259 7,410
42,396 48,179 1,668 1,431
B 667,951 45.7 584,370 417 559,724 3.1 506,084 315
$1.462.527 7000 $1.400,796 100.0 $1.299.393 100.0 $1.218.538 100.0
2002 % 2001 % 2000 % 1999 %
$ 517,798 56.0 $ 756,709 523 $ 477,185 46.3 $ 487,869 50.2
163,235 17.6 272,849 18.9 181,674 17.6 195,592 20.1
6,944 0.7 10,152 0.7 15,420 1.5 21,924 2.3
1,083 0.1 1,100 0.1 1,100 0.1 985 0.1
o 689,060 74.4 1,040,810 72.0 675,379 65.5 706,370 72.7
113,662 12.3 118,620 8.2 98,491 9.6 56,965 5.9
31,204 3.4 33,539 ., 2.3 27,936 2.7 25,689 2.6
693 0.1 555 - 654 - 286 -
145,559 3.8 132,714 10.5 127,081 123 82,940 8.5
§34,619 90.2 1,193,524 §2.5 802,460 77.8 789,310 812
90,512 958 252,932 17.5 228,645 22.2 182,810 18.8
$ 925,131 ~100.0 51,446,456 100.0 $1.031.105 100.0 $ 972,120 100.0
729,625 48.4 324,123 19.2 789,770 49.1 707,215 46.2
485,820 322 801,042 47.5 503,655 31.4 486,452 31.7
291,848 19.4 562,476 333 314,050 19.5 316,782 20.7
- - - - - - 21417 1.4
1,507,293 100.0 1,687,641 100.0 1.607.475 100.0 1.531.866 100.0
509,243 33.8 634,949 37.6 557,825 34.7 604,162 39.4
193,917 12.9 258,546 15.3 240,239 15.0 285,349 18.6
10,646 0.7 11,927 0.7 27,627 1.7 48,989 3.2
713,806 474 505,422 353.6 825,691 514 538,500 61.2
346,910 23.0 365,262 21.7 306,933 19.1 191,620 12.5
277,367 18.4 251,039 14.9 262,923 16.3 272,046 17.8
169,210 11.2 165,918 9.8 211,928 13.2 129,700 8.5
793,487 52.6 782,219 46.4 781,784 48.6 593,366 38.8
1,507,293 100.0 1,687,641 100.0 1,607,475 100.0_ 1,531,866 100.0
872,362 92.9 837,993 92.7 810,855 92.6 782,648 92.5
66,168 7.0 65,031 7.2 64,169 7.3 62,919 7.4
761 0.1 765 0.1 793 0.1 814 0.1
939,291 100.0 903,789 100.0 875,817 100.0 846,381 100.0
389,345 41.5 374,755 41.5 365,735 41.8 353,524 41.8
402,065 42.8 383,556 42.4 366,374 41.8 349,878 41.3
147,881 15.7 145,478 16.1 143,708 16.4 142,979 16.9
939291 100.0 903,789 100.0 §75.817 100.0 846,381 100.0
31,205 32,188 30,063 79,503
34.6% 37.8% 36.8% 47.3%
3,814 3,815 3,828 3,852
3,304 4314 3,637 3,652
(13.4)% 13.1% (5.0)% (52)%
$ 794 $ 1,183 $ 734 $ 706
609,716 526,492 447,037 343,000
155,000 125,000 123,900 60,000
6,488,136 2,003,799 - ;
,,,,,, 66,000 44,000 - ]




WGL Holdings, Inc. . L
Financial and Operating Statistics

2004 Operating and Financial Statistics

Years Ended September 30, 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Weighted average cost of long-term debt 6.5% 6.6% 6.7% 6.8% 6.9% 6.8%
Embedded cost of preferred stock 4.8% 4.8% 4.8% 4.8% 4.8% 4.8%
Long-term debt / total capitalization,
including current maturities 42.5% 43.4% 47.2% 43.7% 43.1% 41.6%
Return on capitalization 9.7% 10.8% 5.9% 9.6% 9.9% 8.7%
Return on average common equity 11.6% 14.2% 5.0% 11.0% 11.9% 10.4%
Effective income tax rate @ 38.3% 37.4% 44.1% 40.5% 36.1% 37.7%
Coverage (times) before income taxes
Fixed charges and preferred dividends 4.3 4.7 2.5 36 3.8 3.7
Long-term debt interest coverage 4.8 5.1 2.7 4.4 4.7 4.2
Total interest expense coverage 4.5 4.9 2.6 3.8 4.0 4.0
Labor )
Number of total employees (year-end) 1,914 2,078 2,205 2,190 2,048 2,117
Number of utility employees (year-end) 1,695 1,842 1,932 1,979 1,834 1,931
Total payroll (000s)® $137,089 $138,623 $132,053 $126,939 $124,886 $115,700
Total payroll and indirect labor costs (000s) charged to:
Operating expenses $149,655 $146,756 $130,437 $123,356 $121,660 $122,034
Construction 23,990 28,495 27,970 24,326 23,226 29,047
Other 21,407 21,968 20,463 16,216 13,610 12,454
Total payroll and indirectl!abor costs $195,052 $197.219 $178,870 $163.898 $158,496 $163.535
@ Includes taxes applicable to both operating and other income.
® Excludes Company costs related to payroll taxes.
© Includes Company costs related to payroll taxes, pensions, workers’ compensation, insurance, and employees’ and retirees’ medical and life insurance.
Design Day by Source
(Dekatherms) Pipeline Year 2004 @ Pipeline Year 2005
Columbia Gas Transmission Corporation
Transportation storage 396,649 396,649
Firm transportation’ 308,201 304,438
Total Columbia 704,850 39.0% 701,087 38.2%
Transcontinental Gas Pipe Line Corp.
Transportation storage 53,303 53,303
Firm transportation® 122,288 147,288
Total Transco 175,591 9.7 200,591 10.9
Dominion Transmission Incorporated
Transportation storage 46,776 86,776
Firm transportation® 60,224 85,224
Total DTI 107,000 5.9 172,000 9.4
Peaking and Company-Owned Storage @ 821,250 45.4 761,250 41.5
Tozal 1,808,691 100.0% 1.834.928 100.0% .
© The Pipeline Year runs from November 1 to October 31, reflecting the winter heating season.
® Forecasted.
1 Excludes transportation capacity owned by unregulated third-party marketers.
@ Includes volumes transported to the Company by Cove Point LNG.
Security Ratings
September 30, 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
WGL Holdings «
Unsecured Medium-Term Notes (Indicative®)
Fitch Ratings A+ A+ A+ A+
Moody’s Investors Service o e te) &
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services AA- AA- AA- AA-
Commercial Paper
Fitch Ratings F1 F1 F1 F1
Moody’s Investors Service Not-Prime P-2 p-2 P-1
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services A-1 A1+ A-1+ A-1+
Washington Gas
Unsecured Medivm-Term Notes
Fitch Ratings AA- AA- AA- AA- AA- AA-
Moody’s Investors Service A2 A2 A2 Aa2 Aa2 Aa2
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services AA- AA- AA- AA- AA- AA-
Preferred Stock
Fitch Ratings A+ A+ A+ A+ A+ A+
Moody’s Investors Service Baal Baal Baal Al aa2 aa2
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services A A A A A A
Commercial Paper
Fitch Ratings F1+ F1+ Fl+ F1+ F1+ F1+
Moody’s Investors Service P-1 P-1 P-1 p-1 P-1 P-1
Standard & Poor’s Ratings Services A-1 A-1+ A-1+ A-1+ A-1+ A-1+

@ WG Holdings was established in November 2000. Prior years are not applicable.

® Indicates the rating that may be applied if WGL Holdings iwere to issue unsecured medium-term notes.

@ Unpublished.
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Sharebolder and Investor Information

Shareholder Inquiries

The Bank of New York serves as the Transfer Agent and
Shareholder Recordkeeper for WGL Holdings, Inc. (WGL
Holdings) common stock and for Washington Gas Light
Company (Washington Gas) preferred stock. All share-
holder inquiries, such as name and address changes,

lost certificates, dividend checks and payments, transfer
matters, Form 1099-DIV, etc., should be directed to:

The Bank of New York
Shareholder Relations

PO Box 11258

New York, NY 10286-1258
1-800-330-5682
www.stockbny.com

Annual Meeting

WGL Holdings will conduct its Annual Meeting of
Shareholders at 10:00 a.m. on Wednesday, February 23, 2003,
at the George Washington University Cloyd Heck Marvin
Center, located at 800 21st Street, NW, Washington, DC
20052.

Stock and Dividend Information

WGL Holdings’ common stock is listed on the New York
Stock Exchange. The ticker symbol is “WGL.” The com-
mon stock of WGL Holdings is typically listed as “WGL
Hold” or “WGL Hldgs” in newspapers. Washington

Gas preferred stock is listed and traded on the National
Association of Security Dealers’ Over-the-Counter
Bulletin Board. Normally, dividends on WGL Holdings
common stock and Washington Gas preferred stock will
be payable as follows:

Dates
Record Payable
January 10 February 1
April 10 May 1
July 10 August 1
October 10 November 1

Dividends paid by WGL Holdings and Washington Gas
are 100 percent taxable. Both companies are required

to perform back-up withholding of federal income taxes
if they have not received a certified Tax Identification
Number. In most cases, this is the shareholder’s social
security number. Both companies also must report to the
Internal Revenue Service the total amount of dividends
paid to individual shareholders during the calendar year.
Copies of the report, Form 1099-DIV, will be mailed to
shareholders by January 31 of the year following the one
in which the dividends were paid.

Dividend Reinvestment Plan
WGL Holdings offers a Dividend Reinvestment and

Common Stock Purchase Plan (DRP) to its shareholders.
The plan provides a convenient, economical way to pur-
chase additional shares of WGL Holdings’ common stock.
Participants may invest all or part of their dividends and
make cash purchases between $25 and $20,000 per quarter.

To obtain a prospectus and enrollment card for the WGL
Holdings’ plan, please contact The Bank of New York at
1-800-330-5682.

Request for Publications

The following publications may be obtained, when avail-
able, without charge by calling The Bank of New York at
1-800-330-5682:

®Form 10-K

®Form 10-Q

® Mid-year shareholder letter

@ Investor fact sheet

® Quarterly earnings press release

These publications, as well as other filings made with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, also are available
on WGL Holdings’ web site at www.wglholdings.com.

Financial Community Inquiries

Security analysts and other members of the financial
community who need additional information about
WGL Holdings or Washington Gas should contact
Investor Relations at 202-624-6410 or e-mail:
InvestorRelations@wglholdings.com.

Corporate Governance

In response to new regulations and increased interest in
corporate governance issues, the following information is
available via the Investor Relations section of the company’s
web site, www.wglholdings.com:

® Director and officer insider stock transactions

® Committee charters and membership

® Corporate governance policies, bylaws, and code of conduct
® Interactive proxy

The board of directors also has established a hotline as a
means for individuals to inform the Audit Committee of
concerns regarding accounting, internal accounting con-
trols or auditing matters.

Concerned parties may dial 1-800-249-5360 to leave a
confidential, anonymous message that will be transcribed
and forwarded to the Chair of the Audit Commitree.

Information on the Internet

Financial information, press releases and other information
about WGL Holdings may be obtained on the Internet
at www.wglholdings.com. The Bank of New York also
maintains a site on the Internet at www.stockbny.com.
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